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PART I
Item 1. Business.

Company Overview

CBRE is the world’s largest commercial real estate services and investments firm. Our competitive advantage comes from our considerable scale and ability to offer
integrated solutions to real estate investors and occupiers in more than 100 countries. We are global market leaders in most of our lines of business and drive significant growth
from bundling our services, while helping clients optimize real estate costs, value, investment returns and workplace experiences. These capabilities, combined with our
extensive knowledge platform (research, data, strategy, etc.), allow us to generate superior outcomes for our clients, which include nearly 90% of Fortune 100 companies in
2024, and many of the world’s largest institutional real estate investors.

Our growth opportunity is enhanced by the large and expanding total addressable market for our services. We are focused on cementing our leadership position in each
of our businesses with a strategy that achieves diversification and growth across four dimensions: geographies, clients, property types and services. We are committed to
deploying our resources and capital across these four dimensions in parts of our business that benefit from secular tailwinds and/or provide cyclical resilience. Examples of how
we have expanded our participation in secularly favored and resilient businesses and enlarged our total addressable market include our investments in the global project
management firm, Turner & Townsend, in which we hold a majority ownership interest; the flexible office platform, Industrious, in which we acquired full ownership in January
2025; J&J Worldwide Services, a provider of facilities management and related services to the U.S. federal government; and Direct Line Global, a provider of technical
facilities management services to data centers. In addition, we have increased our focus on geographies, such as Japan, and asset classes, such as industrial, multi-family and
data centers, that are positioned for growth. As a result, we have built a larger and more resilient services offering. Our platform — the resources and infrastructure that support
our professionals and underpin our growth, such as research, marketing, data and technology — combined with our balance sheet strength, provide us access to top talent and
compelling growth opportunities.

Business Segments

As of December 31, 2024, we served clients through three business segments: Advisory Services, Global Workplace Solutions and Real Estate Investments, and a
fourth segment, called Corporate and other, which encompasses our platform and non-core investments.

On January 1, 2025, we combined our project management business with our Turner & Townsend subsidiary and increased our ownership in the combined entity to
70%. We will publicly report financial results for a fourth business segment, Project Management, beginning in the first quarter of 2025. We also will establish a new business
segment, Building Operations & Experience, in 2025, comprised of enterprise and local facilities management, property management and flexible workplace solutions,
including Industrious. Our four business segments beginning in 2025 will be (1) Advisory Services; (2) Building Operations & Experience; (3) Project Management; and (4)
Real Estate Investments.

Adbvisory Services

Advisory Services provides a comprehensive range of services globally, including property leasing; capital markets, which includes property sales and mortgage
origination; mortgage servicing; valuation and property management. With a global network of experts that have a deep understanding of their local markets, we offer
comprehensive insights and solutions across a wide range of real estate assets, including offices, retail outlets, and critical facilities (including data centers, laboratories,
government facilities, manufacturing environments, warehouses and other mission-critical facilities). Our client base is comprised of large occupiers and investors that contract
for our services across multi-market portfolios as well as local market clients that we serve on a one-off basis.

We are leaders in each of our five primary business lines globally (property leasing, capital markets, mortgage servicing, valuation and property management) and in
most key local markets across the world. We leverage our platform to attract and retain top talent and provide differentiated insights to our clients through our investments in
research, data, technology tools and property marketing. We also focus on end-to-end client solutions through the bundling of our various services. For example, as our investor
clients seek to optimize the value and performance of their assets across the real estate lifecycle, we often bring together expertise from property sales, mortgage originations,
leasing, valuations and property management. While many of our business lines in this segment are sensitive to changes in macro-economic conditions, their
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cyclicality is lessened by the value investors and occupiers place on our insights and consulting services through cycles as they adjust their real estate portfolios and strategies to
changing market circumstances. In contrast, our loan servicing, property management and valuations businesses, while a smaller part of our revenue mix, have proven to be
more resilient across economic cycles. For example, in the last six years, we have organically grown our loan servicing revenue at a low-double digit compound annual growth
rate (CAGR) and revenue in property management at a mid-single digit CAGR, despite challenging macroeconomic conditions. We remain committed to growing these resilient
business lines further, particularly where they benefit from sustained demand tailwinds.

Global Workplace Solutions

Global Workplace Solutions (GWS) is the leading global provider of integrated facilities management and project management solutions for major occupiers of
commercial real estate. This segment benefits from multiple tailwinds, most notably multi-national corporations’ increased desire to outsource and consolidate real estate
services to optimize costs, operational efficiencies and workplace experiences. Our GWS Enterprise business typically serves large global corporations including many of the
Fortune 500, through multi-year contracts, while our GWS Local business meets the needs of smaller occupiers with more localized portfolios.

With facilities management experts in more than 100 countries, we perform mission-critical technical services and maintenance in more locations worldwide than any
other provider. This allows us to deliver tailored property solutions at both a local and global level, while improving quality and experience, reducing cost and mitigating risk.
We provide these services across virtually all asset types, including offices, retail outlets, and critical facilities (including data centers, laboratories, government facilities,
manufacturing environments, warehouses and other mission-critical facilities). We achieve growth by investing in (a) superior talent and processes that deliver service
excellence; (b) capabilities to perform a wide range of in-house technical services that increase operational efficiency and reliability while lowering costs and carbon emissions;
(c) proprietary technology and data solutions that allow us to amass data at scale and deliver actionable insights to clients for managing complex challenges; and (d) ongoing
acquisition activity, including the acquisition of larger companies such as Norland Managed Services, which marked our entry into the local facilities management space; the
Johnson Controls Global Workplace Solutions business, which substantially scaled our core enterprise facilities management business; J&J Worldwide Services, which
markedly increased our facilities-related services to the U.S. federal government; and Direct Line Global, which enhanced our capabilities and participation in the data center
management space, as well as numerous in-fill transactions.

Our project management business delivers program management, project management and cost consultancy services across commercial real estate, infrastructure and
natural resources sectors. In early 2025, we completed our plan to merge our wholly owned CBRE Project Management services business into Turner & Townsend, our
majority-owned program and project management subsidiary. Our combined capabilities make us a leading global, full-service building consulting, program, project and cost
management provider, which completed nearly 50,000 projects/programs in 2024. We manage a wide range of programs and projects from small repairs/refurbishments in
corporate facilities to billion-dollar-plus advanced manufacturing plants to sophisticated infrastructure projects such as data centers, airports and power stations. We also
increasingly serve clients for net-zero program management and energy and sustainability solutions. Our scale, highly diverse capabilities and technology investments allow us
to solve our clients’ biggest challenges in managing capital projects around the world.

Real Estate Investments

Real Estate Investments (REI) is a major real assets developer, investor and operator. This segment is comprised of two businesses: investment management and real
estate development.

With $146 billion (as of December 31, 2024) in assets under management, CBRE Investment Management (IM) is one of the leading investment platforms for global
real assets. IM invests capital on behalf of pension funds, insurance companies, sovereign wealth funds, and other institutional investors in real estate, infrastructure, master
limited partnerships and other assets. Its growth opportunity is enhanced by investors’ growing appetite for investment alternatives, including real estate and infrastructure, that
diversify their holdings and offer potentially higher returns compared to traditional investment strategies. Much like other parts of our company, IM is diversified across many
dimensions — investment strategies, sectors, geographies, risk profiles and execution formats. We hold a co-investment in many of our investment funds and programs, which
span private direct real estate, private indirect real estate through third-party operators, listed real assets and private infrastructure.

Our real estate development business — Trammell Crow Company (TCC) provides leading-edge development services to real estate investors, owners and occupiers.
TCC has been the largest commercial developer in the U.S. for more than a
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decade and has a track record of developing best-in-class buildings across multiple property sectors in top-tier markets in the U.S. and Europe. Our portfolio represents a
diversified mix of projects that are either 100% owned or in which we participate financially via co-investment with strategic capital partners or through fee-based
developments, such as built-to-suit projects. Our in-process portfolio and pipeline totaled over $32 billion (as of December 31, 2024) and spanned all major asset classes. We
have a track record of generating high investment returns for our capital partners and the company and our conservative, risk-mitigated capital structures enable us to time asset
dispositions when market circumstances are most favorable.

We drive growth in this segment by: (a) providing IM and TCC real-time access to the broader CBRE global brand, on-the-ground market intelligence, supplemented
by their own investments in research/data, which enables them to identify early and invest in secularly favored markets/products with tailwinds; (b) leveraging CBRE’s balance
sheet to create opportunities for co-investment alongside our investor clients in our fund vehicles and developments; and (c) driving strong and ongoing collaboration between
IM and TCC.

Corporate and Other Segment

The Corporate and other segment houses most costs associated with our platform — the resources and infrastructure that support our professionals and support our
growth — that are not allocated to the client-facing business segments, including corporate leadership costs. We believe the platform — particularly our knowledge platform
(research, data/technology, strategy, etc.) as well as marketing, procurement and more — provides a distinct advantage because of the level of resources and investment that our
scale and financial strength allow us to make in these areas. In this segment, we also account for the value of our investments in non-core, non-controlling equity investments.

Competitive Positioning

Because of the range of services we provide and numerous markets we serve, we encounter a wide variety of competitors, including a handful of globally diversified
real estate services firms that are well-established but smaller than CBRE, as well as many business-line-specific specialists that operate in various geographies. Despite this
competition, we are the market leaders in most of our business lines, with significant opportunities for continued growth. These opportunities result from the high value our
clients place on our scale, depth of expertise, technology and data-led insights, as well as their increasing preference for consolidating the number of service providers, which
plays to our advantage in delivering integrated solutions globally. Our strong balance sheet enables significant investments in our platform, market-leading talent recruitment
and transformational M&A execution.

Human Capital

Our primary focus is to ensure our people meet the needs of our business strategy, providing them with an experience where employees feel valued and supported, and
have opportunities for growth and development. This means not only concentrating on the basics such as onboarding, payroll and benefits, but also responding to the business’
needs such as acquiring talent, growing our employees through learning and development, talent and performance management practices. We have learning & development
programs designed to help our professionals succeed and develop future leaders, including webinars, live virtual and in-person training, self-paced digital learning, coaching,
mentoring and on-the-job learning. We also reward our people with competitive pay and benefits, foster an engaging and inclusive workplace and improve productivity through
investments in technology, tools and resources.

At December 31, 2024, we had more than 140,000 employees (including Turner & Townsend employees) worldwide. The costs associated with approximately 62% of
CBRE employees (excluding Turner & Townsend employees) are reimbursed by clients and are mainly in our GWS and property management businesses. At December 31,
2024, approximately 14% of employees worldwide (excluding Turner & Townsend employees) were subject to collective bargaining agreements.

We are dedicated to fostering an inclusive culture where everyone feels valued, supported and a sense of belonging, and we are committed to ensuring everyone has an
equal opportunity to succeed. These efforts, led by our Chief People Officer, are embedded across our business. Our workforce is enriched by individuals from a variety of
backgrounds, perspectives, and work and life experiences, and we welcome all applications. Our annual Corporate Responsibility Report includes public disclosures of
demographics, including diversity data, for our U.S. workforce, in accordance with U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission requirements and other relevant
information.
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Intellectual Property

We hold various trademarks and trade names worldwide, including the “CBRE,” and “Turner & Townsend” marks. We believe the “CBRE,” Turner & Townsend and
“Trammell Crow Company” marks are vitally important in maintaining our leadership position. We hold a license to use the “Trammell Crow Company” trade name pursuant to
a license agreement with CF98, L.P., an affiliate of Crow Realty Investors, L.P., d/b/a Crow Holdings, which may be revoked if we fail to satisfy usage and quality control
covenants under the license agreement. We also hold a number of issued and pending patent applications relating to proprietary technologies and intend to file additional patent
applications reflecting our commitment to technology and innovation.

Material Governmental Matters
Environment

Certain federal, state and local laws and regulations may impose liability on current or previous real property owners or operators for the cost of investigating, cleaning
up or removing contamination caused by hazardous or toxic substances at a property. If contamination is present during our role as a property or facility manager or developer,
we could be held liable for such costs as a current “operator” of a property, regardless of the legality of the acts or omissions that caused the contamination and without regard to
whether we knew of, or were responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. Further, federal, state and local governments in various countries have enacted
various laws, regulations and treaties governing management of climate-related risks, particularly for “greenhouse gas” (GHG) emissions which seek to tax, penalize or limit
their release. Such regulations could lead to increased operational or compliance costs over time. We are not aware of any material noncompliance with the environmental laws
or regulations currently applicable to us, and we are not the subject of any material claim for liability with respect to contamination at any location. However, these laws and
regulations may discourage sales and leasing activities and mortgage lending with respect to some properties, which may adversely affect us. Environmental contamination or
other environmental liabilities may also negatively affect the value of commercial real estate assets held by entities that are managed by our investment management and
development services businesses.

Sustainability

We have measurable sustainability goals to achieve Net Zero GHG emissions by 2040 for corporate operations, buildings managed for clients, real estate development
and supply chain, and two near-term 2030 targets to reduce absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 50% and reduce emissions from properties we manage for clients per square
foot by 55% from a 2019 baseline. These targets have been validated by the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi). Additional information about our science-based targets
and roadmap to reduce emissions can be found in our Climate Transition Strategy at www.cbre.com/corporatesustainability and in our Corporate Responsibility Report, which
outlines our approach and progress on a broader range of environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues. The contents of our website and Corporate Responsibility Report
are referenced for general information only and are not incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

”

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we use the terms “CBRE,” “we,” the “company,” “our,” and “us” to refer to CBRE Group, Inc. and all of its consolidated
subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated or the context requires otherwise. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K (Annual Report), Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the Exchange Act), are available on the Investor Relations section of our website (https://ir.cbre.com/) as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file
such material with, or furnish it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). We also make available through our website other reports filed with or furnished to the
SEC under the Exchange Act, including reports filed by our officers and directors under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act. All of the information on our Investor Relations
website is available to be viewed free of charge. The SEC maintains a website (https://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

Our website (https://www.cbre.com) contains information concerning us. We routinely use our website as a channel of distribution for our information, including
financial and other material information. Information contained on our website is not part of this Annual Report or our other filings with the SEC. We have included the web
addresses of the company and the SEC as inactive textual references only. Except as specifically incorporated by reference into this document, information on these websites is
not part of this document.
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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act) and Section
21E of the Exchange Act. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “should,” “propose,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,”
“will,” “forecast,” “target” and similar terms and phrases are used in this Annual Report to identify forward-looking statements. Except for historical information contained
herein, the matters addressed in this Annual Report are forward-looking statements. These statements relate to analyses and other information based on forecasts of future results

and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements also relate to our future prospects, developments and business strategies.

2 < ” ” ” ” ”» G

These forward-looking statements are made based on our management’s expectations and beliefs concerning future events affecting us and are subject to uncertainties
and factors relating to our operations and business environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. These uncertainties and factors
could cause our actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements.

The following factors are among those, but are not only those, that may cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements:

«  disruptions in general economic, political and regulatory conditions and significant public health events, particularly in geographies or industry sectors where our
business may be concentrated,

«  volatility or adverse developments in the securities, capital or credit markets, interest rate increases and conditions affecting the value of real estate assets, inside and
outside the U.S.;

*  poor performance of real estate investments or other conditions that negatively impact clients’ willingness to make real estate or long-term contractual commitments
and the cost and availability of capital for investment in real estate;

«  foreign currency fluctuations and changes in currency restrictions, trade sanctions and import/export and transfer pricing rules;
*  our ability to compete globally, or in specific geographic markets or business segments that are material to us;

*  our ability to identify, acquire and integrate accretive businesses;

*  costs and potential future capital requirements relating to businesses we may acquire;

* integration challenges arising out of companies we may acquire;

* increases in unemployment and general slowdowns in commercial activity;

» trends in pricing and risk assumption for commercial real estate services;

» the effect of significant changes in capitalization rates across different property types;

« areduction by companies in their reliance on outsourcing for their commercial real estate needs, which would affect our revenues and operating performance;
*  client actions to restrain project spending and reduce outsourced staffing levels;

*  our ability to further diversify our revenue model to offset cyclical economic trends in the commercial real estate industry;

*  our ability to attract new user and investor clients;

*  our ability to retain major clients and renew related contracts;

*  our ability to leverage our global services platform to maximize and sustain long-term cash flow;

*  our ability to continue investing in our platform and client service offerings;

*  our ability to maintain expense discipline;

« the emergence of disruptive business models and technologies;

*  negative publicity or harm to our brand and reputation;
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« the failure by third parties to comply with service level agreements or regulatory or legal requirements;

» the ability of our investment management business to maintain and grow assets under management and achieve desired investment returns for our investors, and any
potential related litigation, liabilities or reputational harm possible if we fail to do so;

*  our ability to manage fluctuations in net earnings and cash flow, which could result from poor performance in our investment programs, including our participation
as a principal in real estate investments;

» the ability of our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary CBRE Capital Markets, Inc. (CBRE Capital Markets) to periodically amend, or replace, on satisfactory terms,
the agreements for its warehouse lines of credit;

* declines in lending activity of U.S. Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs), regulatory oversight of such activity and our mortgage servicing revenue from the
commercial real estate mortgage market;

*  changes in U.S. and international law and regulatory environments (including relating to anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, trade sanctions, tariffs, currency
controls and other trade control laws), particularly in Asia, Africa, Russia, Eastern Europe and the Middle East, due to the level of political instability in those
regions;

» litigation and its financial and reputational risks to us;

*  our exposure to liabilities in connection with real estate advisory and property management activities and our ability to procure sufficient insurance coverage on
acceptable terms;

*  our ability to retain, attract and incentivize key personnel;
*  our ability to manage organizational challenges associated with our size;
» liabilities under guarantees, or for construction defects, that we incur in our development services business;

*  our leverage under our debt instruments as well as the limited restrictions therein on our ability to incur additional debt, and the potential increased borrowing costs
to us from a credit-ratings downgrade;

« our and our employees’ ability to execute on, and adapt to, information technology strategies and trends;

*  cybersecurity threats or other threats to our information technology networks, including the potential misappropriation of assets or sensitive information, corruption
of data or operational disruption;

*  our ability to comply with laws and regulations related to our global operations, including real estate licensure, tax, labor and employment laws and regulations, fire
and safety building requirements and regulations, as well as data privacy and protection regulations, sustainability matters, and the anti-corruption laws and trade
sanctions of the U.S. and other countries;

»  changes in applicable tax or accounting requirements;

*  any inability for us to implement and maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting;

« the effect of implementation of new accounting rules and standards or the impairment of our goodwill and intangible assets;
* the performance of our equity investments in companies we do not control; and

» the other factors described elsewhere in this Annual Report, included under the headings “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates,” “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” or as described
in the other documents and reports we file with the SEC.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made. You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. We assume no
obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking information, except to the
extent required by applicable securities laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates with
respect to those or other forward-looking statements. Additional information concerning these and other risks and uncertainties is contained in our other periodic filings with the
SEC.
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Investors and others should note that we routinely announce financial and other material information using our Investor Relations website (https://ir.cbre.com), SEC
filings, press releases, public conference calls and webcasts. We use these channels of distribution to communicate with our investors and members of the public about our
company, our services and other items of interest. Information contained on our website is not part of this Annual Report or our other filings with the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual Report and in other documents we file with the SEC are risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to
differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report and other public statements we make. Based on the
information currently known to us, we believe that the matters discussed below identify the material risk factors affecting our business. However, the risks and uncertainties we
face are not limited to those described below. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial, but that could later
become material, may also adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to our Business Environment

Our performance is significantly related to general economic, political and regulatory conditions and, accordingly, our business, operations and financial condition could
be materially adversely affected by economic slowdowns, liquidity constraints, inflationary pressures, significant rises in interest rates, significant public health events,
fiscal or political uncertainty and possible subsequent downturns in commercial real estate asset values, property sales and leasing activities in the geographies or industry
sectors that we or our clients serve.

Periods of economic weakness or recession, fiscal or political uncertainty, market volatility, declining employment levels, declining demand for commercial real
estate, falling real estate values, disruption to the global capital or credit markets, inflationary pressures, significant rises in interest rates or the public perception that any of
these events may occur, may materially and negatively affect the performance of some or all of our business lines.

Our business is significantly affected by generally prevailing economic conditions in the markets where we operate. Adverse economic conditions, political or
regulatory uncertainty and significant public health events may result in declines in real estate sale and leasing volumes and the value of commercial real estate. It may also lead
to a decrease in funds invested in commercial real estate assets and development projects. Such developments in turn may reduce our revenue from property management fees
and commissions derived from property sales, leasing, valuation and financing, as well as revenues associated with development or investment management activities. For
example, in 2023 and early 2024, commercial real estate capital markets were under significant pressure. As a result, we experienced a sustained slowdown in property sales and
debt financing activity. Our businesses could also suffer from geopolitical or economic disruptions (or the perception that such disruptions may occur) or currency fluctuations
that affect interest rates, capital availability and cost, or heighten financial, market or regulatory uncertainty.

We also make co-investments alongside our investor clients in our development and investment management businesses. During an economic downturn, capital for our
investment activities could be constrained and it may take longer for us to dispose of real estate investments or sale prices we achieve may be lower than originally anticipated.
As a result, the value of our commercial real estate investments may be reduced, and we could realize losses or diminished profitability. In addition, economic downturns may
reduce the volume of loans our capital markets business originates and/or services. Fees within our property management business are generally based on a percentage of rent
collections, making them sensitive to macroeconomic conditions that negatively impact rent collections and the performance of the properties we manage.

Economic, political and regulatory uncertainty as well as significant changes and volatility in the financial markets and business environment, and in the global
landscape, make it difficult for us to predict our financial performance into the future. As a result, any guidance or outlook that we provide on our performance is based on then-
current conditions, and there is a risk that such guidance may turn out to be inaccurate.

Adverse developments in the credit markets may materially harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our investment management, development services, capital markets (including property sales and mortgage origination) and mortgage servicing businesses are
sensitive to credit cost and availability as well as financial liquidity. Additionally, the revenues in all of our businesses are dependent to some extent on the overall volume of
activity (and pricing) in the commercial real estate markets.
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Disruptions in the credit markets may have a material adverse effect on our business of providing advisory services to owners, investors and occupiers of real estate in
connection with the leasing, disposition and acquisition of property. If our clients are unable to obtain credit on favorable terms, there may be fewer property leasing, disposition
and acquisition transactions. For example, in 2023, central banks around the world raised interest rates in efforts to rein in inflation, reducing credit availability. While central
banks began cutting their interest rates in 2024, interest rates remain above recent norms and if inflation were to begin to rise again such interest rate cuts may be reversed. Less
available and more expensive debt capital had pronounced effects on our capital markets, mortgage origination and property sales businesses. In addition, under such
conditions, our investment management and development services businesses may be unable to attract capital or achieve returns sufficient to earn incentive fees and we may
also experience losses of co-invested equity capital if any such disruption causes a prolonged decline in the value of investments made.

Risks Related to Our Operations

Currency fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

We conduct a significant portion of our business and employ a substantial number of people outside of the U.S. and, as a result, we are subject to risks associated with
doing business globally. During the year ended December 31, 2024, approximately 43.6% of our revenue was transacted in foreign currencies. We also report our results in U.S.
dollars. As a result, the strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar will positively or negatively impact our reported results, including revenue and earnings as well as the
assets under management for our investment management business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. Due
to the constantly changing currency exposures to which we are subject and the volatility of currency exchange rates, we cannot predict the effect of exchange rate fluctuations
upon future operating results.

Our operations are subject to international social, political and economic risks in foreign countries.
International economic trends, foreign governmental policy actions and the following factors may have a material adverse effect on the performance of our business:

» difficulties and costs of staffing and managing international operations among diverse geographies, languages and cultures;
e currency restrictions, transfer-pricing regulations and adverse tax consequences, which may affect our ability to transfer capital and profits;
» adverse changes in regulatory, tax or trade policies or uncertainty about potential changes in such regulatory, tax or trade policies;

«  responsibility for complying with numerous, potentially conflicting and frequently complex and changing laws in multiple jurisdictions .g., with respect to data
privacy and protection, sustainability, corrupt practices, embargoes, trade sanctions, employment and licensing);

« the impact of regional or country-specific business cycles and economic instability, including those related to public health or safety events;

»  greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable or delays in client payments in some geographic regions;

*  potential interest rate and /or inflation rate increases and less available and more expensive debt capital;

»  foreign ownership restrictions in certain countries, particularly in Asia Pacific and the Middle East, or the risk that such restrictions will be adopted in the future; and

» changes in laws or policies governing foreign trade or investment and use of foreign operations or workers, and any negative sentiments towards multinational
companies as a result of any such changes to laws or policies as well as other geopolitical risks.

Our international operations require us to comply with a broad range of complex legal, geopolitical and regulatory environments in which we operate. We may not be
successful in complying with regulations in all situations and violations may result in criminal or material civil sanctions and other costs against us or our employees, and may
have a material adverse effect on our reputation and business. Furthermore, our efforts to comply with developments in these laws may adversely impact our business.
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We have committed resources to expand our worldwide sales and marketing activities, to globalize our service offerings and products in select markets and to develop
local sales and support channels. If we are unable to successfully implement these plans, maintain adequate long-term strategies that successfully manage the risks associated
with our global business or adequately manage operational fluctuations, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be harmed. In addition, we have
established operations and seek to grow our presence in many emerging markets to further expand our global platform. However, we may not be successful in effectively
evaluating and monitoring the key business, operational, legal and compliance risks specific to those markets. The political and cultural risks present in emerging countries
could also harm our ability to successfully execute our operations or manage our businesses there.

We have numerous local, regional and global competitors across all of our business lines and the geographies that we serve, and further industry consolidation,
frag tation or innovation could lead to significant future competition.

We compete across a variety of business disciplines within the commercial real estate services and investment industry, including property management, facilities
management, project and transaction management, tenant and landlord leasing, capital markets solutions (property sales and commercial mortgage origination) and mortgage
servicing, real estate investment management, valuation, loan servicing, development services and proprietary research. Although we are the largest commercial real estate
services firm in the world in terms of 2024 revenue, our relative competitive position varies across geographies, property types and services and business lines.

Depending on the geography, property type or service or business line, we face competition from other commercial real estate services providers and investment firms,
including outsourcing companies that traditionally competed in limited portions of our facilities management business and have expanded their offerings from time to time, in-
house corporate real estate departments, developers, flexible space providers, institutional lenders, insurance companies, investment banking firms, investment managers and
accounting and consulting firms. Some of these firms may have greater financial resources allocated to a particular geography, property type or service or business line than we
have allocated to that geography, property type, service or business line. In addition, future changes in laws could lead to the entry of other new competitors, such as financial
nstitutions.

Some of our competitors are larger than us on a local or regional basis despite having a smaller global footprint. We also compete with large national and multi-
national firms that have similar service and investment competencies to ours, and it is possible that further industry consolidation could lead to much larger and more
formidable competitors globally or in the particular geographies, property types, service or business lines that we serve. In addition, disruptive innovation by existing or new
competitors could alter the competitive landscape in the future and require us to accurately identify and assess such changes and make timely and effective changes to our
strategies and business model to compete effectively. Furthermore, we are substantially dependent on long-term client relationships and on revenue received for services under
various service agreements. Many of these agreements may be canceled by the client for any reason with as little as 30 to 60 days’ notice, as is typical in the industry.

In this competitive market, if we are unable to effectively execute on our strategy and differentiate ourselves from our competitors, maintain long-term client
relationships or are otherwise unable to retain existing clients and develop new clients, our business, results of operations and/or financial condition may be materially adversely
affected. There is no assurance that we will be able to compete effectively, to maintain current fee levels or margins, or maintain or increase our market share.

Our growth and financial performance have benefited significantly from acquisitions, which may not perform as expected and similar opportunities may not be available
in the future.

Acquisitions have accounted for a significant component of our growth over time. Any future growth through acquisitions will depend in part upon the continued
availability of suitable acquisition candidates at attractive prices, terms and conditions, as well as sufficient liquidity and credit to fund these acquisitions. We may incur
significant additional debt from time to time to finance any such acquisitions, which could increase the risks associated with our leverage, including our ability to service our
debt. Acquisitions involve risks that business judgments made concerning the value, strengths and weaknesses of businesses acquired may prove to be incorrect. Future
acquisitions and any necessary related financings also may involve significant transaction-related expenses, which could include severance, lease termination, transaction and
deferred financing costs, among others.
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We have had, and may continue to experience, challenges in integrating operations and information technology systems acquired from other companies. This could
result in the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns and the potential loss of our key employees or clients or those of the acquired operations. The
integration process itself may be costly and may adversely impact our business and the acquired company’s business as it requires coordination of geographically diverse
organizations and implementation of accounting and information technology systems.

We complete acquisitions with the expectation that they will result in various benefits, but the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions are subject to a number of
uncertainties, including the ability to timely realize accretive benefits, the level of attrition from professionals licensed or associated with the acquired companies and whether
we can successfully integrate the acquired business. Failure to achieve these anticipated benefits could result in increased costs, decreases in the amount of expected revenues
and diversion of management’s time and energy, which could in turn materially and adversely affect our overall business, financial condition and operating results.

Our brand and reputation are key assets of our company, and our business may be affected by how we are perceived in the marketplace.

Our brand and reputation are key assets, and we believe our continued success depends on our ability to preserve, grow and leverage the value of our brand. Our ability
to attract and retain clients is highly dependent upon the external perceptions of our level of service, trustworthiness, business practices, management, workplace culture,
financial condition, our response to unexpected events and other subjective qualities. Negative perceptions or publicity regarding these matters, even if related to seemingly
isolated incidents and whether or not factually correct, could erode trust and confidence and damage our reputation among existing and potential clients, which could make it
difficult for us to attract new clients and maintain existing ones. Negative public opinion could result from actual or alleged conduct in any number of activities or
circumstances, including handling of complaints, regulatory compliance, such as compliance with government sanctions, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), the U.K.
Bribery Act and other anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and corruption laws, the use and protection of client and other sensitive information and from actions taken by
regulators or others in response to such conduct. Furthermore, as a company with headquarters and operations located in the U.S., a negative perception of the U.S. arising from
its political or other positions could harm the perception of our company and our brand abroad. Although we monitor developments for areas of potential risk to our reputation
and brand, negative perceptions or publicity would materially and adversely affect our revenues and profitability. Social media channels may also cause rapid, widespread
reputational harm to our brand. Our brand and reputation may also be harmed by the actions of third parties that are outside of our control, including vendors and joint venture
partners.

The protection of our brand, including related trademarks, may require the expenditure of significant financial and operational resources. Moreover, the steps we take
to protect our brand may not adequately protect our rights or prevent third parties from infringing or misappropriating our trademarks. Even when we detect infringement or
misappropriation of our trademarks, we may not be able to enforce all such trademarks. Any unauthorized use by third parties of our brand may adversely affect our brand.
Furthermore, as we continue to expand our business, especially internationally, there is a risk we may face claims of infringement or other alleged violations of third-party
intellectual property rights, which may restrict us from leveraging our brand in a manner consistent with our business goals.

Our REI businesses, including our real estate investment programs and co-investment activities, subject us to performance and real estate investment risks which could
cause fluctuations in our earnings and cash flow and impact our ability to raise capital for future investments.

The revenue, net income and cash flows generated by our investment management business line within our Real Estate Investments segment may be volatile primarily
because the management, transaction and incentive fees may vary as a result of market movements. In the event that any of the investment programs that our investment
management business manages were to perform poorly, our revenue, net income and cash flows could decline, because the value of the assets we manage would decrease and
thereby reduce our management fees and our investment returns, resulting in a reduction in the incentive compensation we earn. Moreover, we could experience losses on co-
investments of our own capital in such programs as a result of poor performance. Investors and potential investors in our programs continually assess our performance, and our
ability to raise capital for existing and future programs and maintaining our current fee structure will depend on our continued satisfactory performance.
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An important part of the strategy for our Real Estate Investments segment involves co-investing our capital in certain real estate investments with our clients, and there
is an inherent risk of loss of our investments. As of December 31, 2024, we had a net investment of approximately $361 million and had committed $205 million to fund future
co-investments in our investment funds, approximately $74 million of which is expected to be funded during 2025. In addition to required future capital contributions, some of
the co-investment entities may request additional capital from us and our subsidiaries holding investments in those assets. The failure to provide these contributions could have
adverse consequences to our interests in these investments, including damage to our reputation with our co-investment partners and clients, as well as the necessity of obtaining
alternative funding from other sources that may be on disadvantageous terms for us and the other co-investors. Participating as a co-investor is an important part of our
investment management line of business, which might suffer if we were unable to make these investments.

Selective investment in real estate projects is critical to our development services business strategy within our Real Estate Investments segment, and there is an
inherent risk of loss of our investments. As of December 31, 2024, we were involved as a principal in 44 real estate projects that were consolidated in our financial statements
with invested equity of $649 million and co-invested with our clients in approximately 125 unconsolidated real estate projects with a net investment of $340 million. We had
committed, but not funded, additional capital of $330 million and $67 million to consolidated and unconsolidated projects, respectively, as of December 31, 2024.

During the ordinary course of business within our development services business line, we provide numerous completion and budget guarantees requiring us to
complete the relevant project within a specified timeframe and/or within a specified budget, with us potentially being liable for costs to complete in excess of such timeframe or
budget. There can be no assurance that we will not have to perform under any such guarantees. If we are required to perform under a significant number of such guarantees, it
could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Because the disposition of a single significant investment may affect our financial performance in any period, our real estate investment activities could cause
fluctuations in our earnings and cash flows. In certain cases, we have limited control over the timing of the disposition of these investments and the recognition of any related
gain or loss, or incentive participation fee.

The success of our GWS business depends on our ability to enter into mutually beneficial contracts, deliver high quality levels of service, manage our contractual
obligations and accurately assess working capital requirements.

Contracts for our Global Workplace Solutions clients often include complex terms regarding payment of fees, risk transfer, liability limitations, termination, due
diligence and transition timeframes. Further, our Global Workplace Solutions business is often impacted by transition activities in the first year of a contract as well as the
timing of starting operations on these large client contracts. If we are unable to negotiate contracts with our clients in a timely manner and on mutually beneficial terms, or there
is a delay in becoming fully operational, our business and results of operation may be negatively impacted. Further, if we do not have adequate governance, processes,
technology, quality assurance or expertise available to appropriately manage contracts with our clients and our obligations under such contracts, or if we fail to deliver the high-
quality levels of service expected by our clients, it may result in reputational and financial damage, and could impact our ability to retain existing clients and attract new clients.

Our Global Workplace Solutions business also requires us to accurately model the working capital needs of this business. Should we fail to accurately assess working
capital requirements, the cash flows generated by this business may be adversely impacted. In addition, if we do not accurately assess the creditworthiness of a client or if a
client’s creditworthiness changes during the term of the contract, we could potentially be unable to collect on any outstanding payments.

We have concentrations of business with large clients, which may cause increased credit risk and greater impact from the loss of certain clients and increased risks from
higher limitations of liability in contracts.

Having large and concentrated clients may lead to greater or more concentrated risks of loss if, among other possibilities, such a client (i) experiences its own financial
problems, which may lead to larger individual credit risks; (ii) becomes bankrupt or insolvent, which may lead to our failure to be paid for services we have previously provided
or funds we have previously advanced; (iii) decides to reduce its real estate operations; (iv) makes a change in its real estate strategy; (v) decides to change its providers of real
estate services; or (vi) merges with another corporation or otherwise undergoes a change of control, which may result in new management taking over with a different real
estate philosophy or in different relationships with other real estate providers. In addition, competitive conditions, particularly in connection with increasingly large clients,
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may require us to compromise on certain contract terms with respect to the payment of fees, the extent of risk transfer, or acting as principal rather than agent in connection with
supplier relationships, liability limitations, credit terms and other contractual terms, or in connection with disputes or potential litigation. Where competitive pressures result in
higher levels of potential liability under our contracts, the cost of operational errors and other activities for which we have indemnified our clients will be greater and may not
be fully insured.

A significant portion of our loan origination and servicing business depends upon our relationships with U.S. Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs).

A significant portion of our loan origination and servicing business (which we conduct through certain of our wholly-owned subsidiaries) depends upon our
relationship with the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac), collectively the GSEs. As an
approved seller/servicer for the GSEs, we are required to comply with various eligibility criteria and are required to originate and service loans in accordance with their
individual program requirements, including participation in loss sharing and repurchase arrangements. Failure to comply with these requirements may result in termination or
withdrawal of our approval to sell and service the GSE loans.

A failure by third parties to comply with service level agreements or regulatory or legal requirements could result in ec ic and rep ional harm to us.

We rely on third parties, and in some cases subcontractors, to perform activities on behalf of our organization to improve quality, increase efficiencies, cut costs and
lower operational risks across our business and support functions. We have instituted a Supplier Code of Conduct, which is intended to communicate to our vendors the
standards of conduct we expect them to uphold. Our contracts with vendors typically impose a contractual obligation to comply with our Supplier Code of Conduct. In addition,
we leverage technology to help us better screen vendors, with the aim of gaining a deeper understanding of the compliance, data privacy, health and safety, environmental,
sustainability and other risks posed to our business by potential and existing vendors. If our third parties do not have the proper safeguards and controls in place, or appropriate
oversight cannot be provided, we could be exposed to increased operational, regulatory, financial or reputational risks. A failure by third parties to comply with service level
agreements or regulatory or legal requirements in a high quality and timely manner could result in economic and reputational harm to us. In addition, these third parties face
their own technology, operating, business and economic risks, and any significant failures by them, including the improper use or disclosure of our confidential client, employee
or company information, could cause damage to our reputation and harm to our business.

Our success depends upon the retention of our senior manag t, as well as our ability to attract and retain qualified and experienced employees.

Our continued success is highly dependent upon the efforts of our executive officers and other key employees. While certain of our executive officers and key
employees are subject to long-term compensatory arrangements, there is no assurance that we will be able to retain all key members of our senior management. We also are
highly dependent upon the retention of our property sales and leasing professionals, who generate a significant amount of our revenues, as well as other revenue producing
professionals. The departure of any of our key employees, or the loss of a significant number of key revenue producers, if we are unable to quickly hire and integrate qualified
replacements, could cause our business, financial condition and results of operations to materially suffer. Competition for employee talent can be intense and we may not be
able to successfully recruit, integrate or retain sufficiently qualified personnel. If we were to experience significant employee attrition or turnover, it could lead to increased
recruitment and training costs as well as operating inefficiencies that could adversely impact our results of operation. We and our competitors use equity incentives and sign-on
and retention bonuses to help attract, retain and incentivize key personnel. However, if our compensation incentives are misaligned with the company’s organizational and
strategic priorities, such misalignment could lead to poor business decisions, operational inefficiencies, excessive risk taking, and talent retention challenges. Any such
misaligned incentives could have a material negative impact on our business and operating results.
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If we are unable to manage the organizational challenges associated with our global operations, we might be unable to achieve our business objectives

Our global operations present significant management and organizational challenges. It might become increasingly difficult to maintain effective standards across a
large enterprise and effectively institutionalize our knowledge. It might also become more difficult to maintain our culture, effectively manage and monitor our personnel and
operations and effectively communicate our core values, policies and procedures, strategies and goals. The size of our employee base increases the possibility that we will have
individuals who engage in unlawful or fraudulent activity, or otherwise expose us to business and reputational risks. If we are not successful in continuing to develop and
implement the processes and tools designed to manage our enterprise and instill our culture and core values into all of our employees, our reputation and ability to compete
successfully and achieve our business objectives could be impaired. In addition, from time to time, we have made, and may continue to make, changes to our operating model,
including how we are organized, as the needs and size of our business change. If we do not successfully implement any such changes, our business and results of operation may
be negatively and materially impacted.

Our policies, procedures and programs to safeguard the health, safety and security of our employees and others may not be adequate.

We have approximately 140,000 employees (including Turner & Townsend employees) as well as independent contractors working in over 100 countries. We have
undertaken to implement what we believe to be best practices to safeguard the health, safety and security of our employees, independent contractors, clients and others at our
worksites. However, if these policies, procedures and programs are not adequate, or employees do not receive related adequate training or follow them for any reason, the
consequences may be severe to us, including serious injury or loss of life, which could impair our operations and cause us to incur significant legal liability or fines as well as
reputational damage. Our insurance may not cover, or may be insufficient to cover, any legal liability or fines that we incur for health, safety or security incidents.

We may be subject to actual or perceived conflicts of interest.

Similar to other global services companies with different business lines and a broad client base, we may be subject to potential conflicts of interests in the provision of
our services. For example, conflicts may arise from our role in advising or representing both owners and tenants in commercial real estate lease transactions. In certain cases, we
are also subject to fiduciary obligations to our clients. In such situations, our policies are designed to give full disclosure and transparency to all parties as well as implement
appropriate barriers on information-sharing and other activities to ensure each party’s interests are protected; however, there can be no assurance that our policies will be
successful in every case. If we fail, or appear to fail, to identify, disclose and appropriately address potential conflicts of interest or fiduciary obligations, there could be an
adverse effect on our business or reputation regardless of whether any such claims have merit. In addition, it is possible that in some jurisdictions, regulations could be changed
to limit our ability to act for certain parties where potential conflicts may exist even with informed consent, which could limit our market share in those markets. There can be
no assurance that potential conflicts of interest will not materially adversely affect us.
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Catastrophic events, failures or negligence impacting the buildings that we manage may lead to significant financial li
of litigation, government fines and penalties

ility and rep ional harm, including as a result

The buildings we manage for our clients, which include some of the world’s largest office properties and retail centers, are used by people daily. We also manage the
critical facilities (including data centers, laboratories, government facilities, manufacturing environments, warehouses and other mission-critical facilities) that our clients rely
upon to serve the public and their customers. If our ability to manage these buildings is compromised due to employee errors or malfeasance or a catastrophic event (e.g.,
cybersecurity attacks, damage to or sabotage of underwater sea cables, explosions, natural disasters, acts of war, terrorist attacks, mass shootings, government intervention or
property seizure), it could potentially disrupt our client’s ability to conduct business and may result in ensuing harm to the public, including significant loss of life or injury. To
the extent we are held to have been negligent in connection with our management of the affected properties (due to human error or otherwise), we could incur significant
financial liabilities and reputational harm, including, but not limited to, as a result of litigation, government scrutiny, fines or penalties.

Infrastructure disruptions, risks related to climate change, including physical and transition risks, social activism, geopolitical tensions, and other similar events may
disrupt our ability to manage real estate for clients or may adversely affect the value of real estate investments we make on behalf of clients.

Our ability to conduct a global business may be adversely impacted by disruptions to the physical infrastructure and supply chain that support our businesses and the
communities in which they are located. This may include disruptions as a result of political instability, public protests, environmental activism, public health crises (including
new or resurging pandemics), attacks on our information technology systems, war or other hostilities, terrorist attacks, interruptions or delays in services from third-party data
center hosting facilities or cloud computing platform providers, employee errors or malfeasance, building defects, utility outages, and the physical effects of climate change,
including the acute impacts of extreme weather events occurring more frequently or with more severe effects. The infrastructure and supply chain disruptions we may
experience as a result of such events could also disrupt our ability to manage real estate for clients or may adversely affect the value of our real estate investments in our
investment management and development services businesses. Furthermore, to the extent climate change causes adverse chronic impacts on global temperatures, weather
patterns, and weather events in regions where we operate, we, our vendors and our clients could experience prolonged infrastructure or service disruptions that could interfere
with our or their ability to conduct business. These conditions could also result in declining demand for commercial real estate in certain regions or with certain clients,
decreased value of any real estate investments we hold in those regions, or increases in our operating costs and in the costs of managing client properties over time. Additionally,
we face climate-related transition risks, including shifts in market preferences toward low carbon solutions and sustainable products and services. Failure to continue to establish
and maintain effective strategies, solutions and technologies to help clients meet stricter regulations or their own sustainability objectives may affect our ability to compete
effectively for certain business or have reputational impacts.

QOur joint venture activities and affiliate program involve risks that are often outside of our control and that, if realized, could materially harm our business.

We have utilized joint ventures for commercial investments, select local brokerage and other affiliations both in the U.S. and internationally, and we may acquire
interests in other joint ventures in the future. Under our affiliate program, we enter into contractual relationships with local brokerage, property management or other operations
pursuant to which we license to that operation our name and make available certain of our resources, in exchange for a royalty or economic participation in that operation’s
revenue, profits or transactional activity. In many of these joint ventures and affiliations, we may not have the right or power to direct the management and policies of the joint
ventures or affiliates, and other participants or operators of affiliates may take action contrary to our instructions or requests and against our policies and objectives. In addition,
the other participants and operators may become bankrupt or have economic or other business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours. If a joint venture participant or
affiliate acts contrary to our interest, it could harm our brand, business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our debt instruments impose operating and financial restrictions on us, and in the event of a default, all of our borrowings would become immediately due and payable.

As of December 31, 2024, our total debt, excluding notes payable on real estate (which are generally non-recourse to us) and warehouse lines of credit (which are
recourse only to our wholly-owned subsidiary, CBRE Capital Markets, and are secured by our related warehouse receivables), was $3.6 billion. For the year ended
December 31, 2024, our interest expense was $440 million.

Our debt instruments impose, and the terms of any future debt may impose, operating and other restrictions on us and many of our subsidiaries. These restrictions
affect, and in many respects limit or prohibit, our ability to:

*  plan for or react to market conditions;
* meet capital needs or otherwise restrict our activities or business plans; and
» finance ongoing operations, strategic acquisitions, investments or other capital needs or to engage in other business activities that would be in our interest,
including:
o incurring or guaranteeing additional indebtedness;
o entering into mergers and consolidations;
o  creating liens; and

°  entering into sale/leaseback transactions.

Our credit agreements require us to maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the applicable credit agreement) to
consolidated interest expense (as defined in the applicable credit agreement) and a maximum leverage ratio of total debt (as defined in the applicable credit agreement) less
available cash (as defined in the applicable credit agreement) to consolidated EBITDA as of the end of each fiscal quarter. Our ability to meet these financial ratios may be
affected by events beyond our control, and we cannot give assurance that we will be able to meet those ratios when required. We continue to monitor our projected compliance
with these financial ratios and other terms of our credit agreements.

A breach of any of these restrictive covenants or the inability to comply with the required financial ratios could result in a default under our debt instruments. If any
such default occurs, the lenders under our credit agreements and noteholders with respect to our senior notes may elect to declare all outstanding borrowings, together with
accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable. The lenders under our credit agreements also have the right in these circumstances to terminate any
commitments they have to provide further borrowings thereunder. In addition, a default under our credit agreements, senior notes or commercial paper program could trigger a
cross default or cross acceleration under our other debt instruments.

We have limited restrictions on the amount of additional recourse debt we are able to incur, which may intensify the risks associated with our leverage, including our ability
to service our indebtedness. In addition, in the event of a credit-ratings downgrade, our ability to borrow and the costs of such borrowings could be adversely affected.

Subject to the maximum amounts of indebtedness permitted by the covenants under our debt instruments, we are not restricted in the amount of additional recourse
debt we are able to incur, and so we may in the future incur such indebtedness in order to finance our operations and investments. In addition, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.
and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, rate our significant outstanding debt. These ratings, and any downgrades of them, may affect our ability to borrow as well as the costs
of our current and future borrowings.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase significantly and potentially limit our ability to
effectively refinance our indebtedness as it matures.

Borrowings under certain of our debt instruments bear interest at variable rates and expose us to interest rate risk. In addition, while our commercial paper notes
generally have a fixed rate, due to their short-term nature, we view all of the interest rates charged in connection with these instruments as variable. If interest rates increase, our
debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness will increase even though the amount borrowed will remain the same, and our net income and operating cash flows,
including cash available for servicing our indebtedness, will correspondingly decrease.
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Additionally, our ability to refinance portions of our indebtedness in advance of their maturity dates depends on securing new financing bearing interest at rates that we
are able to service. While we believe that we currently have adequate cash flows to service the interest rates currently applicable to our indebtedness, if interest rates were to rise
significantly, we might be unable to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to meet our debt service obligations at such increased rates.

Risks Related to our Information Technology, Cybersecurity and Data Protection

Failure to maintain and execute information technology strategies and ensure that our employees adapt to changes in technology could materially and adversely affect our
ability to remain competitive in the market.

Our business relies heavily on information technology, including solutions provided by third parties, to deliver services that meet the needs of our clients. If we are
unable to effectively execute or maintain our information technology strategies or adopt new technologies and processes relevant to our service platform, our ability to deliver
high-quality services may be materially impaired. In addition, we make significant investments in new systems and tools to achieve competitive advantages and efficiencies,
including the adoption and integration of artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning technologies. Implementation of such investments in information technology,
including generative Al tools, could be complicated, heavily dependent on the quality, accuracy and relevance of data inputs and methodologies, require sophisticated
infrastructure and skilled talent, have ethical and societal implications, and could exceed estimated budgets. We may experience challenges that prevent new strategies or
technologies from being realized according to anticipated schedules. If we are unable to maintain current information technology and processes or encounter delays, or fail to
exploit new technologies, then the execution of our business plans may be disrupted. Similarly, our employees require effective tools, technologies and techniques to perform
functions integral to our business. Failure to successfully provide such items, or ensure that employees have properly adopted them, could materially and adversely impact our
ability to achieve positive business outcomes.

Interruption or failure of our information technology, communications systems or data services could impair our ability to provide our services effectively, which could
damage our rep ion and materially harm our operating results.

Our business requires the continued operation of information technology and communication systems and network infrastructure. Our ability to conduct our global
business may be materially adversely affected by disruptions to these systems or our infrastructure. Our information technology and communications systems are vulnerable to
damage or disruption from fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, system malfunctions, computer viruses, cyberattacks, natural disasters such as hurricanes, earthquakes
and floods, acts of war or terrorism, employee errors or malfeasance, or other events which are beyond our control. Cyberattacks and malware pose growing threats to many
companies, and we, as well as our third-party service providers, have been a target and may continue to be a target of such threats, which could expose us to liability,
reputational harm and significant remediation costs and cause material harm to our business and financial results. In addition, the operation and maintenance of these systems
and networks is in some cases dependent on third-party technologies, systems and service providers for which there is no certainty of uninterrupted availability. Any of these
events could cause system interruption, delays and loss, corruption or exposure of data or intellectual property and may also disrupt our ability to provide services to or interact
with our clients, contractors and vendors, and we may not be able to successfully implement contingency plans. Furthermore, while we have certain business interruption and
cyber insurance coverage and various contractual arrangements that can serve to mitigate costs, damages and liabilities, any such event could result in substantial recovery and
remediation costs and liability to customers, business partners and other third parties. We have crisis management, business continuity and disaster recovery plans and backup
systems to reduce the potentially adverse effect of such events, but our disaster recovery planning may not be sufficient and cannot account for all eventualities, and a
catastrophic event that results in the destruction or disruption of any of our data centers and third-party cloud hosting providers or our critical business or information
technology systems could severely affect our ability to conduct normal business operations, and as a result, our future operating results could be materially adversely affected.

Our business relies heavily on the use of commercial real estate data. A portion of this data is purchased or licensed from third-party providers for which there is no
certainty of uninterrupted availability or accuracy. A disruption of our ability to provide data to our professionals and/or our clients or an inadvertent exposure of proprietary
data could damage our reputation and competitive position, and our operating results could be adversely affected.

Failure to maintain the security of our information and technology networks, including personal information and other client information, intellectual property and
proprietary business information could materially adversely affect us.
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Security breaches and other disruptions of our information and technology networks, as well as that of third-party vendors, could compromise our information and
intellectual property and expose us to liability, reputational harm and significant remediation costs, which could cause material harm to our business and financial results. In the
ordinary course of our business, we collect and store confidential data, including our proprietary business information and intellectual property, and that of our clients and
personal information (also referred to as “personal data” or “personally identifiable information”) of our employees, contractors and vendors, in our data centers, networks and
third-party cloud hosting providers. The secure collection, use, storage, retention, maintenance, sharing, processing, transfer, transmission, disclosure, and protection
(collectively, “Processing”) of this information is critical to our operations. Although we and our vendors continue to implement new security measures and regularly conduct
employee training, our information technology and infrastructure may nevertheless be vulnerable to cyberattacks by third parties or breached due to employee error,
malfeasance or other disruptions. These risks have been heightened in connection with the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East. When
geopolitical conflicts develop, critical infrastructures may be targeted by state-sponsored cyberattacks even if they are not directly involved in the conflict. An increasing
number of companies that rely on information and technology networks have disclosed breaches of their security, some of which have involved sophisticated and highly
targeted attacks on portions of their websites or infrastructure. The techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable, or degrade service, or sabotage systems, change
frequently, may be difficult to detect, and often are not recognized until launched against a target. The rapid evolution and increased adoption of Al technologies may intensify
these security risks. To date, we have not experienced any cybersecurity breaches that have been material, either individually or in the aggregate. However, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to prevent any material events from occurring in the future.

QOur business is subject to complex and evolving United States and international laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, and cybersecurity. Many of these
laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation and could result in claims, increased cost of operations or otherwise harm our business.

We are subject to numerous United States federal, state, local, and international laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection and cybersecurity that govern
the processing of certain data (including personal information, sensitive information, health information, and other regulated data). These laws and regulations are increasing in
severity, complexity and number, change frequently, and increasingly conflict among the various jurisdictions in which we operate, which has resulted in greater compliance
risk and cost for us.

In addition, we are also subject to the possibility of security breaches and other incidents, which themselves may result in a violation of these laws. For example, when
the European Union General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) became effective in 2018, it resulted in greater compliance burdens for us with respect to cross-border
transfers of personal information. Under GDPR, fines of up to 20 million Euros or up to 4% of the annual global revenues of the infringer, whichever is greater, may be
imposed for violations. As of December 31, 2024, we are required to comply with the GDPR as well as the U.K. equivalent and other global data protection laws (including in
Switzerland, Japan, Singapore, China, United Arab Emirates, Australia, and Brazil), the implementation of which exposes us to parallel data protection regimes, each of which
potentially authorizes similar fines and other enforcement actions for certain violations.

In the U.S., the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020) broadly defines personal information, gives
California residents expanded privacy rights and protections, and provides for civil penalties for certain violations, and established a regulatory agency dedicated to enforcing
those requirements. At least nineteen U.S. states have also passed consumer privacy laws, and several states, most notably Illinois, have passed laws regulating the processing of
biometric information. Without any overarching federal privacy law, the patchwork of privacy legislation formed by individual state laws heightens the costs of compliance, the
risks of noncompliance, and the potential for enforcement actions by individual state attorneys general.

We are also subject to an increasing number of reporting obligations in respect of material cybersecurity incidents. These reporting requirements have been proposed
or implemented by a number of regulators in different jurisdictions, may vary in their scope and application, and could contain conflicting requirements. Certain of these rules
and regulations may require us to report a cybersecurity incident before we have been able to fully assess its impact or remediate the underlying issue. Efforts to comply with
such reporting requirements could divert management’s attention from our cybersecurity incident response and could potentially reveal system vulnerabilities to threat actors.
Failure to timely report cybersecurity incidents under these rules could also result in regulatory investigations, litigation, monetary fines, sanctions, or subject us to other forms
of liability.

A significant actual or potential theft, loss, corruption, exposure, fraudulent use or misuse of client, employee or other personal information or proprietary business
data, whether by third parties or as a result of employee malfeasance or otherwise,
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perceived or actual non-compliance with our contractual or other legal obligations regarding such data or intellectual property or a violation of our privacy and security policies
with respect to such data could result in significant remediation and other costs, fines, litigation or regulatory actions against us. Such an event could additionally disrupt our
operations and the services we provide to clients, harm our relationships with contractors and vendors, damage our reputation, result in the loss of a competitive advantage,
impact our ability to provide timely and accurate financial data and cause a loss of confidence in our services and financial reporting, which could adversely affect our business,
revenues, competitive position and investor confidence. Additionally, we rely on third parties to support our information and technology networks, including cloud storage
solution providers, and as a result have less direct control over our data and information technology systems. Such third parties are also vulnerable to security breaches and
compromised security systems, for which we may not be indemnified and which could materially adversely affect us and our reputation.
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Legal and Regulatory Related Risks

We are subject to various litigation and regulatory risks and may face financial liabilities and/or damage to our reputation as a result of litigation or regulatory
investigations or proceedings.

Our businesses are exposed to various litigation and regulatory risks, especially within our valuations business. Although we maintain insurance coverage for most of
this risk, insurance coverage is unavailable at commercially reasonable pricing for certain types of exposures. Additionally, our insurance policies and/or self-insurance reserves
may not cover us in the event of grossly negligent or intentionally wrongful conduct or may not be sufficient to pay the full damages. Accordingly, an adverse result in a
litigation against us, or a lawsuit that results in a substantial legal liability for us (and particularly a lawsuit that is not insured), could have a disproportionate and material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, an adverse result in regulatory proceedings, if applicable, could result in fines or other
liabilities or adversely impact our operations. Prolonged or complex investigations, even if they do not result in regulatory or other proceedings or adverse findings, may result
in significant costs that may not be covered by insurance and in diversion of employee resources. In addition, we depend on our business relationships and our reputation for
high-caliber professional services to attract and retain clients. As a result, allegations against us, or the announcement of a regulatory investigation involving us, irrespective of
the ultimate outcome of that allegation or investigation, may harm our professional reputation and as such materially damage our business and its prospects.

Our businesses, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected by new laws or regulations or by changes in existing laws or
regulations or the application thereof. If we fail to comply with laws and regulations applicable to us, or make incorrect determinations in complex tax regimes, we may
incur material financial penalties.

We are subject to numerous federal, state, local and non-U.S. laws and regulations specific to the services we perform in our business. Brokerage of real estate sales
and leasing transactions and the provision of property management and valuation services require us and our employees to maintain applicable licenses in each U.S. state and
certain non-U.S. jurisdictions in which we perform these services. If we and our employees fail to maintain our licenses or conduct these activities without a license, or violate
any of the regulations covering our licenses, we may be required to pay fines (including treble damages in certain states) or return commissions received or have our licenses
suspended or revoked. A number of our services, including the services provided by our indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, CBRE Capital Markets and CBRE Investment
Management, are subject to regulation by the SEC, Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), or other self-regulatory organizations and state securities regulators and
compliance failures or regulatory action could adversely affect our business. We could be subject to disciplinary or other actions in the future due to claimed noncompliance
with these regulations, which could have a material adverse effect on our operations and profitability.

We are also subject to laws of broader applicability, such as tax, securities, environmental, employment laws and anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and corruption
laws, including the Fair Labor Standards Act, occupational health and safety regulations, U.S. state wage-and-hour laws, the U.S. FCPA and the U.K. Bribery Act. Failure to
comply with these requirements could result in the imposition of significant fines by governmental authorities, awards of damages to private litigants and significant amounts
paid in legal fees or settlements of these matters.

Telford Homes, our residential development subsidiary in the U.K., is subject to certain U.K. laws and requirements that obligates U.K. homebuilders to remediate or
fund the remediation work relating to certain fire-safety issues on their constructed buildings. The estimated remediation costs for in-scope buildings are subjective, highly
complex and dependent on a number of variables outside of Telford Homes’ control and, as a result, the aggregate costs and liabilities related to these remediations are
uncertain. For additional information, see Note 22 — Telford Fire Safety Remediation, in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report. In the
event Telford Homes is unable to satisfy its obligations and liabilities under such government requirements and U.K. laws, Telford Homes and potentially its affiliates could
face material business interruption, litigation, liabilities and reputational damage.

As the size and scope of our business has increased significantly, compliance with numerous licensing and other regulatory requirements and the possible loss resulting
from non-compliance have both increased. New or revised legislation or regulations applicable to our business, both within and outside of the U.S., as well as changes in
administrations or enforcement priorities may have an adverse effect on our business, including increasing the costs of regulatory compliance or preventing us from providing
certain types of services in certain jurisdictions or in connection with certain transactions or clients. We are unable to predict how any of these new laws, rules, regulations and
proposals will be implemented or in what form, or whether
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any additional or similar changes to laws or regulations, including the interpretation or implementation thereof, will occur in the future. Any such action could affect us in
substantial and unpredictable ways and could have an adverse effect on our businesses, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Evolving corporate governance and public disclosure regulations and expectations, including with respect to sustainability matters, could expose us to risks.

In recent years, there has been heightened interest from regulators, customers, investors, employees and other stakeholders on sustainability matters and related
disclosures. Such attention to sustainability matters, including expanding mandatory and voluntary reporting, diligence, and disclosure on topics such as climate change, human
capital, labor and risk oversight, could expand the nature, scope, and complexity of matters that we are required to control, assess and report on. At the same time, regulators
and other stakeholders have increasingly expressed or pursued opposing views, legislation and investment expectations with respect to sustainability initiatives, including the
enactment or proposal of “anti-ESG” legislation or policies. Further, rising client expectations for sustainability performance may be at odds with simultaneous pressure for
low-cost delivery. Relatedly, our clients use sustainability performance data managed by us (including, but not limited to, data used in the calculation of GHG emissions) in
their own regulatory filings, and such data is subject to financial grade assurance. If our sustainability practices do not meet evolving stakeholders’ expectations and assurance
standards, or if we are unable to satisfy all stakeholders, our reputation, ability to attract or retain employees, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be
negatively impacted.

We are subject to changing rules and regulations promulgated by a number of governmental and self-regulatory organizations, including the SEC, the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) and the Financial Accounting Standards Board. Further, new and emerging regulatory initiatives, particularly in the EU, U.K. and California, related to
climate change and sustainability matters, could adversely affect our business, including, for example, the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive, the EU Corporate
Sustainability Due Diligence Directive, and Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)-aligned disclosure requirements in the U.K. and other jurisdictions.
These and other legal and regulatory requirements continue to evolve in scope and complexity, making compliance more difficult and uncertain. These changing rules,
regulations and stakeholder expectations have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in, increased general and administrative expenses and increased management time
and attention spent complying with or meeting such regulations and expectations. We also expect to incur additional costs as we seek to engage in due diligence, verification and
reporting in connection with our sustainability initiatives.

Further, we have announced, and may from time to time announce, certain initiatives, including goals, targets and objectives, related to greenhouse gas emissions
targets and other sustainability matters, in our SEC filings or in other public disclosures. These initiatives and goals could be difficult and expensive to implement and we could
be criticized for the scope or nature of such initiatives, or for any revisions thereto, or the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of related disclosures. Statements about our
sustainability initiatives and goals, and progress against those goals, reflect our current plans, which are based on standards for measuring progress that are still developing,
internal controls and processes that continue to evolve, and assumptions that are subject to change in the future. There is no guarantee that we will be able to successfully
achieve our initiatives or commitments related to sustainability matters, on the desired timeframes or at all. Nevertheless, if we fail or are perceived to fail to achieve progress
with respect to our sustainability-related goals on a timely basis, or at all, or if we or our borrowers fail or are perceived to fail to comply with all laws, regulations, policies and
related interpretations, this could negatively impact our reputation and our business results, as well as expose us to government enforcement actions, fines and private litigation.
Achievement of our sustainability goals may also require us to incur additional costs or to make changes to our operations which could adversely affect our business and results
of operations.

Aditi,

Exposure to l tax liabilities and changes in tax laws and regulations could adversely affect our financial results.

We operate in many jurisdictions with complex and varied tax regimes and are subject to different forms of taxation resulting in a variable effective tax rate. Due to the
different tax laws in the many jurisdictions where we operate, we are often required to make subjective determinations. The tax authorities in the various jurisdictions where we
carry on business may not agree with the determinations that are made by us with respect to the application of tax law. Such disagreements could result in disputes and,
ultimately, in the payment of additional funds to the government authorities in the jurisdictions where we carry on business, which could have an adverse effect on our results of
operations. In addition, changes in tax rules or the outcome of tax assessments and audits could have an adverse effect on our results in any particular quarter.
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In addition, changes in tax laws or regulations and multi-jurisdictional changes enacted in response to the action items provided by the Organization for Economic Co-
operation and Development (OECD), including the OECD’s accord to set a minimum global corporate tax rate of 15%, increase tax uncertainty and could impact the company’s
effective tax rate and provision for income taxes. Given the unpredictability of possible further changes to and the potential interdependency of the United States or foreign tax
laws and regulations, it is difficult to predict the cumulative effect of such tax laws and regulations on the company’s results of operations.

Risks Related to our Internal Controls and Accounting Policies

If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports
and our results of operations and stock price could be materially adversely affected.

The accuracy of our financial reporting is dependent on the effectiveness of our internal controls. Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations,
including human error, the possibility that controls could be circumvented or become inadequate because of changed conditions, and fraud. Because of these inherent
limitations, internal control over financial reporting might not prevent or detect all misstatements or fraud. If we cannot maintain and execute adequate internal control over
financial reporting or implement required new or improved controls that provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of the financial reporting and preparation of our
financial statements for external use, we could suffer harm to our reputation, incur incremental compliance costs, fail to meet our public reporting requirements on a timely
basis, be unable to properly report on our business and our results of operations, or be required to restate our financial statements, and our results of operations, our stock price
and our ability to obtain new business could be materially adversely affected.

QOur goodwill and other intangible assets could become impaired, which may require us to take material non-cash charges against earnings.

Under current accounting guidelines, we must assess, at least annually and potentially more frequently, whether the value of our goodwill and other intangible assets
has been impaired. Any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets as a result of such analysis would result in a non-cash charge against earnings, and such charge could
materially adversely affect our reported results of operations, stockholders’ equity and our stock price. A significant and sustained decline in our future cash flows, a significant
adverse change in the economic environment, slower growth rates or if our stock price falls below our net book value per share for a sustained period, could result in the need to
perform additional impairment analysis in future periods. If we were to conclude that a future write-down of goodwill or other intangible assets is necessary, then we would
record such additional charges, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

Risks Related to our Investments

We have equity investments in certain companies or projects that we do not control, which subject us to risks related to their respective businesses.

As of December 31, 2024, we had over $1.4 billion invested in certain companies and projects that we do not control that were accounted for under the
cost/measurement alternative method of accounting, equity method or fair value. These investments are subject to risks related to the businesses in which we invest, which may
be different than the risks inherent in our own business. Factors beyond our control may significantly influence the value of these investments and may cause their fair value to
decrease or adversely impact our ability to recognize a gain on such investments. These factors include decisions made by management or controlling stockholders of such
businesses, who may have interests different than those of CBRE, and instability in the capital markets. Any of these factors, among others, could cause an impairment, realized
and/or unrealized losses in future periods, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. In the future, we may acquire more equity
investments that are not consolidated, which could increase our exposure to the risks described above.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

Risk Management and Strategy

We recognize the importance of developing, implementing and maintaining cybersecurity measures to safeguard our information systems and protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data. We have integrated cybersecurity risk management into our broader risk management framework. Our risk management team
works with our digital & technology organization to evaluate and address cybersecurity risks in alignment with our business objectives and operational needs.

Our cybersecurity program is focused on the following areas:

*  Governance: We leverage multiple cybersecurity frameworks (e.g., ISO 27001 and NIST CSF) and regulatory requirements to form our Information Security
Management System (ISMS), which is defined through policies and standards. Policies are applicable to all employees globally. These policies are reviewed
periodically to ensure they remain relevant. For additional information regarding governance of our cybersecurity program, see the sections below entitled “Board
Oversight of Cybersecurity Risks” and “Management’s Role in Assessing and Managing Cybersecurity Risks.”

e Technical Safeguards: We deploy technical and procedural measures to protect our technology and data. Protection measures include, but are not limited to,
network firewalls, network intrusion detection and prevention, penetration testing, attack surface management, vulnerability assessments and remediation processes,
threat intelligence, anti-malware and access controls, plus data loss prevention and monitoring.

*  Security Awareness / Training: All employees are required to adhere to our Standards of Business Conduct, which identifies an employee’s responsibility for
information security. We provide annual cybersecurity training for all employees, as well as enhanced role-specific information security training for certain
employees. In addition to this training, security awareness articles are disseminated periodically throughout the year. We also sponsor a “Cyber Security Awareness
Month” in October each year and conduct regular phishing detection and response exercises.

* Incident Response Plans: We maintain and update incident response plans that address the life cycle of a cyber-incident and routinely evaluate the effectiveness of
such plans. Incident response plans focus on cyber risk issues, including detection, response and recovery; cyber threats, including external communication and
legal compliance; and breach simulations and penetration testing through internal and external exercises. Each year, we engage a third-party expert to oversee a
cybersecurity incident response exercise to test pre-planned response actions from our incident response plan and to facilitate group discussions regarding the
effectiveness of our cybersecurity incident response strategies and tactics.

e Third-Party Suppliers and Service Providers: We conduct periodic vendor security reviews and risk assessments for prospective and significant current third-party
technical suppliers and service providers. Vendor security reviews evaluate numerous key security controls and the outputs of these reviews are used as part of
business decisions regarding procurement and to assess a vendor’s overall security posture relative to a defined set of security criteria.

*  Certifications: Our security program is audited on an annual basis by several independent groups including an accredited certification body, leading accounting
firms and institutional clients.

*  Experts: We engage a range of external experts, including cybersecurity assessors, consultants, and auditors in evaluating and testing our cybersecurity program. Our
collaboration with these third-parties includes periodic audits, threat assessments and consultation on security enhancements.

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

We have experienced, and may in the future experience, whether directly or through our service providers or other channels, cybersecurity incidents. While prior
incidents have not been material and have not had a material impact on us, future incidents could have a material impact on our business strategy, results of operations or
financial condition. Although our processes are designed to help prevent, detect, respond to and mitigate the impact of such incidents, there is no guarantee that they will be
sufficient to prevent or mitigate the risk of a cyberattack or the reputational, operational, legal or financial impacts that may result. For additional information regarding risks
from cybersecurity threats, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Information Technology, Cybersecurity and Data Protection” in this Annual Report.
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Board Oversight of Cybersecurity Risks

Our Board of Directors (Board) is responsible for the oversight of our risk management program and regularly reviews information regarding our most significant
strategic, operational, financial, legal and compliance risks, including cybersecurity risks. The Board delegates its oversight of cybersecurity risks to the Audit Committee;
however, the Board reviews risks and mitigation plans through direct presentations and discussions with management as well as through receipt of committee chair reports at
each regularly scheduled Board meeting.

The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating and overseeing the management of risks related to information technology, which includes cybersecurity and data
security risks. The Audit Committee receives quarterly reports from our Chief Information Security Officer (CISO) regarding cybersecurity and data security matters and related
risk exposures. The Audit Committee Chair regularly updates the Board on such matters and the Board also periodically receives reports from management directly. Our Board
escalation protocols require material cybersecurity incidents or data breaches to be reported to the Board on a real-time basis.

Management’s Role in Assessing and Managing Cybersecurity Risks

Our CISO is responsible for setting the strategy and communicating cybersecurity risks. Our CISO’s team is also responsible for defining policies, standards,
architecture and processes for cybersecurity globally. With over 28 years of experience in the field of cybersecurity, our CISO brings a wealth of expertise to his role. His
background includes extensive experience as an enterprise CISO.

Our CISO, in conjunction with other digital & technology leaders, implements and oversees processes for the regular monitoring of our information systems. This
includes escalation protocols to identify, assess and escalate cyber incidents. We also deploy security measures and regular system audits to identify potential vulnerabilities. In
the event of a cybersecurity incident, our CISO is equipped with a defined incident response plan. Our CISO meets quarterly with our risk management team and provides
quarterly reports to the Audit Committee.

Item 2. Properties.

As of December 31, 2024, we occupied offices, excluding offices occupied by affiliates, in the following geographical regions:

Sales Corporate
Offices® Offices Total
Americas 274 1 275
Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) 267 1 268
Asia Pacific 165 1 166
Total 706 3 709

M TIncludes 129 offices of Turner & Townsend, including 41 in the Americas, 57 in EMEA, and 31 offices in APAC regions.

Some of our offices house employees from more than one of our business segments (i.e. an office might house employees from all three of our business segments). As
such, we have provided the above office totals by geographic region rather than by business segment in order to avoid double counting or triple counting our offices.

We do not own any material real property and generally lease our office space and believe it is adequate for our current needs. The most significant terms of the
leasing arrangements for our offices are the length of the lease and rent. Our leases have terms varying in duration. The rent payable under our office leases varies significantly
from location to location as a result of differences in prevailing commercial real estate rates in different geographic areas. Our management believes that no single office lease is
material to our business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition, we believe there is adequate alternative office space available at acceptable rental rates to meet
our needs, although adverse movements in rental rates in some markets may negatively affect our profits in those markets when we enter into new leases.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are a party to a number of pending or threatened lawsuits arising out of, or incident to, our ordinary course of business. We believe that any losses in excess of the
amounts accrued as liabilities on our consolidated financial statements are unlikely to be significant, but litigation is inherently uncertain and there is the potential for a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements if one or more matters are resolved in a particular period in an amount materially in excess of what we anticipated.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART 11
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Stock Price Information

Our Class A common stock has traded on the NYSE under the symbol “CBRE” since March 19, 2018. Prior to that, from June 10, 2004 to March 18, 2018, our Class
A common stock traded on the NYSE under the symbol “CBG.”

As of February 11, 2025, there were 48 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock. This figure does not include beneficial owners who hold shares in
nominee name.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on any class of our common stock since our inception on February 20, 2001. Any future determination to pay cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors (Board) and will depend on our financial condition, acquisition or other opportunities to invest capital, results of
operations, capital requirements and other factors that the Board deems relevant.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Open market share repurchase activity during the three months ended December 31, 2024 was as follows (dollars in millions, except per share amounts):

Total Number
Total of Shares Purchased
Number of Average as Part of Approximate Dollar Value of Shares
Shares Price Paid Publicly Announced That May Yet Be Purchased Under
Period Purchased per Share Plans or Programs the Plans or Programs )
October 1, 2024 - October 31, 2024 21,324 § 119.48 21,324
November 1, 2024 - November 30, 2024 2,301,758 134.80 2,301,758
December 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024 1,665,592 132.61 1,665,592
3,988,674 ¢ 133.81 3,988,674 § 5,822

™ In November 2024, our Board authorized an additional $5.0 billion to our existing $4.0 billion share repurchase program (as amended, the 2024 program) bringing the total authorized amount under the
2024 program to a total of $9.0 billion as of December 31, 2024. The Board also extended the term of the 2024 program through December 31, 2029. During the fourth quarter of 2024, we repurchased an
aggregate of $534 million of our common stock under the 2024 program. The remaining $5.8 billion in the table represents the amount available to repurchase shares under the 2024 program as of
December 31, 2024.

Our stock repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any specific number of shares. Under this program, shares may be repurchased in privately negotiated
and/or open market transactions, including under plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act. Our stock repurchases have been funded with cash on hand and
we intend to continue funding future repurchases with existing cash. We may utilize our stock repurchase programs to continue offsetting the impact of our stock-based
compensation program and on a more opportunistic basis if we believe our stock presents a compelling investment compared to other discretionary uses. The timing of any
future repurchases and the actual amounts repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including the market price of our common stock, general market and economic
conditions and other factors.
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph below matches the 5 Year Cumulative Total Return of holders of CBRE Group, Inc.’s common stock with the cumulative total returns of the S&P 500
Index and a customized peer group of eight companies that includes: JLL, a global commercial real estate services company publicly traded in the U.S., as well as the following
companies that have significant commercial real estate or real estate capital markets businesses within the U.S. or globally, that in each case are publicly traded in the U.S. or
abroad: Colliers International Group Inc. (CIGI), Cushman & Wakefield plc (CWK), ISS A/S (ISS), Marcus & Millichap, Inc. (MMI), Newmark Group Inc. (NMRK), Savills
plc (SVS.L), and Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (WD). These companies are reasonably comparable to us, or include divisions with business lines reasonably comparable to some or all
of ours, and represent our current primary competitors.

The graph assumes that the value of the investment in our common stock, in each index, and in the peer group (including reinvestment of dividends) was $100 on
December 31, 2019 and tracks it through December 31, 2024. Our stock price performance shown in the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future stock price
performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
AMONG CBRE GROUP, INC., THE S&P 500 INDEX @),
AND PEER GROUP
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—Jl— CBRE Group, Inc. --ﬁ-- S&P 500 —=ge—— Peer Group

12/31/19 12/20 12/21 12/22 12/23 12/24
CBRE Group, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 102.33 $ 177.04 $ 125.57 $ 151.88 $ 214.21
S&P 500 100.00 118.40 152.39 124.79 157.59 197.02
Peer Group 100.00 85.50 140.81 89.11 104.84 121.11

(M $100 invested on December 31, 2019 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.
@ Copyright© 2025 Standard & Poor’s, a division of S&P Global. All rights reserved.
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This graph shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this Annual Report into any filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate this information by reference therein, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Item 6. [Reserved]

28



Table of Contents

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion provides an analysis of the company’s financial condition and results of operations from management’s perspective and should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this Annual Report. Discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2023 and comparisons between the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are included in Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the company’s 2023 Annual Report filed with the SEC on February 20, 2024.

Overview

CBRE is the world’s largest commercial real estate services and investment firm (based on 2024 revenue). In 2024, we served clients through three business segments
— Advisory Services, Global Workplace Solutions (GWS) and Real Estate Investments (REI) — which are described in “Item 1. Business” in this Annual Report. We generate
revenue from both resilient sources (large multi-year portfolio and per-project contracts) and non-recurring sources, including commissions generated by transactions. Our
revenue mix has become more weighted towards resilient revenue sources, particularly occupier outsourcing, and our dependence on cyclical property sales and lease
transaction revenue has declined. Non-recurring transactional revenue and earnings within our Advisory Services segment (notably property sales and leasing) have historically
been highest in the year’s fourth quarter due to a focus on completing transactions prior to year-end, but such seasonality has decreased as transactions have comprised a smaller
proportion of our total revenue.

Business Environment

The operating environment for commercial real estate improved in 2024, particularly in the second half of the year. This was most prominently evident in real estate
leasing markets. A healthy economic outlook and improved return-to-office momentum made companies increasingly confident to move forward with office leasing plans.
Demand was particularly strong for the highest-quality space and expanded from primary to secondary markets as the year progressed. Improved capital availability and lower
borrowing costs — along with the perception that interest rates would fall further — buoyed investor sentiment and led to increased real estate sales and financing activity in the
second half of 2024. These factors also improved the operating backdrop for development and investment asset sales late in the year. Meanwhile, outsourcing services continued
to gain favor with major corporations and other large occupiers of space, boosting demand for facilities and project management services.

Results of Operations

The following presents highlights of CBRE’s performance for the year ended December 31, 2024 (percentages represent comparison to 2023 results):

Revenue Net Revenue GAAP Net Income
$35.8B $20.9B $968M

12.0% 14.2% (1.8)%

Core EBITDA ™ GAAP Earnings Per Share (EPS) Core EPS ™
$2.7B $3.14 $5.10

22.4% (0.3)% 32.8%

An improved operating environment supported strong growth for CBRE in 2024. Overall, net revenue increased 14.2%. This included 14.1% net revenue growth in our
resilient businesses(!) (including facilities management, project management, property management, loan servicing, recurring investment management fees and valuations), and
14.3% net revenue growth in our transactional businesses(!) (property sales, leasing, mortgage origination, carried interest and incentive fees in our investment management
business, and development fees).

(M See Non-GAAP Financial Measures section in Item 7 of this Annual Report.
We allocated significant capital last year on projects designed to enhance our capabilities, augment our growth profile and expand our total addressable market. Our

capital deployment totaled approximately $1.8 billion, and included $1.1 billion in M&A and other strategic investments, including the acquisition of J&J Worldwide Services,
a provider of outsourcing
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services to the U.S. federal government and Direct Line Global, which provides technical data center management. In addition, we deployed $644 million in share buybacks

(repurchasing 5,110,624 shares).

The following table sets forth items derived from our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in millions):

Revenue:
Net revenue:
Facilities management
Property management
Project management
Valuation
Loan servicing
Advisory leasing
Capital markets:
Advisory sales
Commercial mortgage origination
Investment management
Development services
Corporate, other and eliminations
Total net revenue
Pass-through costs also recognized as revenue
Total revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Operating, administrative and other
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses
Gain on disposition of real estate
Operating income
Equity (loss) income from unconsolidated subsidiaries
Other income
Interest expense, net of interest income
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests

Net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc.

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
$ 6,907 19.3 % 5,806 18.2%
2,123 59% 1,840 58%
3,433 9.6 % 3,124 9.8 %
751 2.1 % 716 22%
331 0.9 % 317 1.0 %
3,932 11.0 % 3,503 11.0 %
1,774 5.0% 1,611 5.0%
596 1.7 % 424 13 %
650 1.8 % 592 1.9%
388 1.1 % 360 1.1 %
(17) 0.0 % (17) (0.1)%
20,868 583 % 18,276 572 %
14,899 41.7 % 13,673 42.8 %
35,767 100.0 % 31,949 100.0 %
28,811 80.6 % 25,675 80.4 %
5,011 14.0 % 4,562 143 %
674 1.9 % 622 1.9 %
34,496 96.4 % 30,859 96.6 %
142 0.4 % 27 0.1 %
1,413 4.0 % 1,117 35%
(19) (0.1)% 248 0.8 %
39 0.1 % 61 0.2 %
215 0.6 % 149 0.5 %
1,218 34 % 1,277 4.0 %
182 0.5 % 250 0.8 %
1,036 29 % 1,027 32%
68 0.2 % 41 0.1 %
$ 968 2.7 % 986 3.1 %
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Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

We reported consolidated net income of $968 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 on revenue of $35.8 billion as compared to consolidated net income of
$986 million on revenue of $31.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The revenue increase reflected growth in leasing activity, particularly for office and retail space, commercial mortgage origination, loan servicing, property
management, and continued strong growth in the GWS segment, which benefited from strong new business activity, contract expansions, and acquisitions. We began to see an
increase in property sales in our Advisory Services segment in the second half of 2024. Revenue increased in the REI segment, driven by higher incentive and development fees.

Foreign currency translation had minimal net impact on revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024. Foreign currency translation strength in the British pound
sterling was offset by weakness in the Japanese yen.

Cost of revenue increased 12.2%, during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 due to revenue growth, consisting of higher pass-
through costs, higher compensation, and higher indirect reimbursed costs. Foreign currency translation had a 0.1% positive impact on total cost of revenue. Cost of revenue
increased slightly to 80.6% of total revenue from 80.4% driven by higher costs to support growth in revenues.

Operating, administrative and other expenses increased 9.8% as compared to the same period last year. The increase was driven by an increase in restructuring and
indirect tax expenses this year compared to 2023 as the cost savings initiatives in the GWS segment were largely completed. Foreign currency translation had a 0.1% positive
impact on total operating expenses during the year ended December 31, 2024. Operating expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased to 14.0% from 14.3%, as operating
expenses grew slower than revenue.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by 8.4% during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023, reflecting higher
depreciation and amortization expense related to assets acquired from recent acquisitions such as J&J Worldwide Services.

Gain on disposition of real estate increased by $115 million in 2024, driven by the monetization of real estate development assets in the REI segment.

We incurred an equity loss of $19 million in 2024 compared to equity income of $248 million in the same period in 2023. This was mainly due to an unusually large
development asset disposition in the first-quarter 2023 that did not recur in 2024. In addition, we recorded higher unrealized net losses related to our non-core strategic equity
investments, including Altus Power, Inc. (Altus), during the year ended December 31, 2024. These losses were partially offset by equity income recognized in relation to
investments in TCC real estate development projects.

Other income decreased to $39 million from $61 million, driven primarily by a one-time gain of approximately $34 million recognized in 2023 associated with the
remeasurement of an investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary to fair value as of the date the remaining controlling interest was acquired. This decrease was partially offset by
positive fair value adjustments on certain financial instruments this year as compared to the same period last year.

Interest expense, net of interest income, increased 44.3% in 2024 as compared to the same period 2023. This increase was primarily due to the issuance of new debt
during the first quarter of 2024, the impact of higher interest rates, and increased borrowings on the revolving credit and commercial paper facilities.

Our provision for income taxes on a consolidated basis was $182 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $250 million in 2023. Our effective tax
rate decreased to 15.0% in 2024 from 19.5% in 2023. The decrease is primarily related to the reversal of unrecognized tax positions.

The Organization for Economic Co-operation & Development (OECD) Pillar Two Model Rules established a minimum global effective tax rate of 15% on country-by-
country profits of large multinational companies. European Union member states along with many other countries adopted or expect to adopt the OECD Pillar Two Model
effective January 1, 2024 or thereafter. The OECD and other countries continue to publish guidelines and legislation which include transition and safe harbor rules. We continue
to monitor new legislative changes and assess the global impact of the Pillar Two Model Rules. The impact of Pillar Two top-up taxes was insignificant for 2024.
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Segment Operations

As of December 31, 2024, our operations were organized around, and we publicly report financial results for, three global business segments: (1) Advisory Services;
(2) Global Workplace Solutions; and (3) Real Estate Investments. We also have a Corporate and Other segment. For additional information on our segments, see Note 19 —
Segments of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

In early January 2025, we combined our project management business with our Turner & Townsend majority-owned subsidiary and will publicly report financial
results for a fourth business segment, Project Management, beginning in the first quarter of 2025. In addition, we acquired full ownership of Industrious, a provider of premium
flexible workplace solutions in January 2025, and will establish a new business segment, Building Operations & Experience, in 2025, comprised of enterprise and local facilities
management, property management and flexible workplace solutions. Our four business segments beginning in 2025 will be (1) Advisory Services; (2) Building Operations &
Experience; (3) Project Management; and (4) Real Estate Investments.

Adbvisory Services

The following table summarizes our results of operations for our Advisory Services operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in
millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Revenue:
Net revenue:
Property management $ 2,123 22.1% $ 1,840 21.7%
Valuation 751 78 % 716 8.4 %
Loan servicing 331 34 % 317 3.7 %
Advisory leasing 3,932 40.9 % 3,503 41.2%
Capital markets:
Advisory sales 1,774 18.5 % 1,611 19.0 %
Commercial mortgage origination 596 6.2 % 424 5.0 %
Total segment net revenue 9,507 99.0 % 8,411 99.0 %
Pass-through costs also recognized as revenue 99 1.0 % 88 1.0 %
Total segment revenue 9,606 100.0 % 8,499 100.0 %
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue 5,858 61.0 % 5,147 60.6 %
Operating, administrative and other 2,099 21.9 % 2,076 24.4 %
Depreciation and amortization 272 2.8 % 289 3.4 %
Total costs and expenses 8,229 85.7 % 7,512 88.4 %
Operating income 1,377 14.3 % 987 11.6 %
Equity income from unconsolidated subsidiaries 1 0.0 % 4 0.0 %
Other income 5 0.1 % 46 0.5 %
Add-back: Depreciation and amortization 272 2.8 % 289 34 %
Adjustments:
Costs associated with efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives 40 0.4 % 72 0.9 %
One-time gain associated with remeasuring an investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary to fair value as of the date
the remaining controlling interest was acquired — 0.0 % (34) (0.4)%
Segment operating profit and segment operating profit on revenue margin $ 1,695 17.6% $ 1,364 16.0 %
Segment operating profit on net revenue margin 17.8 % 16.2 %
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Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

Revenue increased 13.0% in 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023. Global leasing revenue rose 12.2% driven by the Americas which grew 13.3%, including
15.8% in the United States, APAC which grew 10.6% and the United Kingdom, which grew 10.5%. Property sales revenue was up 10.1%, reflecting an increase in property
sales in the second half of 2024. The company’s loan origination business benefited from higher loan fees, partially offset by a decrease in interest earnings on escrow balances.
Property management also grew solidly, up 15.4%, fueled by growth across regions and in the U.S. and continued growth from the Brookfield portfolio. Foreign currency
translation had a 0.2% negative impact on total revenue in 2024, primarily driven by weakness in the Japanese yen and Brazilian real, partially offset by strength in the British
pound sterling.

Cost of revenue increased 13.8%, primarily reflecting business growth, higher reimbursable expenses in property management, higher professional compensation and
higher commission expense. Foreign currency translation had a 0.1% positive impact on cost of revenue. Cost of revenue slightly increased to 61.0% of total revenue from
60.6% for the same period in 2023 primarily due to higher commissions, driven by revenue growth.

Operating, administrative and other expenses slightly increased by 1.1%, in 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023, driven by higher variable employee
compensation costs. The increase was partially offset by lower restructuring expenses as the Advisory Services segment recorded significant restructuring expenses in the first
half of 2023, as the segment went through cost reduction initiatives that did not recur this year. Foreign currency translation had a 0.2% positive impact on total operating
expenses.

In connection with the origination and sale of mortgage loans with servicing rights retained, we record servicing assets or liabilities based on the fair value of mortgage
servicing rights (MSRs) on the date the loans are sold. Upon origination of a mortgage loan held for sale, the fair value of the mortgage servicing rights to be retained is
included in the forecasted proceeds from the anticipated loan sale and results in a net gain (which is reflected in revenue). Our MSRs are initially recorded at fair value.
Subsequent to the initial recording, MSRs are amortized in proportion to and over the period that the servicing income is expected to be received based on projections and
timing of estimated future net cash flows and assessed for impairment based on the fair value each reporting period.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, MSRs contributed $123 million to operating income, offset by $138 million of amortization of related intangible assets. For the
year ended December 31, 2023, MSRs contributed $84 million to operating income, offset by $144 million of amortization of related intangible assets. The increase was
associated with higher origination activity given an increase in financing activities in the second half of 2024.

Other income was $5 million in 2024 versus $46 million in 2023. In 2023, we recognized a one-time gain of approximately $34 million associated with remeasuring an
investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary to fair value as of the date the remaining controlling interest was acquired.

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased 5.9% primarily due to lower amortization of mortgage servicing rights as described above and due to accelerated
depreciation expense recorded in the first half of 2023, as part of cost savings initiatives that did not recur this year.

33



Table of Contents

Global Workplace Solutions

The following table summarizes our results of operations for our Global Workplace Solutions (GWS) operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Revenue:
Net revenue:
Facilities management $ 6,907 275% $ 5,806 25.8 %
Project management 3,433 13.7% 3,124 13.9 %
Total segment net revenue 10,340 41.1 % 8,930 39.7 %
Pass-through costs also recognized as revenue 14,800 58.9 % 13,585 60.3 %
Total segment revenue 25,140 100.0 % 22,515 100.0 %
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue 22,703 90.3 % 20,345 90.4 %
Operating, administrative and other 1,327 53% 1,242 55%
Depreciation and amortization 332 1.3 % 262 12 %
Total costs and expenses 24,362 96.9 % 21,849 97.1 %
Operating income 778 3.1 % 666 29 %
Equity (loss) income from unconsolidated subsidiaries 3) 0.0 % 1 0.0 %
Other income 3 0.0 % 2 0.0 %
Add-back: Depreciation and amortization 332 1.3 % 262 1.2 %
Adjustments:
Integration and other costs related to acquisitions 17 0.1 % 23 0.1 %
Costs associated with efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives 65 0.3 % 52 0.3 %
Impact of fair value non-cash adjustments related to unconsolidated equity investments 9 0.0 % — 0.0 %
Segment operating profit and segment operating profit on revenue margin $ 1,201 48% § 1,006 45 %
Segment operating profit on net revenue margin 116 % 113%

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

Revenue increased 11.7% in 2024 as compared to 2023, reflecting a double-digit increase in facilities management, led by the Enterprise and Local business, and
growth in project management due to continued strong growth from Turner & Townsend. Foreign currency translation had minimal net impact on total revenue during the year
ended December 31, 2024. Foreign currency translation weakness in the Japanese yen was partially offset by strength in the British pound sterling.

Cost of revenue increased 11.6%, driven by higher pass-through costs, higher indirect reimbursed costs, and increased professional compensation to support the growth
in the business. Foreign currency translation had a 0.1% positive impact on total cost of revenue. Cost of revenue was 90.3% of total revenue, a slight decrease from 90.4% in
2023.

Operating, administrative and other expenses increased 6.8%, primarily due to restructuring charges incurred related to cost savings initiatives and the inclusion of J&J
Worldwide Services’ operating results since acquisition at the end of February 2024. Foreign currency translation had minimal net impact on total operating expenses in 2024.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased 26.7%, primarily due to increased amortization expense on intangibles related to the J&J Worldwide Services and
certain other in-fill acquisitions.
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Real Estate Investments

The following table summarizes our results of operations for our Real Estate Investments (REI) operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
(dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Revenue:
Investment management $ 650 62.6% $ 592 62.1%
Development services 388 37.4% 360 37.9 %
Total segment revenue 1,038 100.0 % 952 100.0 %
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue 224 21.6 % 186 19.5%
Operating, administrative and other 862 83.0 % 784 82.4 %
Depreciation and amortization 13 1.3 % 15 1.6 %
Total costs and expenses 1,099 105.9 % 985 103.5 %
Gain on disposition of real estate 142 13.7% 27 2.9 %
Operating income (loss) 81 7.8 % (6) (0.6)%
Equity income from unconsolidated subsidiaries 117 11.3% 216 22.6 %
Other income 6 0.6 % = 0.0 %
Add-back: Depreciation and amortization 13 1.3% 15 1.6 %
Adjustments:
Carried interest incentive compensation expense (reversal) to align with the timing of associated revenue 8 0.8 % 7 (0.8)%
Costs associated with efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives 3 0.3 % 21 23 %
Provision associated with Telford’s fire safety remediation efforts 33 32% — 0.0 %
$ 261 251% $ 239 25.1%

Segment operating profit and segment operating profit on revenue margin

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

Revenue increased 9.0% in 2024 as compared to 2023. This reflected an increase in incentive fees in our investment management business and higher construction
management fees in our development services business. Foreign currency translation had a 0.9% positive impact on total revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024,
primarily driven by strength in British pound sterling.

Cost of revenue increased 20.4% in 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 due to higher construction and consulting costs incurred on our real estate
development projects. Foreign currency translation had a 3.2% negative impact on total cost of revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Operating, administrative and other expenses increased 9.9%, primarily due to an increase in incentive compensation in our development services and investment
management line of business consistent with higher revenue growth, partially offset by lower bonus expense to align with overall segment performance, and a decrease in
charges associated with the company’s efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives. Foreign currency translation had a 0.6% negative impact on total operating expenses in 2024.

Gain on disposition of real estate increased by $115 million compared to the same period in 2023 due primarily to gains recognized upon monetization of real estate
development projects.

We recorded equity income from unconsolidated subsidiaries of approximately $117 million in 2024 as compared to equity income of $216 million in the same period
in 2023, which included an unusually large gain on a development portfolio asset sale.
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A roll forward of our assets under management (AUM) by product type for the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows (dollars in billions):

Funds Separate Accounts Securities Total
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 653 $ 728 $ 94 $ 147.5
Inflows 3.7 9.0 0.8 13.5
Outflows 3.3) (5.9) (1.5) (10.7)
Market (depreciation) appreciation (1.7) 2.5) 0.1 4.1)
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 640 § 734 8 88 8 146.2

AUM generally refers to the properties and other assets with respect to which we provide (or participate in) oversight, investment management services and other
advice, and which generally consist of real estate properties or loans, securities portfolios and investments in operating companies and joint ventures. Our AUM is intended
principally to reflect the extent of our presence in the real estate market, not to be the basis for determining our management fees. Our assets under management consist of:

the total fair market value of the real estate properties and other assets either wholly-owned or held by joint ventures and other entities in which our sponsored funds
or investment vehicles and client accounts have invested or to which they have provided financing. Committed (but unfunded) capital from investors in our
sponsored funds is not included in this component of our AUM. The value of development properties is included at estimated completion cost. In the case of real
estate operating companies, the total value of real properties controlled by the companies, generally through joint ventures, is included in AUM; and

the net asset value of our managed securities portfolios, including investments (which may be comprised of committed but uncalled capital) in private real estate
funds under our fund of funds investments.

Our calculation of AUM may differ from the calculations of other asset managers, and as a result, this measure may not be comparable to similar measures presented
by other asset managers.
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Corporate and Other

Our Corporate segment primarily consists of corporate overhead costs. Other consists of activities from strategic non-core, non-controlling equity investments and is
considered an operating segment but does not meet the aggregation criteria for presentation as a separate reportable segment and is, therefore, combined with our core
Corporate function and reported as Corporate and other. The following table summarizes our results of operations for our Corporate and other segment for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Elimination of inter-segment revenue $ a7 s (17)
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue @ 26 3)
Operating, administrative and other 723 460
Depreciation and amortization 57 56
Total costs and expenses 806 513
Operating loss (823) (530)
Equity (loss) income from unconsolidated subsidiaries (134) 27
Other income 25 13
Add-back: Depreciation and amortization 57 56
Adjustments:
Integration and other costs related to acquisitions 76 39
Costs incurred related to legal entity restructuring 2 13
Costs associated with efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives 151 14
Charges related to indirect tax audits and settlements 76 —
Segment operating loss $ (570) $ (368)

(M Percentage of revenue calculations are not meaningful and therefore not included.
@ Primarily relates to inter-segment eliminations.

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

Core corporate

Operating, administrative and other expenses for our core corporate function rose 57.5%, to $723 million in 2024, mainly due to an increase in our provision related to
indirect taxes, increased charges associated with employee separation and integration and other costs related to acquisitions. In addition, we recorded higher incentive
compensation expense reflecting improved business performance.

Other (non-core)

We recorded equity loss of approximately $134 million in 2024 versus an equity income of $27 million in 2023. This reflects lower value of our investments, primarily
driven by our investments in Altus and Industrious, partially offset by equity income from investments in other unconsolidated subsidiaries.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe that we can satisfy our working capital and funding requirements with internally generated cash flow and, as necessary, borrowings under our revolving
credit facilities and commercial paper program. Our expected capital requirements for 2025 include up to $360 million of anticipated capital expenditures, net of tenant
concessions. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we incurred $279 million of capital expenditures, net of tenant concessions received. As of December 31, 2024, we had
aggregate future commitments of $205 million related to co-investments funds in our REI segment, $74 million of which is expected to be funded in 2025. Additionally, as of
December 31, 2024, we are committed to fund additional capital of $330 million and $67 million to consolidated and unconsolidated projects, respectively, within our REI
segment. As of December 31, 2024, we had $3.3 billion of borrowings available under our revolving credit facilities (under both the Revolving Credit Agreement, as described
below, and the Turner & Townsend revolving credit facility) and $1.1 billion of cash and cash equivalents. We intend to maintain available commitments under the Revolving
Credit Agreement in an amount at least equal to the amount of commercial paper notes outstanding from time to time. As of December 31, 2024, we had $175 million in
outstanding borrowings under the commercial paper program.

We have historically relied on our internally generated cash flow and our revolving credit facilities to fund our working capital, capital expenditure and general
investment requirements (including in-fill acquisitions) and have not sought other external sources of financing to help fund these requirements. In the absence of extraordinary
events, large strategic acquisitions or large returns of capital to shareholders, we anticipate that our cash flow from operations and our revolving credit facilities would be
sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for the foreseeable future, and at a minimum for the next 12 months. Given compensation is our largest expense and our
sales and leasing professionals are generally paid on a commission and/or bonus basis that correlates with their revenue production, the negative effect of difficult market
conditions is partially mitigated by the inherent variability of our compensation cost structure. We may seek to take advantage of market opportunities to refinance existing debt
instruments, as we have done in the past, with new debt instruments at interest rates, maturities and terms we deem attractive. We may also, from time to time in our sole
discretion, purchase, redeem, or retire our existing senior notes, through tender offers, in privately negotiated or open market transactions, or otherwise.

As noted above, we believe that any future significant acquisitions we may make could require us to obtain additional debt or equity financing. In the past, we have
been able to obtain such financing for material transactions on terms that we believed to be reasonable. However, it is possible that we may not be able to obtain acquisition
financing on favorable terms, or at all, in the future.

Our long-term liquidity needs, other than those related to ordinary course obligations and commitments such as operating leases, are generally comprised of three
elements. The first is the repayment of the outstanding and anticipated principal amounts of our long-term indebtedness. If our cash flow is insufficient to repay our long-term
debt when it comes due, then we expect that we would need to refinance such indebtedness or otherwise amend its terms to extend the maturity dates. We cannot make any
assurances that such refinancing or amendments would be available on attractive terms, if at all.

The second long-term liquidity element is the payment of obligations related to acquisitions. Our acquisition structures often include deferred and/or contingent
purchase consideration in future periods that are subject to the passage of time or achievement of certain performance metrics and other conditions. As of December 31, 2024
and 2023, we had accrued deferred purchase consideration totaling $292 million ($199 million of which was a current liability) and $530 million ($264 million of which was a
current liability), respectively, which was included in “Accounts payable and accrued expenses” and in “Other long-term liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Lastly, as described in Note 16 — Stockholders’ Equity of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report, in November 2024,
our Board of Directors (Board) authorized an additional $5.0 billion to our existing $4.0 billion share repurchase program (as amended, the 2024 program) bringing the total
authorized amount under the 2024 program to a total of $9.0 billion as of December 31, 2024. The Board also extended the term of the 2024 program through December 31,
2029. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 5,110,624 shares of our Class A common stock with an average price of $126.02 per share using cash on hand
for an aggregate of $644 million. During the period January 1, 2025 through February 11, 2025, we repurchased 2,060,012 shares of our Class A common stock with an
average price of $132.38 per share using cash on hand for an aggregate of $273 million. As of December 31, 2024 and February 11, 2025, we had $5.8 billion and $5.5 billion,
respectively, of capacity remaining under the 2024 program.
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Our stock repurchases have been funded with cash on hand and we intend to continue funding future repurchases with existing cash. We may utilize our stock
repurchase programs to continue offsetting the impact of our stock-based compensation program and on a more opportunistic basis if we believe our stock presents a compelling
investment compared to other discretionary uses. The timing of any future repurchases, and the actual amounts repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including the
market price of our common stock, general market and economic conditions and other factors.

As more fully described in Note 22 — Telford Fire Safety Remediation of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report, on
March 16, 2023, Telford Homes entered into a legally binding agreement with the U.K. government, under which Telford Homes will (1) take responsibility for performing or
funding remediation works relating to certain life-critical fire-safety issues on all Telford Homes-constructed buildings of 11 meters in height or greater in England constructed
in the last 30 years (in-scope buildings) and (2) withdraw Telford Homes-developed buildings from the government-sponsored Building Safety Fund (BSF) and Aluminum
Composite Material (ACM) Funds or reimburse the government funds for the cost of remediation of in-scope buildings.

We had an estimated liability of approximately $204 million (of which $102 million was current) and $192 million (of which $82 million was current) as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the remediation efforts. We recognized additional provision in the year ended December 31, 2024 based on additional
information obtained and evaluations performed allowing for a more refined estimate on a building-by-building basis.

The estimated remediation costs for in-scope buildings are subjective, highly complex and dependent on a number of variables outside of Telford Homes’ control.
These include, but are not limited to, individual remediation requirements for each building, the time required for the remediation to be completed, cost of construction or
remediation materials, availability of construction materials, potential discoveries made during remediation that could necessitate incremental work, investigation costs,
availability of qualified fire safety engineers, potential business disruption costs, potential changes to or new regulations and regulatory approval. We will continue to assess new
information as it becomes available during the remediation process and adjust our estimated liability accordingly.

Historical Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023
Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $1,708 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $480 million in the prior year. The primary
drivers that contributed to the increase in net cash provided by operating activities were as follows: (1) higher net cash flows from operations, driven by revenue growth and (2)
working capital improvements, driven by timing of payment of accounts payable and accrued expenses and lower accounts receivable.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $1,514 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, an increase of $833 million as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily due to the acquisition of J&J Worldwide Services in February 2024 and Direct Line Global in June 2024.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $221 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to net cash provided by financing activities of
$154 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increased outflow was primarily driven by higher payments of deferred purchase consideration, share repurchase, and
taxes on equity awards; partially offset by proceeds from our commercial paper program, net proceeds from the revolver, and lower inflows from fixed term debt financing
compared to prior year.
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Summary of Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

The following is a summary of our various contractual obligations and other commitments as of December 31, 2024 (dollars in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 year
Total gross long-term debt () $ 3320 $ 36
Short-term borrowings @ 906 906
Operating leases ) 2,576 199
Financing leases ) 432 43
Total gross notes payable on real estate ) 200 100
Deferred purchase consideration ) 276 207

Total contractual obligations $ 7,710  $ 1,491

Amount of Other Commitments

Other Commitments Total Less than 1 year
Self-insurance reserves © $ 197 $ 197
Tax liabilities 30 30
Co-investments ® ©) 272 142
Letters of credit ® 272 272
Guarantees ® (10 211 211
Telford’s fire safety remediation provision (1D 204 102
Total other commitments $ 1,186  $ 954

The table above excludes estimated payment obligations for our qualified defined benefit pension plans. For information about our future estimated payment
obligations for these plans, see Note 14 — Employee Benefit Plans of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

(1 Reflects gross outstanding long-term debt balances as of December 31, 2024, assumed to be paid at maturity, excluding unamortized discount, premium and deferred financing costs. See Note 11 — Long-
Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report. Figures do not include scheduled interest payments. Assuming each debt
obligation is held until maturity, we estimate that we will make $918 million of interest payments, $164 million of which will be made in 2025.

@ The majority of this balance represents our warehouse lines of credit, which are recourse only to our wholly-owned subsidiary CBRE Capital Markets, Inc. (CBRE Capital Markets) and are secured by our
related warehouse receivables. See Note 5 — Warehouse Receivables & Warehouse Lines of Credit and Note 11 — Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

) Includes forecasted interest expense. See Note 12 — Leases of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

@ Reflects gross outstanding notes payable on real estate as of December 31, 2024 ($9 million of which is recourse to us, beyond being recourse to the single-purpose entity that held the real estate asset and
was the primary obligor on the note payable), assumed to be paid at maturity, excluding unamortized deferred financing costs. Amounts do not include scheduled interest payments. The notes have either
fixed or variable interest rates, ranging from 3.0% to 8.1% at December 31, 2024.

) Represents deferred obligations, excluding contingent considerations, related to previous acquisitions, which are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2024 set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

) Represents outstanding reserves for claims under certain insurance programs, which are included in other current and other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024
set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report. While $4 million of the $197 million in claim payments are expected to be payable within one year, due to the nature of this item, claim payments representing the
remaining balance of $193 million could be due at any time upon the occurrence of certain events. Accordingly, the entire balance has been reflected as expiring in less than one year.

M As of December 31, 2024, we have a remaining federal tax liability of $30 million associated with the Transition Tax on mandatory deemed repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings as of December 31,
2017. We are paying the federal tax liability for the Transition Tax in annual interest-free installments over a period of eight years through 2025 as allowed by the Tax Act. The next installment is due in
2025 for the 2024 fiscal year.

In addition, as of December 31, 2024, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits totaled $347 million. Of this amount, we expect an insignificant amount of cash settlement in less than one year.
See Note 15 — Income Taxes of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

®)  See Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

©  Includes $205 million to fund future co-investments in our REI segment, $74 million of which is expected to be funded in 2025, and $67 million committed to invest in unconsolidated real estate projects.
This amount does not include capital committed to consolidated projects of $330 million as of December 31, 2024.

(10 Due to the nature of guarantees, payments could be due at any time upon the occurrence of certain triggering events, including default. Accordingly, all guarantees are reflected as expiring in less than one
year.

(1 See Note 22 — Telford Fire Safety Remediation of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.
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Indebtedness

We use a variety of financing arrangements, both long-term and short-term, to fund our operations in addition to cash generated from operating activities. We also use
several funding sources to avoid becoming overly dependent on one financing source, and to lower funding costs.

Long-Term Debt

On July 10, 2023, CBRE Group, Inc., CBRE Services, Inc. (CBRE Services) and Relam Amsterdam Holdings B.V., a wholly-owned subsidiary of CBRE Services,
entered into a new S-year senior unsecured Credit Agreement (2023 Credit Agreement) maturing on July 10, 2028, which refinanced and replaced the previous credit
agreement. The 2023 Credit Agreement provides for a senior unsecured term loan credit facility comprised of (i) tranche A Euro-denominated term loans in an aggregate
principal amount of €367 million and (ii) tranche A U.S. Dollar-denominated term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $350 million with weighted average interest rate of
4.9% as of December 31, 2024, both requiring quarterly principal payments beginning on December 31, 2024 and continuing through maturity on July 10, 2028. The proceeds
of the term loans under the 2023 Credit Agreement were applied to the repayment of all remaining outstanding senior term loans, approximately $437 million, under the
previous credit agreement, the payment of related fees and expenses and other general corporate purposes.

The term loan borrowings under the 2023 Credit Agreement are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. and CBRE Services.

On February 23, 2024, CBRE Services issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.500% senior notes due April 1, 2029 (the 5.500% senior notes) at a
price equal to 99.837% of their face value. The 5.500% senior notes are unsecured obligations of CBRE Services and are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc.
Interest accrues at a rate of 5.500% per year and is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, beginning on October 1, 2024.

On June 23, 2023, CBRE Services issued $1.0 billion in aggregate principal amount of 5.950% senior notes due August 15, 2034 (the 5.950% senior notes) at a price
equal to 98.174% of their face value. The 5.950% senior notes are unsecured obligations of CBRE Services and are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. Interest
accrues at a rate of 5.950% per year and is payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year.

On March 18, 2021, CBRE Services issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 2.500% senior notes due April 1, 2031 (the 2.500% senior notes) at a price
equal to 98.451% of their face value. The 2.500% senior notes are unsecured obligations of CBRE Services and are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. Interest
accrues at a rate of 2.500% per year and is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year.

On August 13, 2015, CBRE Services issued $600 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.875% senior notes due March 1, 2026 (the 4.875% senior notes) at a price
equal to 99.24% of their face value. The 4.875% senior notes are unsecured obligations of CBRE Services and are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. Interest
accrues at a rate of 4.875% per year and is payable semi-annually in arrears on March 1 and September 1 of each year.

The indentures governing our 5.950% senior notes, 5.500% senior notes, 4.875% senior notes and 2.500% senior notes contain restrictive covenants that, among other
things, limit our ability to create or permit liens on assets securing indebtedness, enter into sale/leaseback transactions and enter into consolidations or mergers.

Our 5.950% senior notes, 5.500% senior notes, 4.875% senior notes and 2.500% senior notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by CBRE Group, Inc.
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Combined summarized financial information for CBRE Group, Inc. (parent) and CBRE Services (subsidiary issuer) is as follows (dollars in millions):

December 31,
2024 2023

Balance Sheet Data:
Current assets $ 29§ 7
Non-current assets 1,730 1,733

Total assets 1,759 1,740
Current liabilities $ 1,072 $ 48
Non-current liabilities () 5,817 2,994

Total liabilities () 6,889 3,042

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ — 3 —
Operating income (loss) 99 (1)
Net income (loss) 57 (70)

(M Includes $3.3 billion and $933 million of intercompany loan payables to non-guarantor subsidiaries as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. All intercompany balances and transactions between
CBRE Group, Inc. and CBRE Services have been eliminated.

For additional information on all of our long-term debt, see Note 11 — Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Short-Term Borrowings

On August 5, 2022, we entered into a new 5-year senior unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement (the Revolving Credit Agreement). The Revolving Credit Agreement
provides for a senior unsecured revolving credit facility available to CBRE Services with commitments in an aggregate principal amount of up to $3.5 billion and a maturity date
of August 5, 2027.

The Revolving Credit Agreement requires us to pay a fee based on the total amount of the revolving credit facility commitment (whether used or unused). In addition,
the Revolving Credit Agreement also includes capacity for letters of credit not to exceed $300 million in the aggregate. The Revolving Credit Agreement is fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by CBRE Group, Inc.

As of December 31, 2024, $132 million was outstanding under the revolving credit facility provided for by the Revolving Credit Agreement. No letters of credit were
outstanding as of December 31, 2024. As of February 11, 2025 and December 31, 2023, no amounts were outstanding under this revolving credit facility. Letters of credit are
issued in the ordinary course of business and would reduce the amount we may borrow under this revolving credit facility.

On December 2, 2024, CBRE Services established a commercial paper program pursuant to which we may issue and sell up to $3.5 billion of short-term, unsecured
and unsubordinated commercial paper notes with up to 397-day maturities, under the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. Amounts available under the program may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed from time to time. Payment of the commercial paper notes is guaranteed on an
unsecured and unsubordinated basis by CBRE Group, Inc. The program notes and the guarantee will rank pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.
The proceeds from issuances under the program may be used for general corporate purposes. The company intends to maintain available commitments under the Revolving
Credit Agreement in an amount at least equal to the amount of commercial paper notes outstanding from time to time. As of December 31, 2024, we had $175 million in
outstanding borrowings under the commercial paper program with a weighted average annual interest rate of 4.77%. As of February 11, 2025, we had $1.3 billion in
outstanding borrowings under the commercial paper program.
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In addition, Turner & Townsend maintains a £120 million revolving credit facility pursuant to a credit agreement dated March 31, 2022, with an additional accordion
option of £20 million, that matures on March 31, 2027. As of December 31, 2024, $44 million (£35 million) was outstanding under this revolving credit facility and bears
interest at the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) plus 0.78%. As of December 31, 2023, $10 million (£8 million) was outstanding under this revolving credit facility.
As of February 11, 2025, no amount was outstanding under this revolving credit facility.

We also maintain warchouse lines of credit with certain third-party lenders. For additional information on all of our short-term borrowings, see Note 5 — Warehouse
Receivables & Warehouse Lines of Credit and Note 11 — Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of
this Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported
amounts. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and on other factors that we believe to be reasonable. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
We believe that the following critical accounting policies represent the areas where more significant judgments and estimates are used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

To recognize revenue in a transaction with a customer, we evaluate the five steps of theFinancial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” revenue recognition framework: (1) identify the contract; (2) identify the performance obligations in
the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the performance
obligations are satisfied.

Our revenue recognition policies are consistent with this five-step framework. Understanding the complex terms of agreements and determining the appropriate time,
amount, and method to recognize revenue for each transaction requires significant judgement. These significant judgements include: (i) determining what point in time or what
measure of progress depicts the transfer of control to the customer; (ii) applying the series guidance to certain performance obligations satisfied over time; (iii) estimating how
and when contingencies, or other forms of variable consideration, will impact the timing and amount of recognition of revenue and (iv) determining whether we control third
party services before they are transferred to the customer in order to appropriately recognize the associated revenue on either a gross or net basis. The timing and amount of
revenue recognition in a period could vary if different judgments were made. Our revenues subject to the most judgment are sales and lease commission revenue, incentive-
based management fees, development fees and third party fees associated with our occupier outsourcing and property management services. For a detailed discussion of our
revenue recognition policies, see the Revenue Recognition section within Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth
in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
As of December 31, 2024, our consolidated balance sheets included goodwill of $5.6 billion and other intangible assets of $2.3 billion.

Our acquisitions require the application of purchase accounting, which results in tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities of the acquired entity being
recorded at fair value. We engage a third-party valuation firm to assist us in identifying and determining the fair values of intangible assets acquired. The difference between the
purchase price and the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Assumptions must often be made in determining fair values, particularly where observable
market values do not exist. Assumptions may include discount rates, growth rates, cost of capital, royalty rates, tax rates and remaining useful lives. These assumptions can have
a significant impact on the value of identifiable assets and accordingly can impact the value of goodwill recorded. Different assumptions could result in different values being
attributed to assets and liabilities. Since these values impact the amount of annual depreciation and amortization expense, different assumptions could also impact our statement
of operations and could impact the results of future asset impairment reviews.

We test goodwill and other intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives as of the beginning of the fourth quarter of each year and more frequently if events and

circumstances indicate the potential for impairment is more likely than not. We have the option to perform a qualitative assessment with respect to any of our reporting units and
indefinite-lived intangible
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assets to determine whether a quantitative impairment test is needed. We are permitted to assess based on qualitative factors whether it is more likely than not that the fair value
of a reporting unit or indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying amount before applying the quantitative impairment test. Our procedures under qualitative tests
include assessing our financial performance, macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, various asset specific factors and entity specific events. If we
determine that a reporting unit’s goodwill or an indefinite-lived intangible asset may be impaired after utilizing these qualitative impairment analysis procedures, we are
required to perform a quantitative impairment test. When performing a quantitative test, we use a discounted cash flow approach to estimate the fair value of our reporting units
and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Management’s judgment is required in developing the assumptions for the discounted cash flow model. These assumptions include
revenue growth rates, profit margin percentages, discount rates, etc. Due to the many variables inherent in the estimation of these fair values and the relative size of our goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets, if different assumptions and estimates were used, it could have an adverse effect on our impairment analysis.

We did not incur any impairment losses as a result of our 2024 annual impairment tests, as it was determined that it is more likely than not that the estimated fair
values of our reporting units and indefinite-lived intangible assets were substantially in excess of their carrying values as of December 31, 2024. Additionally, we do not believe
that the estimated fair values of our reporting units or indefinite-lived intangible assets are at risk of decreasing below their carrying values in the next twelve months. For
additional information on goodwill and intangible asset impairment testing, see Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies and Note 9 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (Topic 740). Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit
carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted tax rates and laws and are released in the years in which the temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment
date. Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Accounting for tax positions requires judgments, including estimating reserves for potential uncertainties. We also assess our ability to utilize tax attributes, including
those in the form of carryforwards, for which the benefits have already been reflected in the financial statements. We do not record valuation allowances for deferred tax assets
that we believe will be realized in future periods. While we believe the resulting tax balances as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are appropriately accounted for in accordance
with Topic 740, as applicable, the ultimate outcome of such matters could result in favorable or unfavorable adjustments to our consolidated financial statements and such
adjustments could be material.

Our future effective tax rate could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries that have lower statutory rates and higher than
anticipated in countries that have higher statutory rates, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities, or changes in tax laws, regulations, or accounting
principles, as well as certain discrete items.

See Note 15 — Income Taxes of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report for further information regarding income
taxes.
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Telford Fire Safety Remediation

As of December 31, 2024, the company had an estimated liability of $204 million on the balance sheet which represents management’s best estimate of future losses
associated with overall remediation efforts. It includes amounts that the U.K. government has already paid or quantified through the Building Safety Fund and estimates
developed by Telford’s internal team and/or third-party experts for the remaining in-scope buildings. The estimates were developed using the best available data, including (i)
industry data, (ii) fire safety assessments (also known as Publicly Available Specification (PAS) assessments and include fire risk appraisal of external wall construction) which
identified remediation work to be performed on specific buildings, and (iii) bids from subcontractors. We applied an inflation factor to account for uncertainty in completion of
remediation activities, which could take an extended period of time to complete, an estimate of direct costs associated with an internal team dedicated to this remediation, and a
contingency to account for unknown remediation costs. Inherent uncertainties exist in such evaluations primarily due to its subjective, highly complex nature and other
unknowns such as individual remediation requirements, time required for remediation, and cost of materials and resources amongst others. We will continue to assess new
information as it becomes available during the remediation process and adjust our estimated liability accordingly.

See Note 22 — Telford Fire Safety Remediation of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report for further information.
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Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries — fair value option

We have elected the fair value option for certain of our investments in non-public entities to align with our strategy for these investments. Such investments without
readily determinable fair values are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. We estimate the fair market value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs
which requires judgment due to the absence of market prices or similar assets in active markets. In determining the estimated fair value of these investments, we utilize
appropriate valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analyses and Monte Carlo simulations. Key inputs to the discounted cash flow analyses include projected cash
flows, terminal growth rate, and discount rate. Key inputs to Monte Carlo simulations include stock price, volatility, risk free rate, and dividend yield.

Changes in the fair value of equity investments under the fair value option are recorded as equity income from unconsolidated subsidiaries in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See New Accounting Pronouncements discussion within Note 3 — New Accounting Pronouncements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in
Item 8 of this Annual Report.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Net revenue, segment operating profit on revenue margin, segment operating profit on net revenue margin, core EBITDA, core adjusted net income and core earnings
per diluted share (or core EPS) are not recognized measurements under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. When analyzing our operating
performance, investors should use these measures in addition to, and not as an alternative for, their most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP. We generally use these non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate operating performance and for other discretionary purposes. We believe these
measures provide a more complete understanding of ongoing operations, enhance comparability of current results to prior periods and may be useful for investors to analyze our
financial performance because they eliminate the impact of selected costs and charges that may obscure the underlying performance of our business and related trends. Because
not all companies use identical calculations, our presentation of net revenue, core EBITDA, core adjusted net income and core EPS may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures of other companies.

Net revenue is gross revenue less costs largely associated with subcontracted vendor work performed for clients and is passed through to the client generally with no
margin. Segment operating profit on revenue margin is computed by dividing segment operating profit by revenue and provides a comparable profitability measure against our
peers. Segment operating profit on net revenue margin is computed by dividing segment operating profit by net revenue and is a better indicator of the segment’s margin since it
does not include the diluting effect of pass-through revenue which generally has no margin.

We use core EBITDA, core adjusted net income and core earnings per share (or core EPS) as indicators of the company’s operating financial performance. Core
EBITDA and core adjusted net income represent earnings before the portion attributable to non-controlling interests, net interest expense, write-off of financing costs on
extinguished debt, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, asset impairments, adjustments related to carried interest incentive compensation expense (reversal) to align with
the timing of associated revenue, costs incurred related to legal entity restructuring, efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives, integration and other costs related to acquisitions,
provision associated with Telford’s fire safety remediation efforts, charges related to indirect tax audits and settlements, a one-time gain associated with remeasuring an
investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary to fair value as of the date the remaining controlling interest was acquired, fair value changes on certain non-core non-controlling
equity investments, the impact of fair value adjustments related to unconsolidated equity investments, non-cash depreciation and amortization expense related to certain assets
attributable to acquisitions and restructuring activities and related impact on income taxes and non-controlling interest. We believe that investors may find these measures
useful in evaluating our operating performance compared to that of other companies in our industry because their calculations generally eliminate the effects of acquisitions,
which would include impairment charges of goodwill and intangibles created from acquisitions, the effects of financings and income taxes and the accounting effects of capital
spending.

Core EBITDA, core adjusted net income and core EPS are not intended to be measures of free cash flow for our discretionary use because they do not consider certain
cash requirements such as tax and debt service payments. These measures may also differ from the amounts calculated under similarly titled definitions in our credit facilities
and debt instruments, which are further adjusted to reflect certain other cash and non-cash charges and are used by us to determine compliance with financial covenants therein
and our ability to engage in certain activities, such as incurring additional debt. We also use core EBITDA and core EPS as significant components when measuring our
operating performance under our employee incentive compensation programs.
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Core EBITDA is calculated as follows (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 968 $ 986
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 68 41
Net income 1,036 1,027
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization 674 622
Interest expense, net of interest income 215 149
Provision for income taxes 182 250
Carried interest incentive compensation expense (reversal) to align with the timing of associated revenue 8 7
Integration and other costs related to acquisitions 93 62
Costs incurred related to legal entity restructuring 2 13
Costs associated with efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives 259 159
Provision associated with Telford’s fire safety remediation efforts 33 —
Impact of fair value non-cash adjustments related to unconsolidated equity investments 9 —
Charges related to indirect tax audits and settlements 76 —
One-time gain associated with remeasuring an investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary to fair value as of the date the remaining controlling interest
was acquired — (34)
Net fair value adjustments on strategic non-core investments 117 (32)
Core EBITDA $ 2,704 8 2,209

Core net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. stockholders, as adjusted (or core adjusted net income), and core EPS, are calculated as follows (in millions, except
share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 968 $ 986
Adjustments:
Integration and other costs related to acquisitions 93 62
Costs incurred related to legal entity restructuring 2 13
Costs associated with efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives 259 159
Impact of fair value non-cash adjustments related to unconsolidated equity investments 9 —
Provision associated with Telford’s fire safety remediation efforts 33 =
Carried interest incentive compensation expense (reversal) to align with the timing of associated revenue 8 (@)
Charges related to indirect tax audits and settlements 76 =
One-time gain associated with remeasuring an investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary to fair value as of the date the remaining controlling
interest was acquired (34)
Net fair value adjustments on strategic non-core investments 117 (32)
Non-cash depreciation and amortization expense related to certain assets attributable to acquisitions 199 167
Interest expense related to indirect tax audits and settlements 16 —
Tax impact of adjusted items, tax benefit attributable to legal entity restructuring, and strategic non-core investments (191) (82)
Impact of adjustments on non-controlling interest (18) (33)
Core net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc., as adjusted $ 1571 § 1,199
Core diluted income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc., as adjusted $ 510 8§ 3.84
Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted income per share 308,033,612 312,550,942
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Net revenue and gross revenue from resilient business lines is calculated as follows (dollars in millions):

Net revenue from resilient business lines

Facilities management

Property management

Project management

Valuation

Loan servicing

Recurring investment management fees ()
Total net revenue from resilient business lines
Pass-through costs also recognized as revenue

Total revenue from resilient business lines

(1 Recurring investment management fees is included in Investment management revenue.
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Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023

6,907 $ 5,806

2,123 1,840

3,433 3,124

751 716

331 317

537 539

14,082 12,342

14,899 13,673

28,981 § 26,015
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our exposure to market risk primarily consists of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations related to our international operations and changes in interest rates on
debt obligations. We manage such risk primarily by managing the amount, sources, and duration of our debt funding and by using derivative financial instruments. As of
December 31, 2024, we had seven outstanding cross-currency swaps to effectively hedge foreign currency exposure related to certain foreign subsidiaries and a U.S. dollar
denominated term loan entered into by a euro functional entity. See Note 7 — Fair Value Measurements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of
this Annual Report for additional information on fair value methodology used to value the swaps at December 31, 2024. We apply FASB ASC Topic 815, “ Derivatives and
Hedging,” when accounting for derivative financial instruments. In all cases, we view derivative financial instruments as a risk management tool and, accordingly, do not use
derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

International Operations

We conduct a significant portion of our business and employ a substantial number of people outside the U.S. As a result, we are subject to risks associated with doing
business globally. Our Real Estate Investments (REI) business segment has significant euro and British pound denominated assets under management (AUM), as well as
associated revenue and earnings in Europe. In addition, our Global Workplace Solutions (GWS) business segment derives significant revenue and earnings in foreign currencies,
such as the euro and British pound sterling. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may continue to produce corresponding changes in our AUM, revenue and earnings.

Our foreign operations expose us to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. These fluctuations may impact the value of our cash receipts and payments in terms of our
functional (reporting) currency, which is the U.S. dollar. During 2024, we entered into four cross-currency swaps with a total USD notional value of $875 million to effectively
hedge the foreign currency exposure related to certain Euro denominated entities and two cross-currency swaps with a total USD notional value of $165 million to effectively
hedge the foreign currency exposure related to certain Japanese Yen denominated entities.

Our businesses could suffer from adverse effects of high interest rates, a rapid increase in interest rates, limited access to debt capital or liquidity constraints, downturns
in general macroeconomic conditions, regulatory or financial market uncertainty, or unforeseen disruptions such as geopolitical events and public health crisis (or the perception
that such disruptions may occur).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, 43.6% of our revenue was transacted in foreign currencies. The following table sets forth our revenue derived from our
most significant currencies (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

United States dollar $ 20,166 564% $ 17,470 54.7 %
British pound sterling 4,968 13.9% 4,393 13.8 %
Euro 3,239 9.1 % 3,003 9.4 %
Canadian dollar 1,083 3.0% 1,195 3.7 %
Australian dollar 941 2.6 % 867 2.7 %
Indian rupee 756 2.1 % 663 2.1 %
Japanese yen 528 1.5% 485 1.5 %
Swiss franc 491 1.4 % 427 1.3 %
Chinese yuan 490 1.4 % 516 1.6 %
Singapore dollar 430 1.2 % 413 1.3 %
Other currencies () 2,675 74 % 2,517 7.9 %

Total revenue $ 35,767 100.0 % $ 31,949 100.0 %

(M Approximately 46 currencies comprise 7.4% and 7.9% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Although we operate globally, we report our results in U.S. dollars. As a result, the strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar may positively or negatively impact
our reported results. A hypothetical 10% increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the British pound sterling during the year ended December 31, 2024, would have
decreased pre-tax income by $10 million. A hypothetical 10% increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro would have decreased pre-tax income by $9 million.
These hypothetical calculations estimate the impact of translating results into U.S. dollars and do not include an estimate of the impact that a 10% change in the U.S. dollar
against other currencies would have had on our foreign operations.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may result in corresponding fluctuations in revenue and earnings as well as the assets under management for our
investment management business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. Due to the constantly changing
currency exposures to which we are subject and the volatility of currency exchange rates, we cannot predict the effect of exchange rate fluctuations upon future operating results.
In addition, fluctuations in currencies relative to the U.S. dollar may make it more difficult to perform period-to-period comparisons of our reported results of operations. Our
international operations also are subject to, among other things, political instability and changing tax, trade and regulatory environments, which affect the currency markets and
which as a result may adversely affect our future financial condition and results of operations. We routinely monitor these risks and related costs and evaluate the appropriate
amount of oversight to allocate towards business activities in foreign countries where such risks and costs are particularly significant.

Interest Rates

We manage our interest expense by using a combination of fixed and variable rate debt. We have entered into interest rate swap agreements to attempt to hedge the
variability of future interest payments due to changes in interest rates.

The estimated fair value of our senior term loans was approximately $708 million at December 31, 2024. Based on dealers’ quotes, the estimated fair values of our
5.950% senior notes, 5.500% senior notes, 4.875% senior notes and 2.500% senior notes were $1.0 billion, $509 million, $600 million and $426 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2024.

We utilize sensitivity analyses to assess the potential effect on our variable rate debt. If interest rates were to increase 100 basis points on our outstanding variable rate
debt as of December 31, 2024, the net impact of the additional interest cost would be a decrease of $11 million on pre-tax income for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
CBRE Group, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CBRE Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash flows, and equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related
notes and financial statement schedule II (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 14, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which
it relates.
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Assessment of gross unrecognized tax benefits

As discussed in Notes 2 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has recorded gross unrecognized tax benefits of $347 million as of December 31, 2024.
The Company utilizes a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if
the available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes. The
second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement.

We identified the assessment of the gross unrecognized tax benefits as a critical audit matter. Complex auditor judgment and the involvement of tax professionals with
specialized skills and knowledge were required in evaluating the Company’s interpretation of tax law and its estimate of the resolution of the tax positions underlying the
unrecognized tax benefits.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal
controls over the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits process, including the interpretation of tax law and the estimate of the unrecognized tax benefits. Since tax law is
complex and often subject to interpretations, we involved tax professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

¢ Obtaining and understanding of the Company’s tax planning strategies including change sin legal entity structures and intercompany financing arrangements,

¢ Evaluating the Company’s interpretation of tax law and the potential impact on the Company’s tax positions,

¢ Inspecting correspondence with applicable taxing authorities, and assessing the expiration of statutes of limitations, and,

¢ Performing an independent assessment of certain of the Company’s tax positions and comparing the results to the Company’s assessment.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2008.

Chicago, Illinois

February 14, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
CBRE Group, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited CBRE Group, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in/nternal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash flows, and equity for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and financial statement schedule II (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated
February 14, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

The Company acquired J&J Worldwide Services during 2024, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, J&J Worldwide Services’ internal control over financial reporting associated with four percent of total assets and one percent of
total revenue included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting of the Company also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of J&J Worldwide Services.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Chicago, Illinois

February 14, 2025
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CBRE GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in millions, except share data)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $ 101 and $102 at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively

Warehouse receivables
Contract assets
Prepaid expenses
Income taxes receivable
Other current assets
Total Current Assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of § 1,795 and $1,576 at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively
Goodwill

Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $ 2,494 and $2,179 at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively

Operating lease assets

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries (with $ 890 and $997 at fair value at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively)

Non-current contract assets
Real estate under development
Non-current income taxes receivable
Deferred tax assets, net
Other assets, net
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Compensation and employee benefits payable

Accrued bonus and profit sharing

Operating lease liabilities

Contract liabilities

Income taxes payable

Warehouse lines of credit (which fund loans that U.S. Government Sponsored Enterprises have committed to purchase)

Revolving credit facility

Other short-term borrowings

Current maturities of long-term debt

Other current liabilities

Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current maturities
Non-current operating lease liabilities
Non-current income taxes payable
Non-current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities

Equity:

CBRE Group, Inc. Stockholders” Equity:

Class A common stock; $0.01 par value; 525,000,000 shares authorized; 302,052,229 and
304,889,140 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total CBRE Group, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2024 2023
L4 § 1,265
107 106
7,005 6,370
561 675
400 443
332 333
130 159
321 315
9,970 9,666
914 907
5,621 5,129
2,298 2,081
1,198 1,030
1,295 1374
89 75
505 300
75 78
538 361
1,880 1,547
24383 § 22,548
4102 $ 3,562
1,419 1,459
1,695 1,556
200 242
375 298
209 217
552 666
132 —
22 16
36 9
345 218
9,287 8,243
3,245 2,804
1,307 1,089
— 30
160 157
247 255
945 903
15,191 13,481
3 3
9,567 9,188
(1,159) (924)
8,411 8,267
781 800
9,192 9,067
24383 § 22,548
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CBRE GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Revenue $ 35,767 $ 31,9499 § 30,828
Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue 28,811 25,675 24,239

Operating, administrative and other 5,011 4,562 4,649

Depreciation and amortization 674 622 613

Asset impairments — — 59

Total costs and expenses 34,496 30,859 29,560

Gain on disposition of real estate 142 27 244
Operating income 1,413 1,117 1,512
Equity (loss) income from unconsolidated subsidiaries (19) 248 229
Other income (loss) 39 61 (12)
Interest expense, net of interest income 215 149 69
Write-off of financing costs on extinguished debt — — 2
Income before provision for income taxes 1,218 1,277 1,658
Provision for income taxes 182 250 234
Net income 1,036 1,027 1,424
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 68 41 17
Net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 968 $ 986 $ 1,407
Basic income per share:

Net income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 316§ 320 8 4.36

Weighted average shares outstanding for basic income per share 305,859,458 308,430,080 322,813,345
Diluted income per share:

Net income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 314§ 315§ 4.29

Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted income per share 308,033,612 312,550,942 327,696,115

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CBRE GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Net income $ 1,036 $ 1,027 $ 1,424
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Foreign currency translation (loss) gain (243) 111 (409)

Pension liability adjustments, net of $1.1 income tax benefit and $0.7 and $5.2 income tax expense for the years ended

December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively 4 2 (15)

Other, net of $2.8 income tax expense and $3.6 and $0.6 income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023

and 2022, respectively ) (18) (12)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income (248) 95 (436)

Comprehensive income 788 1,122 988
Less: Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 55 77 (78)
Comprehensive income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 733§ 1,045 $ 1,066

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CBRE GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Gains related to mortgage servicing rights, premiums on loan sales and sales of other assets
Gain on disposition of real estate assets
Asset impairments
Net compensation expense for equity awards
Equity loss (income) from unconsolidated subsidiaries
Other non-cash adjustments to net income
Distribution of earnings from unconsolidated subsidiaries
Proceeds from sale of mortgage loans
Origination of mortgage loans
(Decrease) increase in warehouse lines of credit
Purchase of equity securities
Proceeds from sale of equity securities
(Increase) decrease in real estate under development
Increase in receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets (including contract and lease assets)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities (including contract and lease liabilities)
Increase (decrease) in compensation and employee benefits payable and accrued bonus and profit sharing
Increase in net income taxes receivable/payable
Other operating activities, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures
Acquisition of businesses, including net assets acquired, intangibles and goodwill, net of cash acquired
Contributions to unconsolidated subsidiaries
Distributions from unconsolidated subsidiaries
Acquisition and development of real estate assets
Proceeds from disposition of real estate assets
Other investing activities, net
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Repayment of revolving credit facility
Proceeds from commercial paper
Proceeds from senior term loans
Repayment of senior term loans
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes
Repurchase of common stock
Acquisition of businesses (cash paid for acquisitions more than three months after purchase date)
Units repurchased for payment of taxes on equity awards
Other financing activities, net
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, AT END OF YEAR
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income tax payments, net
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Deferred and/or contingent consideration

(M Income tax payments in 2024 includes $ 37 million for the purchase of third-party transferable tax credits.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2024 2022

1,036 $ 1,027 $ 1,424
674 622 613
(162) (102) (203)
(142) 27 —
— — 59

146 96 160
19 (248) (229)

8 (18) 55

132 256 389
12,817 9,714 14,527
(12,668) (9,905) (13,652)
(114) 218 (830)
(51) 1s) 28)

76 14 30

(6) 81 95
(572) (860) (503)
538 22 64
206 (173) 2)
®) o7 (133)
(221) (125) (207)
1,708 480 1,629
(307) (305) (260)
(1,067) (203) (173)
(136) (127) (385)
91 54 87
(389) (171) —
235 77 —
59 ©) (101)
(1,514) (681) (832)

4,173 4,006 1,833
(4,041) (4,184) (1,655)
175 — —
— 748 —

©) (437) —

495 975 =
(627) (665) (1,850)
(281) (145) (34)
(105) (72) (38)
1) (72) 22)
(221) 154 (1,766)
(123) 13 (166)
(150) (34) (1,135)

1,371 1,405 2,540

1,221  § 1,371  § 1,405
396 $ 191 § 89
467 $ 467  $ 604
19 S 54 8 —
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Balance at December 31, 2021

Net income

Pension liability adjustments, net of tax

Restricted stock awards vesting

Compensation expense for equity awards

Units repurchased for payment of taxes on equity awards
Repurchase of common stock

Foreign currency translation loss

Unrealized holding losses on available for sale debt securities, net of
tax

Contributions from non-controlling interests
Distributions to non-controlling interests
Other

Balance at December 31, 2022

Net income

Pension liability adjustments, net of tax
Restricted stock awards vesting
Compensation expense for equity awards
Units repurchased for payment of taxes on equity awards
Repurchase of common stock

Foreign currency translation gain
Contributions from non-controlling interests
Distributions to non-controlling interests
Other

Balance at December 31, 2023

Net income

Pension liability adjustments, net of tax
Restricted stock awards vesting
Compensation expense for equity awards
Units repurchased for payment of taxes on equity awards
Repurchase of common stock

Foreign currency translation loss
Contributions from non-controlling interests
Distributions to non-controlling interests
Deconsolidation of investments

Other

Balance at December 31, 2024

CBRE GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(Dollars in millions, except share data)

CBRE Group, Inc. Stockholders’

Accumulated other
comprehensive loss

Foreign
Additional Minimum currency
paid-in Accumulated pension translation and controlling
Shares earnings liability other Total

332,875,959 799 8367 $ (104) $ (537) 831 § 9,359
— — 1,407 — — 17 1,424
— — — (15) — — (15)
1,028,807 — — — — — —
— 160 — — — — 160
— (38) — — — — (38)
(22,890,606) (913) (949) — — — (1,862)
— — — — (315) (94) (409)
— - — — (©6) — (6)

— — — — — 2 2
— — — — — ) m
— ®) 8 — © @ ®)
311,014,160 — 8,833 (119) (864) 753 8,606
— — 986 — — 41 1,027

— — — 2 — — 2
1,742,328 — — — — — —
— 96 — — — — 96
— (36) (36) — — — (72)
(7,867,348) (47) (602) — — — (649)
— — — — 75 36 111

— — — — — 6 6
— — — — — “2) “2)
— (13) 7 - (18) 6 (18)
304,889,140 — 9,188 (117) (807) 800 9,067
= = 968 = = 68 1,036

— — — 4 — — 4
2,273,713 — — — = — -
— 146 — — — — 146
= (105) = = = = (105)
(5,110,624) (55) (589) — — — (644)
= = = = (230) (13) (243)

— — — — — 22 22
= = = = = (74) (74)
— — — — — (24) 24)

— 14 — — 9) 2 7
302,052,229 — 9,567  § (113) ' $ (1,046) 781§ 9,192

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CBRE GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Operations

” ” <
>

CBRE Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (which may be referred to in these financial statements as the “company,” “we,” “us” and “our”), was incorporated on
February 20, 2001. We are the world’s largest commercial real estate services and investment firm, based on 2024 revenue, with leading global market positions in most lines of
business we serve.

Our business is focused on providing services to real estate investors and occupiers. For investors, we provide capital markets (property sales and mortgage
origination), mortgage servicing, property leasing, investment management, property management, valuation and development services, among others. For occupiers, we
provide facilities management, project management, transaction (both property sales and leasing) and consulting services, among others. We generate revenue from both
management fees (large multi-year portfolio and per-project contracts) and commissions generated by transactions. As of December 31, 2024, the company has more than
140,000 employees (including Turner & Townsend employees) serving clients in more than100 countries providing services under the following brand names: “CBRE” (real
estate advisory and outsourcing services); “CBRE Investment Management” (investment management); “Trammell Crow Company” (primarily U.S. development); and
“Telford Living” (U.K. development); “Turner & Townsend Holdings Limited” (global program, project and cost management) and “J&J Worldwide Services” (outsourcing
services for the U.S. federal government).

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our consolidated subsidiaries, which are comprised of variable interest entities
in which we are the primary beneficiary and voting interest entities, in which we determined we have a controlling financial interest, under the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 810, “Consolidations.” The equity attributable to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries is shown separately in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities (VIEs)

We determine whether an entity is a VIE and, if so, whether it should be consolidated by utilizing judgments and estimates that are inherently subjective. Our
determination of whether an entity in which we hold a direct or indirect variable interest is a VIE is based on several factors, including whether the entity’s total equity
investment at risk upon inception is sufficient to finance the entity’s activities without additional subordinated financial support. We make judgments regarding the sufficiency
of the equity at risk based first on a qualitative analysis, and then a quantitative analysis, if necessary.

We analyze any investments in VIEs to determine if we are the primary beneficiary. In evaluating whether we are the primary beneficiary, we evaluate our direct and
indirect economic interests in the entity. A reporting entity is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it holds a controlling financial interest in the VIE. Determining which
reporting entity, if any, has a controlling financial interest in a VIE is primarily a qualitative approach focused on identifying which reporting entity has both: (i) the power to
direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact such entity’s economic performance; and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from such
entity that could potentially be significant to such entity. Performance of that analysis requires the exercise of judgment.

We consider a variety of factors in identifying the entity that holds the power to direct matters that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance
including, but not limited to, the ability to direct financing, leasing, construction and other operating decisions and activities. In addition, we consider the rights of other
investors to participate in those decisions, to replace the manager and to sell or liquidate the entity. We determine whether we are the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time we
become involved with a variable interest entity and reconsider that conclusion continually.

We consolidate any VIE of which we are the primary beneficiary and disclose significant VIEs of which we are not the primary beneficiary, if any, as well as disclose
our maximum exposure to loss related to VIEs that are not consolidated (see Note 6 — Variable Interest Entities).
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Voting Interest Entities (VOEs)

For VOEs, we consolidate the entity if we have a controlling financial interest. We have a controlling financial interest in a VOE if: (i) for legal entities other than
limited partnerships, we own a majority voting interest in the VOE or, for limited partnerships and similar entities, we own a majority of the entity’s kick-out rights through
voting limited partnership interests; and (ii) non-controlling shareholders or partners do not hold substantive participating rights and no other conditions exist that would
indicate that we do not control the entity.

Debt and Equity Securities and Other Investments

Debt securities are classified as held to maturity when we have the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Debt securities not classified as held to
maturity are classified as available for sale. Available for sale debt securities are carried at their fair value and any difference between cost and fair value is recorded as an
unrealized gain or loss, net of income taxes, and is reported as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements of equity. Premiums and
discounts are recognized in interest using the effective interest method. Realized gains and losses and declines in value resulting from credit losses on available for sale debt
securities have not been significant. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available for sale
are included in interest income.

Our investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries in which we have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, but do not control,
or entities which are VIEs in which we are not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 323,  Instruments -
Equity Method and Joint Ventures.” We eliminate transactions with such equity method subsidiaries to the extent of our ownership in such subsidiaries. Accordingly, our share
of the earnings from these equity-method basis companies, generally recognized on a lag of three months or less, is included in consolidated net income. We have elected to
account for certain eligible investments and related interests at fair value in accordance with the FASB ASC Topic 825, “Financial Instruments.”

For a portion of our investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries reported at fair value, we estimate fair value using the net asset value (NAV) per share (or its
equivalent) our investees provide. These investments are considered investment companies, or are the equivalent of investment companies, as they carry all investments at fair
value, with unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value reflected in earnings. Accordingly, we effectively carry our investments at an amount that is
equivalent to our proportionate share of the net assets of each investment that would be allocated to us if each investment was liquidated at the net asset value as of the
measurement date.

Equity investments that do not result in consolidation and are not accounted for under the equity method (primarily marketable equity securities) are measured at fair
value with changes therein reflected in net income. Equity instruments that do not have readily determinable fair values and do not qualify for using the net asset value per share
practical expedient in FASB ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements” (Topic 820) are measured at cost, less any impairment, and adjusted for subsequent observable
transactions for the same or similar investments of the same issuer.

Impairment Evaluation

Impairment losses on investments, other than available for sale debt securities and investments otherwise measured at fair value, are recognized upon evidence of
other-than-temporary losses of value. When testing for impairment on investments that are not actively traded on a public market, we generally use a discounted cash flow
approach to estimate the fair value of our investments and/or look to comparable activities in the marketplace. Management’s judgment is required in developing the
assumptions for the discounted cash flow approach. These assumptions include net asset values, internal rates of return, discount and capitalization rates, interest rates and
financing terms, rental rates, timing of leasing activity, estimates of lease terms and related concessions, etc. When determining if impairment is other-than-temporary, we also
look to the length of time and the extent to which fair value has been less than cost as well as the financial condition and near-term prospects of each investment. Based on our
review, we did not record any significant other-than-temporary impairment losses during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

63



Table of Contents
CBRE GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP), which require
management to make estimates and assumptions about future events. These estimates and the underlying assumptions affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates include the value of goodwill, intangibles and other long-lived assets, real estate assets, accounts receivable, contract
assets, operating lease assets, investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and assumptions used in the calculation of income taxes, retirement, other post-employment benefits,
and loss contingencies, among others. These estimates and assumptions are based on our best judgment. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using
historical experience and other factors, including consideration of the current economic environment, and adjust such estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances
dictate. Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents generally consist of cash and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less. We also manage certain cash and
cash equivalents as an agent for our investment and property and facilities management clients. These amounts are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets (see “Fiduciary Funds” discussion below).

Restricted Cash

Included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is restricted cash of $107 million and $106 million, respectively. The
balances primarily include restricted cash set aside to cover funding obligations as required by contracts executed by us in the ordinary course of business.

Fiduciary Funds

The accompanying consolidated balance sheets do not include the net assets of escrow, agency and fiduciary funds, which are held by us on behalf of clients.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to credit risk consist principally of trade receivables and interest-bearing investments. Users of real estate services
account for a substantial portion of trade receivables and collateral is generally not required. The risk associated with this concentration is limited due to the large number of
users and their geographic dispersion.

We place substantially all our interest-bearing investments with several major financial institutions to limit the amount of credit exposure with any one financial
institution.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which includes leasehold improvements, is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment. Depreciation and amortization of
property and equipment is computed primarily using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging up to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
shorter of the term of their associated leases, excluding options to renew unless we are reasonably certain that we will exercise the option to renew, or the estimated useful life
of the asset. We capitalize expenditures that significantly increase the life of our assets and expense the costs of maintenance and repairs.

We review property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not
be recoverable. If this review indicates that such assets are considered impaired, the impairment is recognized in the period the changes occur and represents the amount by
which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset or asset group.
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Certain costs related to the development or purchase of internal-use software are capitalized. Internal-use software costs incurred in the preliminary project stage are
expensed as incurred. Significant direct consulting costs and certain payroll and related costs, which are incurred during the development stage of a project are generally
capitalized and amortized over a three-year period (except for enterprise software development platforms, which range fromthree to seven years) when placed into production.

Real Estate
Classification and Impairment Evaluation

We classify real estate in accordance with the criteria of the FASB ASC Topic 360, “Property, Plant and Equipment” (Topic 360) as follows: (i) real estate held for
sale, which includes completed assets or land for sale in its present condition that meet all of Topic 360’s “held for sale” criteria; (ii) real estate under development (current),
which includes real estate that we are in the process of developing that is expected to be completed and disposed of within one year of the balance sheet date; (iii) real estate
under development (non-current), which includes real estate that we are in the process of developing that is expected to be completed and disposed of more than one year from
the balance sheet date; or (iv) real estate held for investment, which consists of land on which development activities have not yet commenced and completed assets or land
held for disposition that do not meet the “held for sale” criteria. Any asset reclassified from real estate held for sale to real estate held for investment is recorded individually at
the lower of its fair value at the date of the reclassification or its carrying amount before it was classified as “held for sale,” adjusted (in the case of real estate held for
investment) for any depreciation that would have been recognized had the asset been continuously classified as real estate held for investment.

Real estate held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell. If an asset’s fair value less cost to sell, based on discounted future cash flows,
management estimates or market comparisons, is less than its carrying amount, an allowance is recorded against the asset. Real estate under development and real estate held
for investment are carried at cost less depreciation and impairment, as applicable. Buildings and improvements included in real estate held for investment are depreciated using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, generally up to 39 years. Tenant improvements included in real estate held for investment are amortized using the
straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or terms of the respective leases. Land improvements included in real estate held for investment are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives, up to 15 years.

Real estate under development and real estate held for investment are evaluated for impairment and losses are recorded when undiscounted cash flows estimated to be
generated by an asset are less than the asset’s carrying amount. The amount of the impairment loss, if any, is calculated as the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair
value, which is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis, management estimates or market comparisons.

A summary of our real estate assets is as follows (dollars in millions):

December 31,

2024 2023
Real estate under development, current (included in other current assets) $ — =
Real estate and other assets held for sale (included in other current assets) 40 42
Real estate under development 505 300
Real estate held for investment (included in other assets, net) 243 179
$ 788 $ 521

Total real estate

Cost Capitalization and Allocation

When acquiring, developing, and constructing real estate assets, we capitalize recoverable costs. Capitalization begins when the activities related to development have
begun and ceases when activities are substantially complete and the asset is available for occupancy. Recoverable costs capitalized include pursuit costs, or pre-acquisition/pre-
construction costs, taxes and insurance, interest, development and construction costs and costs of incidental operations. We do not capitalize any internal costs when acquiring,
developing, and constructing real estate assets. We expense transaction costs for acquisitions that qualify as a business in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 805, “ Business
Combinations” (Topic 805). Pursuit costs capitalized in connection with a potential development project that we have determined not to pursue are written off in the period that
determination is made.
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At times, we purchase bulk land that we intend to sell or develop in phases. The land basis allocated to each phase is based on the relative estimated fair value of the
phases before construction except for newly acquired held for sale phases which are measured at their fair value less cost to sell at the acquisition date. We allocate construction
costs incurred relating to more than one phase between the various phases; if the costs cannot be specifically attributed to a certain phase or the improvements benefit more than
one phase, we allocate the costs between the phases based on their relative estimated sales values, where practicable, or other value methods as appropriate under the
circumstances. Relative allocations of the costs are revised as the sales value estimates are revised.

When acquiring real estate with existing buildings, we allocate the purchase price between land, land improvements, building and intangibles related to in-place leases,
if any, based on their relative fair values. The fair values of acquired land and buildings are determined based on an estimated discounted future cash flow model with lease-up
assumptions as if the building was vacant upon acquisition. The fair value of in-place leases includes the value of lease intangibles for above or below-market rents and tenant
origination costs, determined on a lease-by-lease basis. The capitalized values for both lease intangibles and tenant origination costs are amortized over the term of the
underlying leases. Amortization related to lease intangibles is recorded as either an increase to or a reduction of rental income and amortization for tenant origination costs is
recorded to amortization expense.

Disposition of Real Estate

We account for gains and losses on the sale of real estate and other nonfinancial assets or in substance ronfinancial assets to noncustomers that are not an output of our
ordinary activities and are not a business in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 610-20, “Other Income — Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets.”
Where we do not have a controlling financial interest in the entity that holds the transferred assets after the transaction, we derecognize the assets or in substance nonfinancial
assets and recognize a gain or loss when control of the underlying assets transfers to the counterparty.

We may also dispose of real estate through the transfer of a long-term leasehold representing a major part of the remaining economic life of the property. We account
for these transfers as sales-type leases in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 842, “ Leases” by derecognizing the carrying amount of the underlying asset, recognizing any net
investment in the lease and recognizing selling profit or loss in net income.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Our acquisitions of businesses require the application of purchase accounting, which results in tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities of the acquired
entity being recorded at fair value. The difference between the purchase price and the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Deferred consideration
arrangements granted in connection with a business combination are evaluated to determine whether all or a portion is, in substance, additional purchase price or compensation
for services. Additional purchase price is added to the fair value of consideration transferred in the business combination and compensation is included in operating expenses in
the period it is incurred.

We are required to test goodwill and other intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives for impairment at least annually, or more often if circumstances or
events indicate a change in the impairment status, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 350, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other.” The guidance permits, but does not require an
entity to perform a qualitative assessment with respect to any of its reporting units or indefinite-lived intangible assets to determine whether a quantitative impairment test is
needed. Entities are permitted to assess based on qualitative factors whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s or indefinite-lived intangible asset’s fair value is less
than its carrying amount before applying the quantitative impairment test. If it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit or indefinite-lived intangible asset is
less than its carrying amount, the entity conducts the quantitative impairment test. If not, the entity does not need to apply the quantitative test. The qualitative test is elective,
and an entity can go directly to the quantitative test rather than making a more-likely-than-not assessment based on an evaluation of qualitative factors. When performing a
quantitative test, we primarily use a discounted cash flow approach to estimate the fair value of our reporting units and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Management’s
judgment is required in developing the assumptions for the discounted cash flow model. These assumptions include revenue growth rates, profit margin percentages, discount
rates, etc. We record an impairment loss when the amount by which a reporting unit’s or indefinite-lived intangible asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed
the carrying amount of the goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible asset. See Note 9 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets for more information.
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Business Combinations

We estimate the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and any non-controlling interests acquired in a business combination and recognize goodwill as the excess of
the purchase price over the recorded value of the acquired assets and liabilities in accordance with Topic 805. When estimating the fair value of acquired assets, we utilize
various valuation models which may require significant judgment, particularly where observable market values do not exist. Inputs requiring significant judgment may include
discount rates, growth rates, cost of capital, royalty rates, tax rates, market values, depreciated replacement costs, selling prices less costs to dispose, and remaining useful lives,
among others. Reasonable differences in these inputs could have a significant impact on the estimated value of acquired assets, the resulting value of goodwill, subsequent
depreciation and amortization expense, and the results of future asset impairment evaluations.

Leases

We are the lessee in contracts for our office space tenancies, for leased vehicles, and for some leases of land in our global development business. We monitor our
service arrangements to evaluate whether they meet the definition of a lease.

The present value of lease payments, which are either fixed payments, in-substance fixed payments, or variable payments tied to an index or rate are recognized on the
consolidated balance sheets with corresponding lease liabilities and right-of-use (ROU) assets upon the commencement of the lease. These lease costs are expensed over the
respective lease term in accordance with the classification of the lease (i.e., operating versus finance classification). Variable lease payments not tied to an index or rate are
expensed as incurred and are not subject to capitalization. After the commencement date, any modifications to the leasing arrangement are assessed and the ROU asset and lease
liability are remeasured to recognize modifications to the lease term, leased asset, or lease payments.

The base terms for our lease arrangements typically do not extend beyond10 years, except for land leases. We commonly have renewal options in our leases, but most
of these options do not create a significant economic incentive for us to extend the lease term. Therefore, payments during periods covered by these renewal options are
typically not included in our lease liabilities and right-of-use assets. Specific to our vehicle leases, early termination options are common and economic penalties associated
with early termination of these contracts are typically significant enough to make it reasonably certain that we will not exercise such options. Therefore, payments during
periods covered by these early termination options in vehicle leases are typically included in our lease liabilities and right-of-use assets. As an accounting policy election, our
short-term leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recognized as lease liabilities and right-of-use assets in the consolidated balance sheets. The rent expense
associated with short term leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and was not significant.

Most of our office space leases include variable payments based on our share of actual common area maintenance and operating costs of the leased property. Many of
our vehicle leases include variable payments based on actual service and fuel costs. For both office space and vehicle leases, we have elected the practical expedient to not
separate lease components from non-lease components. Therefore, these costs are classified as variable lease payments.

Lease payments are typically discounted at our incremental borrowing rate because the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined in the absence of
key inputs which are typically not reported by our lessors. Because we do not generally borrow on a collateralized basis, judgement was used to estimate the secured borrowing
rate associated with our leases based on relevant market data and our inputs applied to accepted valuation methodologies. The incremental borrowing rate calculated for each
lease also reflects the lease term, currency, and geography specific to each lease.

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs incurred in connection with financing activities are generally deferred and amortized over the terms of the related debt agreements ranging up televen years.
Debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability are presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that
debt liability. Amortization of these costs is charged to interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2015-
15, “Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements”
permits classifying debt issuance costs associated with a line of credit arrangement as an asset, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the arrangement.
Total deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization, related to our revolving line of credit have been included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets and were $6 million and $9 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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See Note 11 — Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings for additional information on activities associated with our debt.

Revenue Recognition

We account for revenue with customers in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Topic 606). Revenue is recognized
when or as control of the promised services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services.

The following is a description of principal activities — separated by reportable segments — from which we generate revenue. For more detailed information about our
reportable segments, see Note 18 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers and Note 19 — Segments.

Advisory Services

Our Advisory Services segment provides a comprehensive range of services globally, including property leasing, property sales, mortgage origination, mortgage
servicing, property management and valuation services.

Property Leasing and Property Sales

We provide strategic advice and execution for owners, investors, and occupiers of real estate in connection with the leasing of office, industrial and retail space. We
also offer clients fully integrated property sales services under the CBRE Capital Markets brand. We are compensated for our services in the form of a commission and, in some
instances, may earn various forms of variable incentive consideration. Our commission is paid upon the occurrence of certain contractual event(s) which may be contingent. For
example, a portion of our leasing commission may be paid upon signing of the lease by the tenant, with the remaining paid upon occurrence of another future contingent event
(e.g., payment of first month’s rent or tenant move-in). For leases, we typically satisfy our performance obligation at a point in time when control is transferred; generally, at the
time of the first contractual event where there is a present right to payment. We look to history, experience with a customer, and deal specific considerations as part of the most
likely outcome estimation approach to support our judgement that the second contingency (if applicable) will be met. Therefore, we typically accelerate the recognition of the
revenue associated with the second contingent event. For property sales, our commission is typically paid at the closing of the sale, which represents transfer of control for
services to the customer.

In addition to our commission, we may recognize other forms of variable consideration which can include, but are not limited to, commissions subject to concession or
claw back and volume-based discounts or rebates. We assess variable consideration on a contract-by-contract basis, and when appropriate, recognize revenue based on our
assessment of the outcome (using the most likely outcome approach or weighted probability) and historical results, if comparable and representative. We recognize variable
consideration if it is deemed probable that there will not be significant reversal in the future.

Mortgage Originations and Loan Sales

We offer clients commercial mortgage and structured financing services. Fees from services within our mortgage brokerage business that are in the scope of Topic 606
include fees earned for the brokering of commercial mortgage loans primarily through relationships established with investment banking firms, national and regional banks,
credit companies, insurance companies and pension funds. We are compensated for our brokerage services via a fee paid upon successful placement of a commercial mortgage
borrower with a lender who will provide financing. The fee earned is contingent upon the funding of the loan, which represents the transfer of control for services to the
customer. Therefore, we typically satisfy our performance obligation at the point in time of the funding of the loan.

We also earn fees from the origination and sale of commercial mortgage loans for which the company retains the servicing rights. Revenue from fees earned from
Government-Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs) are out of the scope of Topic 606. These fees are governed by FASB ASC Topic 820, “ Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”
(Topic 820) and FASB ASC Topic 860, *“ Transfers and Servicing.” Upon origination of a mortgage loan held for sale, the fair value of the mortgage servicing rights (MSR) to
be retained is included in the forecasted proceeds from the anticipated loan sale and results in a net gain (which is reflected in revenue). Upon sale, we record a servicing asset or
liability based on the fair value of the retained MSR associated with the transferred loan. Subsequent to the initial recording, MSRs are amortized and carried at the lower of
amortized cost or fair value in other intangible assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. They are amortized in proportion to and over the estimated period that
the servicing income is expected to be received.
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Property Management Services

We provide property management services on a contractual basis for owners of and investors in office, industrial and retail properties. These services include
marketing, building engineering, accounting, and financial services. We are compensated for our services through a monthly management fee earned based on either a specified
percentage of the monthly rental income, rental receipts generated from the property under management or a fixed fee. We are also often reimbursed for our administrative and
payroll costs directly attributable to the properties under management. Property management services represent a series of distinct daily services rendered over time. Consistent
with the transfer of control for distinct, daily services to the customer, revenue is recognized at the end of each period for the fees associated with the services performed. The
amount of revenue recognized is presented gross for any services provided by our employees, as we control them. We generally do not control third-party services delivered to
property management clients. As such, we generally report revenues net of third-party reimbursements.

Valuation Services

We provide valuation services that include market-value appraisals, litigation support, discounted cash flow analyses, feasibility studies as well as consulting services
such as property condition reports, hotel advisory and environmental consulting. We are compensated for valuation services in the form of a fee, which is payable on the
occurrence of certain events (e.g., a portion on the delivery of a draft report with the remaining on the delivery of the final report). For consulting services, we may be paid
based on the occurrence of time or event-based milestones (such as the delivery of draft reports). We typically satisfy our performance obligation for valuation services as
services are rendered over time.

Global Workplace Solutions

Our GWS segment provides a broad suite of integrated, contractually-based outsourcing services globally for occupiers of real estate, including facilities management,
and project management services.

Facilities Management and Project Management Services

Facilities management involves the day-to-day management of client-occupied space and includes headquarters, regional offices, administrative offices, data centers
and other critical facilities, manufacturing and laboratory facilities, distribution facilities and retail space. Contracts for facilities management services are often structured so we
are reimbursed for client-dedicated personnel costs and subcontracted vendor costs as well as associated overhead expenses plus a monthly fee, and, in some cases, annual
incentives tied to agreed upon performance targets, with any penalties typically capped. In addition, we have contracts for facilities management services based on fixed fees or
guaranteed maximum prices. Fixed fee contracts are typically structured where an agreed upon scope of work is delivered for a fixed price while guaranteed maximum price
contracts are structured with an agreed upon scope of work that will be provided to the client for a not to exceed price. Facilities management services represent a series of
distinct daily services rendered over time. Consistent with the transfer of control for distinct, daily services to the customer, revenue is typically recognized at the end of each
period for the fees associated with the services performed.

Project management services are often provided on a portfolio wide or programmatic basis. Revenues from project management services generally include
construction management, fixed management fees, variable fees, and incentive fees if certain agreed upon performance targets are met. Revenues from project management
may also include reimbursement of payroll and related costs for personnel providing the services and subcontracted vendor costs. Project management services represent a series
of distinct daily services rendered over time. Consistent with the transfer of control for distinct, daily services to the customer, revenue is typically recognized at the end of each
period for the fees associated with the services performed.

The amount of revenue recognized is presented gross for any services provided by our employees, as we control them. This is evidenced by our obligation for their
performance and our ability to direct and redirect their work, as well as negotiate the value of such services. The amount of revenue recognized related to the majority of
facilities management contracts and certain project management arrangements is presented gross (with offsetting expense recorded in cost of revenue) for reimbursements of
costs of third-party services because we control those services that are delivered to the client. In the instances when we do not control third-party services delivered to the client,
we report revenues net of the third-party reimbursements.
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In addition to our management fee, we receive various types of variable consideration which can include but is not limited to key performance indicator bonuses or
penalties which may be linked to subcontractor performance, gross maximum price, glidepaths, savings guarantees, shared savings, or fixed fee structures. We assess variable
consideration on a contract-by-contract basis, and when appropriate, recognize revenue based on our assessment of the outcome (using the most likely outcome approach or
weighted probability) and historical results, if comparable and representative. Using management assessments and historical results and statistics, we recognize revenue if it is
deemed probable there will not be significant reversal in the future.

Real Estate Investments

Our REI segment is comprised of investment management services provided globally and development services in the U.S., the U.K. and Continental Europe.

Investment Management Services

Our investment management services are provided to pension funds, insurance companies, sovereign wealth funds, foundations, endowments, and other institutional
investors seeking to generate returns and diversification through investment in real assets. We sponsor investment programs that span the risk/return spectrum in North America,
Europe, Asia, and Australia. We are typically compensated in the form of a base management fee, disposition fees, acquisition fees and incentive fees in the form of
performance fees or carried interests based on fund type (open or closed ended, respectively). For the base management fees, we typically satisfy the performance obligation as
service is rendered over time pursuant to the series guidance. Consistent with the transfer of control for distinct, daily services to the customer, revenue is recognized at the end
of each period for the fees associated with the services performed. For acquisition and disposition services, we typically satisfy the performance obligation at a point in time (at
acquisition or upon disposition). For contracts with contingent fees, including performance fees, incentive fees and carried interests, we assess variable consideration on a
contract-by-contract basis, and when appropriate, recognize revenue based on our assessment of the outcome (using the most likely outcome approach or weighted probability)
and historical results, if comparable and representative. Revenue associated with performance fees and carried interests are typically impacted by volatility in the real estate
market, a broad range of possible outcomes, and other factors in the market that are outside of our control.

Development Services

Our development services consist of real estate development and investment activities in the U.S., the U.K. and Europe to users of and investors in commercial real
estate, as well as for our own account.

We pursue opportunistic, risk-mitigated development and investment in commercial real estate across a wide spectrum of property types, including industrial, office
and retail properties; healthcare facilities of all types (medical office buildings, hospitals and ambulatory surgery centers); and multi-family residential/mixed-use projects. We
pursue development and investment activity on behalf of our clients on a fee basis with no, or limited, ownership interest in a property, in partnership with our clients through
co-investment — either on an individual project basis or through programs with certain strategic capital partners or for our own account with 100% ownership. Development
services represent a series of distinct daily services rendered over time. Consistent with the transfer of control for distinct, daily services to the customer, revenue is recognized
at the end of each period for the fees associated with the services performed. Fees are typically payable monthly over the service term or upon contractual defined events, like
project milestones. In addition to development fee revenue, we receive various types of variable consideration which can include, but is not limited to, contingent lease-up
bonuses, cost saving incentives, profit sharing on sales and at-risk fees. We assess variable consideration on a contract-by-contract basis, and when appropriate, recognize
revenue based on our assessment of the outcome (using the most likely outcome approach or weighted probability) and historical results, if comparable and representative. We
accelerate revenue if it is deemed probable there will not be significant reversal in the future. Sales of real estate to customers which are considered an output of ordinary
activities are recognized as revenue when or as control of the assets are transferred to the customer.

70



Table of Contents
CBRE GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We record accounts receivable for our unconditional rights to consideration arising from our performance under contracts with customers. The carrying value of such
receivables, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, represents their estimated net realizable value. We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts for specific accounts
receivable balances based on historical collection trends, the age of outstanding accounts receivables and existing economic conditions associated with the receivables. Past-due
accounts receivable balances are written off when our internal collection efforts have been unsuccessful. As a practical expedient, we do not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component when we expect, at contract inception, that the period between our transfer of a promised service to a customer
and when the customer pays for that service will be one year or less. We do not typically include extended payment terms in our contracts with customers.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations represent the aggregate transaction prices for contracts where our performance obligations have not yet been satisfied. As of
December 31, 2024, the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations in our property leasing business was not significant. We apply the
practical expedient related to remaining performance obligations that are part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less and the practical expedient
related to variable consideration from remaining performance obligations pursuant to the series guidance. All of our remaining performance obligations apply to one of these
practical expedients.

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

Contract assets represent assets for revenue that has been recognized in advance of billing the customer and for which the right to bill is contingent upon something
other than the passage of time. This is common for contingent portions of commissions in brokerage, development and construction revenue in development services and
incentive fees present in various businesses. Billing requirements vary by contract but are generally structured around fixed monthly fees, reimbursement of employee and other
third-party costs, and the achievement or completion of certain contingent events.

When we receive consideration, or such consideration is unconditionally due, from a customer prior to transferring services to the customer under the terms of the
services contract, we record deferred revenue, which represents a contract liability. We recognize the contract liability as revenue once we have transferred control of the service
to the customer and all revenue recognition criteria are met.

Contract assets and contract liabilities are determined for each contract on a net basis. For contract assets, we classify the short-term portion as a separate line item
within current assets and the long-term portion as a separate line item in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. For contract liabilities, we classify the short-term
portion as a separate line item within current liabilities and the long-term portion within other liabilities, long-term in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Contract Costs

Contract costs, accounted for under FASB ASC Topic 340-40, “Other Assets and Deferred Costs — Contracts with Customers,” primarily consist of upfront costs
incurred to obtain or to fulfill a contract. These costs are typically found within our GWS segment. Such costs relate to transition costs to fulfill contracts prior to services being
rendered and are included within other intangible assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Capitalized transition costs are amortized based on the transfer of
services to which the assets relate which can vary on a contract-by-contract basis and are included in cost of revenue in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.
Contract costs that are recognized as assets are reviewed for impairment when events and changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Applying the contract cost practical expedient, we recognize the incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the
assets that we otherwise would have recognized is one year or less.

71



Table of Contents
CBRE GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Business Promotion and Advertising Costs

The costs of business promotion and advertising are expensed as incurred. Business promotion and advertising costs of $82 million, $74 million and $85 million were
included in operating, administrative and other expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Foreign Currencies

The financial statements of subsidiaries located outside the U.S. are generally measured using the local currency as the functional currency. The assets and liabilities of
these subsidiaries are translated at the rates of exchange at the balance sheet date, and income and expenses are translated at the average monthly rate. The resulting translation
adjustments are included in the accumulated other comprehensive income/loss component of equity. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included
in the results of operations.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income/loss. In the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, accumulated other
comprehensive income/loss primarily consists of foreign currency translation adjustments, qualified derivative activities, unrealized holding gains on available for sale debt
securities and pension liability adjustments. Foreign currency translation adjustments exclude any income tax effects given that earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries are deemed to
be reinvested for an indefinite period of time (see Note 15 — Income Taxes).

Warehouse Receivables

Our wholly-owned subsidiary CBRE Capital Markets, Inc. (CBRE Capital Markets) is a Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) approved
Multifamily Program Plus Seller/Servicer and an approved Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) Aggregation and Negotiated Transaction Seller/Servicer. In
addition, CBRE Capital Markets” wholly-owned subsidiary CBRE Multifamily Capital, Inc. (CBRE MCI) is an approved Fannie Mae Delegated Underwriting and Servicing
(DUS) Seller/Servicer and CBRE Capital Markets” wholly-owned subsidiary CBRE HMF, Inc. (CBRE HMF) is a U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)
approved Non-Supervised Federal Housing Authority (FHA) Title II Mortgagee, an approved Multifamily Accelerated Processing (MAP) lender and an approved Government
National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae) issuer of mortgage-backed securities (MBS). Under these arrangements, before loans are originated through proceeds from
warehouse lines of credit, we obtain either a contractual loan purchase commitment from either Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae or a confirmed forward trade commitment for the
issuance and purchase of a Fannie Mae or Ginnie Mae MBS that will be secured by the loans. The warehouse lines of credit are generally repaid within a one-month period
when Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae buys the loans or upon settlement of the Fannie Mae or Ginnie Mae MBS, while we retain the servicing rights. Loans are funded at the
prevailing market rates. We elect the fair value option for all warehouse receivables. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, all of the warehouse receivables included in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets were either under commitment to be purchased by Freddie Mac or had confirmed forward trade commitments for the issuance and
purchase of Fannie Mae or Ginnie Mae MBS that will be secured by the underlying loans.

Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSRs)

In connection with the origination and sale of mortgage loans with servicing rights retained, we record servicing assets or liabilities based on the fair value of the
mortgage servicing rights on the date the loans are sold. Our MSRs are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequent to the initial recording, MSRs are amortized in proportion to
and over the period that the servicing income is expected to be received based on projections and timing of estimated future net cash flows and assessed for impairment based on
the fair value each reporting period. MSRs are recorded in other intangible assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Our initial recording of MSRs at their fair value resulted in net gains, as the fair value of servicing contracts that result in MSR assets exceeded the fair value of
servicing contracts that result in MSR liabilities. The net assets and net gains are presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The amount of MSRs
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was as follows (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Beginning balance, mortgage servicing rights $ 499 § 561 $ 579
Mortgage servicing rights recognized 125 82 146
Mortgage servicing rights sold — — —
Amortization expense (138) (144) (164)
Ending balance, mortgage servicing rights $ 486 $ 499 § 561

MSRs do not actively trade in an open market with readily available observable prices; therefore, fair value is determined based on certain assumptions and judgments,
including the estimation of the present value of future cash flows realized from servicing the underlying mortgage loans. Management’s assumptions include the benefits of
servicing (servicing fee income and interest on escrow deposits), inflation, the cost of servicing, prepayment rates, delinquencies, discount rates and the estimated life of
servicing cash flows. The assumptions used are subject to change based on management’s judgments and estimates of changes in future cash flows and interest rates, among
other things. The key assumptions used during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 in measuring fair value were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Weighted average discount rate 13.6 % 13.0 % 12.9 %
Weighted average conditional prepayment rate 11.8% 12.0 % 10.1 %

The estimated fair value of our MSRs was $1.1 billion, $1.2 billion and $1.1 billion as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We perform quarterly
procedures to identify triggering events. Impairment is evaluated through a comparison of the carrying amount and fair value of the MSRs, and recognized with the
establishment of a valuation allowance. We did not incur any impairment charges related to our MSRs during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 or 2022. No valuation
allowance was recognized for MSRs in 2024, 2023, and 2022.

Included inrevenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations are contractually specified servicing fees from loans serviced for others of
$329 million, $315 million and $309 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and includes prepayment fees/late fees earned from loans
serviced for others of $9 million, $5 million and $23 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Additionally, also recorded in revenue, was
ancillary income of $151 million, $108 million and $23 million for years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, generated on the loan servicing float.

Accounting for Broker Draws

As part of our recruitment efforts relative to new U.S. brokers, we offer a transitional broker draw arrangement. Our broker draw arrangements generally last until such
time as a broker’s pipeline of business is sufficient to allow the broker to earn sustainable commissions. This program is intended to provide the broker with a minimal amount
of cash flow to allow adequate time for his or her training as well as time for him or her to develop business relationships. Similar to traditional salaries, the broker draws are
paid irrespective of the actual revenues generated by the broker. Often these broker draws represent the only form of compensation received by the broker. Furthermore, it is not
our general policy to pursue collection of unearned broker draws paid under this arrangement. As a result, we have concluded that broker draws are economically equivalent to
salaries paid and accordingly charge them to compensation expense as incurred over the service period. The broker is also entitled to earn a commission on completed revenue
transactions, less any amounts previously paid to the broker in the form of a draw.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We account for all employee awards under the fair value recognition provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation” (Topic 718). Topic
718 requires the measurement of compensation cost at the grant date, based upon the estimated fair value of the award, and requires amortization of the related expense over the
employee’s requisite service period. We do not estimate forfeitures, but instead recognize forfeitures when they occur. See Note 14 — Employee Benefit Plans for additional
information on our stock-based compensation plans.

Income Per Share

Basic income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. is computed by dividing net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. stockholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during each period. The computation of diluted income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. generally further assumes the dilutive
effect of potential common shares, which include certain contingently issuable shares. Contingently issuable shares consist of non-vested stock awards.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted tax rates and laws and are released in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation
allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that some portion or all the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

We utilize a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the
available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes. The
second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

See Note 15 — Income Taxes for additional information on income taxes.

Self-Insurance

Our wholly-owned captive insurance company, which is subject to applicable insurance rules and regulations, insures our exposure related to workers’ compensation
insurance, general liability insurance and automotive insurance for our U.S. operations risk on a primary basis and we purchase excess coverage from unrelated insurance
carriers. The captive insurance company also insures primary risk relating to professional indemnity claims globally. Given the nature of these types of claims, it may take
several years for resolution and determination of the cost of these claims. We are required to estimate the cost of these claims in our financial statements.

The estimates that we utilize to record our potential losses on claims are inherently subjective, and actual claims could differ from amounts recorded, which could
result in increased or decreased expense in future periods. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our reserves for claims under these insurance programs were $197 million and
$180 million, respectively, of which $4 million and $4 million, respectively, represented our estimated current liabilities.
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Contingencies

Pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 450, “Contingencies” (Topic 450), we evaluate whether any conditions existed as of the financial statement issuance date which may
result in a loss contingent upon one or more future events occurring or not occurring. Assessing contingent liabilities involves significant judgment. If the assessment indicates
that a loss is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable, we accrue an estimated liability in our financial statements. If the assessment indicates that a potentially material
loss contingency is not probable but is reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the contingent liability and an estimate of the range of
potential losses, if determinable and material, would be disclosed. We determine the amount of estimated liability to accrue, if any, after thorough evaluation of key information
available that could impact the size and timing of the potential loss on a case-by-case basis. Given the significant judgment involved with such estimates, the potential liability
may change in the future as new information becomes available. We do not recognize gain contingencies until the contingency is completely resolved and the associated
amounts are probable of collection.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

We record derivative instruments at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets in either other liabilities or other assets. We do not net derivatives on
our balance sheet. For derivatives designated as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk are recognized in the same financial statement line item. For derivatives designated as net investment hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative is reported in
accumulated other comprehensive income as part of the cumulative translation adjustment. Amounts are reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income into
earnings when the hedged net investment is either sold or substantially liquidated. Gains and losses on the derivative representing hedge components excluded from the
assessment of effectiveness are recognized in earnings over the life of the hedge on a systematic and rational basis. Cash flows arising from derivative instruments are classified
within the consolidated statements of cash flows within the same category that the cash flows from the item being hedged.

The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative and whether we have elected to apply hedge accounting in a
qualified hedging relationship. We may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain risks, even though hedge accounting does not apply or we
may elect not to apply hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated in hedging relationships are recorded directly in earnings. We do not use
derivatives for trading or speculative purposes and currently do not have any derivatives that are not designated as hedges.

Derivative instruments that are designated as hedging instruments and qualify for hedge accounting must be highly effective in mitigating the designated changes in
fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. We assess at the hedge’s inception, and continue to assess on a quarterly basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions have been and are expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in the hedged items.

We use fixed to fixed and float to float cross-currency swaps to hedge our exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates on certain foreign investments as well as a
foreign currency denominated term loan (see Note 11 — Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings for additional information on the term loan). As of December 31, 2024,
we had seven outstanding cross-currency swaps with a total fair value of $43 million included in other assets to hedge our exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates from a
foreign currency denominated term loan and investments in foreign subsidiaries.

Employee Separation Benefits

One-time termination benefits are expensed at the date the company notifies the employee, unless the employee must provide future service, in which case the benefits
are expensed ratably over the future service period. Ongoing benefits are expensed when restructuring activities are probable and the benefit amounts are estimable.
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3. New Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale
Restrictions.” The amendments in the ASU clarify that a contractual restriction on the sale of an equity security is not considered part of the unit of account of the equity
security and, therefore, is not considered in measuring fair value. The ASU introduces new disclosure requirements to provide investors with information about the restriction
including the nature and remaining duration of the restriction. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. We adopted ASU 2022-03 in the first quarter of 2024. The adoption did not have a material impact on the valuation of our equity securities. To the extent we have
material equity securities subject to contractual sale restrictions, we have included the required disclosures within the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-01, “Leases (Topic 842): Common Control Arrangements.” This update requires that leasehold improvements associated
with common control leases be amortized over the useful life of the leasehold improvements to the common control group (regardless of the lease term) and accounted for as a
transfer between entities under common control through an adjustment to equity if, and when, the lessee no longer controls the use of the underlying asset. This guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We adopted ASU 2023-01 in the first quarter of 2024 and the
adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-02, “Investments — Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323): Accounting for Investments in Tax Credit Structures
Using the Proportional Amortization method.” This update permits an accounting election to account for tax equity investments, regardless of the tax credit program from
which the income tax credits are received, using the proportional amortization method if certain conditions are met. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2023, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We adopted ASU 2023-02 in the first quarter of 2024 and the adoption did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures.” This update enhances
reportable segment disclosures by requiring a public entity to: 1) disclose, on an annual and interim basis, significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker (CODM) and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss, 2) disclose, on an annual and interim basis, an amount of other
segment items by reportable segment and a description of its composition, 3) provide all annual disclosures about a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets currently
required by Topic 280 in interim periods, 4) disclose the title and position of the CODM and an explanation of how the CODM uses the reported measure(s) of segment profit
or loss in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources, and 5) provide all the disclosures required by this update and all existing segment disclosures
in Topic 280 if the entity has a single reportable segment. This ASU also clarifies that, in addition to the measure that is most consistent with the measurement principles under
GAAP, a public entity is not precluded from reporting additional measures of a segment’s profit or loss that are used by the CODM in assessing segment performance and
deciding how to allocate resources. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2024. We adopted ASU 2023-07 in the fourth quarter of 2024 and have updated our segment disclosures to comply with the updated requirements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Pending Adoption

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, ‘Tmprovements to Income Tax Disclosures.” This ASU requires disaggregated information about a reporting
entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid and will be effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The new
requirements should be applied on a prospective basis with an option to apply them retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. We are evaluating the impact that ASU 2023-09
will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, “Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40):
Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses.” This ASU requires public business entities to disclose additional information about specific expense categories in the notes to
financial statements at interim and annual reporting periods. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2027 with early adoption permitted. These requirements should be applied on a prospective basis with an option to apply them
retrospectively. We are evaluating the impact that ASU 2024-03 will have on our consolidated financial statement disclosures.

4. Acquisitions
J&J Worldwide Services Acquisition

On February 27, 2024, we acquired a 100% ownership interest in J&J Worldwide Services (J&J), a leading provider of engineering services, base support operations
and facilities maintenance for the U.S. federal government. J&J primarily serves the U.S. Department of Defense through long-term, fixed-price contracts and is reported as part
of our Global Workplace Solutions (GWS) segment. The acquisition is consistent with key elements of our M&A strategy that focus on enhancing our technical services
capabilities, increasing revenue resilience and secular growth, and expanding our government client base within our GWS segment.

The J&J acquisition was treated as a business combination under Topic 805 and was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. We financed the
acquisition with (i) the issuance in February 2024 of $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.500% senior notes due April 1, 2029; (ii) borrowings under our existing
revolving credit facility under our 2023 Credit Agreement; and (iii) cash on hand. See Note 11 — Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings for more information on the
above-mentioned debt instruments.

The following summarizes the consideration transferred at closing for the J&J acquisition (dollars in millions):

Cash consideration $ 808
Deferred and contingent consideration 11

Total consideration $ 819

The purchase price included $7 million of contingent consideration, representing the acquisition date fair value recognized for up to 50 million gross of potential
future earnout payments based on the achievement of certain performance thresholds during calendar years 2025 and 2026.

The following represents the summary of the excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired (dollars in millions):

Purchase price $ 819
Less: Estimated fair value of net assets acquired (see table below) 353
Excess purchase price over estimated fair value of net assets acquired $ 466

The purchase accounting adjustments related to the J&J acquisition have been recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The excess purchase
price over the fair value of net assets acquired and non-controlling interest has been recorded to goodwill. The goodwill arising from the J&J acquisition consists largely of the
synergies and opportunities to deliver premier engineering services, base support operations and facilities maintenance services. Of the goodwill generated, approximately
$115 million is deductible for tax purposes.

71



The acquired assets and assumed liabilities of J&J were recorded at their estimated fair values. The purchase price allocation for the business combination is primarily
for intangibles and subject to change within the respective measurement period which will not extend beyond one year from the acquisition date. Measurement period
adjustments will be recognized in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. Any such adjustments may be material.

The following table summarizes the fair values assigned to the identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date on February 27, 2024 (dollars in
millions):

Assets Acquired:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 26
Receivables, net 91
Contract assets 19
Prepaid expenses 2
Other current assets 2
Property and equipment, net 11
Other intangible assets, net 297
Operating lease assets 6
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 20
Other assets, net 10
Total assets acquired 484
Liabilities Assumed:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 56
Compensation and employee benefits payable 10
Contract liabilities 1
Income taxes payable 1
Other current liabilities 3
Non-current operating lease liabilities 3
Deferred tax liabilities, net 48
Other liabilities 3
Total liabilities assumed 125
Non-controlling Interest Acquired 6
Estimated Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired $ 353

In connection with the J&J acquisition, below is a summary of the value allocated to the intangible assets acquired (dollars in millions):

As of December 31, 2024
Amount
Assigned at
Amortization Acquisition Net Carrying
Asset Class Period Date Accumulated Amortization Value
Customer relationships 9-12 years $ 174§ 12 s 162
Backlog 4-6 years 111 21 90
Trademark 3 years 10 3 7
Technology 5 years 2 — 2

The fair value of customer relationships and backlog was determined using the Multi-Period Excess Earnings Method (MPEEM), a form of the Income Approach. The
MPEEM is a specific application of the Discounted Cash Flow Method. The principle behind the MPEEM is that the value of an intangible asset is equal to the present value of
the incremental cash flows attributable only to the subject intangible asset. This estimation used certain unobservable key inputs such as timing of projected cash flows, growth
rates, expected contract renewal probabilities, discount rates, and the assessment of useful life.
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The fair value of the trademark and the existing technology was determined by using the Relief-from-Royalty Method, a form of the Income Approach, and relied on
key unobservable inputs such as timing of the projected cash flows, growth rates, and royalty rates. The basic tenet of the Relief-from-Royalty Method is that without ownership
of the subject intangible asset, the user of that intangible asset would have to make a stream of payments to the owner of the asset in return for the rights to use that asset. By
acquiring the intangible asset, the user avoids these payments.

Unaudited pro forma results, assuming the J&J acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2023 for purposes of the pro forma disclosures for the years ended December
31, 2024 and 2023 are presented below. They include certain adjustments for increased amortization expense related to the intangible assets acquired (approximately $3 million
and $19 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively) as well as increased interest expense related to the long-term financing (approximately $ million and $28 million in 2024 and
2023, respectively). Direct transaction and integration costs of $25 million as well as the tax impact of all pro forma adjustments are also included in the unaudited pro forma
results.

These unaudited pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of what operating results would have been
had the J&J acquisition occurred on January 1, 2023 and may not be indicative of future operating results (dollars in millions, except share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Revenue $ 35839 § 32,411
Operating income 1,431 1,079
Net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. 979 933
Basic income per share:

Net income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 320 8 3.03

Weighted average shares outstanding for basic income per share 305,859,458 308,430,080
Diluted income per share:

Net income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 3.18 8 2.99

Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted income per share 308,033,612 312,550,942

2024 Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the company completed nine in-fill business acquisitions, includingthree in the Advisory Services segment andsix in the
Global Workplace Solutions segment, with an aggregate purchase price of approximately $315 million in cash and non-cash consideration. Assets acquired primarily relate to
intangible assets (customer relationships, backlog, trademarks and goodwill); other assets and liabilities assumed are working capital in nature. The results of operations of all
acquisitions completed during the year ended 2024 have been included in the company’s consolidated financial results since their respective acquisition dates. These
acquisitions were not significant in relation to the company’s consolidated financial results and, therefore, pro-forma financial information has not been presented.

The following table identifies the company’s allocation of purchase price to goodwill and other intangible assets by category (dollars in millions):

Amount Assigned at Acquisition ‘Weighted-Average Life
Date (in years)
Goodwill $ 130 N/A
Customer relationships 148 12 years
Other intangible assets 16 2 years
Total $ 294
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2023 Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the company completedsixteen in-fill business acquisitions, includingnine in the Advisory Services segment, six in the
Global Workplace Solutions segment and one in the Real Estate Investments segment, with an aggregate purchase price of approximately $312 million in cash and non-cash
consideration. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are primarily working capital in nature. The results of operations of all acquisitions completed during the year ended 2023
have been included in the company’s consolidated financial results since their respective acquisition dates. These acquisitions were not significant in relation to the company’s
consolidated financial results and, therefore, pro-forma financial information has not been presented.

The following table identifies the company’s allocation of purchase price to goodwill and other intangible assets by category (dollars in millions):

Amount Assigned at Acquisition ‘Weighted-Average Life
Date (in years)
Goodwill $ 199 N/A
Customer relationships 75 10 years
Other intangible assets 7 4 years
Total $ 281

2022 Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the company did not have acquisitions that were deemed material either individually or in the aggregate.
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5. Warehouse Receivables & Warehouse Lines of Credit

A roll forward of our warehouse receivables is as follows (dollars in millions):

Beginning balance at December 31, 2023 $ 675
Origination of mortgage loans 12,668
Gains (premiums on loan sales) 32
Proceeds from sale of mortgage loans:
Sale of mortgage loans (12,785)
Cash collections of premiums on loan sales (32)
Proceeds from sale of mortgage loans (12,817)
Net increase in mortgage servicing rights included in warehouse receivables 3
Ending balance at December 31, 2024 $ 561

The following table is a summary of our warehouse lines of credit in place as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in millions):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Maximum Maximum
Current Facility Carrying Facility Carrying
Lender Maturity Pricing Size Value Size Value
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (JP Morgan) 12/12/2025 daily floating Secured Overnight Financing Rate ~ § 1,310 $ 306 $ 1,335 § 613
(SOFR) plus 1.50%,
with a SOFR adjustment of 0.05%
JP Morgan (Business Lending Activity) 12/12/2025 daily floating SOFR plus 2.75%, 15 — 15 —
with a SOFR adjustment of 0.05%
JP Morgan (Bridge Loans) () 12/12/2025 daily floating SOFR plus 2.00%, 25 — — =
with a SOFR adjustment of 0.05%
Fannie Mae Multifamily As Soon As Pooled Plus Cancelable 1-month CME term SOFR plus 1.45%, 650 1 650 7
Agreement and Multifamily As Soon As Pooled Sale anytime with a SOFR floor of 0.25%
Agreement (ASAP) Program
TD Bank, N.A. (TD Bank) ¢ 7/15/2025 daily floating SOFR plus 1.25%, 900 103 600 28
with a SOFR adjustment of 0.10%
Bank of America, N.A. (BofA) @ 5/21/2025 daily floating SOFR plus 1.25%, 350 142 350 18
with a SOFR adjustment of 0.10%
BofA @ 5/21/2025 daily floating SOFR plus 1.25%, 250 — 250 —
with a SOFR adjustment of 0.10%
$ 3,500 $ 552§ 3,200 $ 666

(1 Effective December 13, 2024, this facility was renewed through December 12, 2025 and there were no changes to the SOFR rate or the SOFR adjustment rate at renewal. In addition, a Bridge Loan sublimit
was added with an interest rate of daily floating rate SOFR plus 2.00%. As of December 31, 2024, both sublimits were not utilized.

@ Effective October 1, 2024, this facility transitioned to using 1-month CME term SOFR rate.

& Effective July 31, 2024, this facility was renewed with a maximum aggregate principal amount of $ 300 million, with an uncommitted $300 million temporary line of credit and a maturity date of July 15,
2025. The SOFR rate was adjusted to 1.25%. The SOFR adjustment rate remained at 0.10% with the extension. Effective October 30, 2024, the accordion option was used to temporarily increase the line
from $300 million to $600 million until January 28, 2025.

®  Effective May 22, 2024, this facility was renewed to May 21, 2025 and there were no changes to the SOFR rate or the SOFR adjustment rate at renewal.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we had a maximum of $1.8 billion of warehouse lines of credit principal outstanding.
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6. Variable Interest Entities

We hold variable interests in certain VIEs primarily in our Real Estate Investments segment which are not consolidated as it was determined that we are not the
primary beneficiary. Our involvement with these entities is in the form of equity co-investments and fee arrangements. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our maximum
exposure to loss related to the VIEs that are not consolidated was as follows (dollars in millions):

December 31,

2024 2023
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries $ 192§ 165
Other current assets 13
Co-investment commitments 37 58
Maximum exposure to loss $ 242§ 223

7. Fair Value Measurements

Topic 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. Topic 820 also establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize
the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

*  Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

*  Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for
identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

* Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This includes
certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

The following tables present the fair value of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in millions):

December 31, 2024
Fair Value Measured and Recorded Using
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Available for sale debt securities:
U.S. treasury securities $ 3 8 — 8 — 3 3
Corporate debt securities — 33 — 33
Asset-backed securities — 7 _ 7
Total available for sale debt securities 3 40 — 43
Equity securities 18 = = 18
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 100 — 412 512
‘Warehouse receivables — 561 — 561
Derivative assets — 43 — 43
Other assets — — 46 46
Total assets at fair value $ 121 $ 644  § 458  § 1,223
Liabilities
Contingent consideration — — 36 36
Total liabilities at fair value $ — $ — 8 36§ 36
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December 31, 2023
Fair Value Measured and Recorded Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Auvailable for sale debt securities:
U.S. treasury securities $ 12 — 3 — 3 12
Debt securities issued by U.S. federal agencies — 11 — 11
Corporate debt securities — 44 — 44
Asset-backed securities — 1 — 1
Total available for sale debt securities 12 56 = 68
Equity securities 41 — — 41
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 168 — 477 645
Warehouse receivables — 675 — 675
Other assets — — 16 16
Total assets at fair value $ 221 $ 731 $ 493 § 1,445
Liabilities
Contingent consideration — — 36 36
Derivative liabilities — 5 — 5
Total liabilities at fair value $ — 8 5 8§ 36 8 41

Fair value measurements for our available for sale debt securities are obtained from independent pricing services which utilize observable market data that may
include quoted market prices, dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. treasury yield curve, trading levels, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information
and the instrument’s terms and conditions.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded a gain of 84 million associated with remeasuring our50% investment in a previously unconsolidated
subsidiary to fair value as of the date we acquired the remaining 50% controlling interest. Fair value of this investment in unconsolidated subsidiary at acquisition date was
$37 million, based upon the purchase price paid for the remaining50% interest acquired, which falls under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Such gain was reflected in other
income in our Advisory Services segment in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The equity securities are generally valued at the last reported sales price on the day of valuation or, if no sales occurred on the valuation date, at the mean of the bid and
ask prices on such date. The above tables do not include $148 million and $143 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to our capital investments in
certain non-public entities as they are non-marketable equity investments accounted for under the measurement alternative, defined as cost minus impairment. These
investments are included in “other assets, net” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The fair values of warehouse receivables are primarily calculated based on locked in purchase prices. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, all of the warehouse
receivables included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were either under commitment to be purchased by Freddie Mac or had confirmed forward trade
commitments for the issuance and purchase of Fannie Mae or Ginnie Mae mortgage backed securities that will be secured by the underlying loans (See Note 2 — Significant
Accounting Policies and Note 5 — Warehouse Receivables & Warehouse Lines of Credit). These assets are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as a substantial
majority of inputs are readily observable.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries at fair value using NAV were $78 million and $352 million, respectively, and
investments at fair value using NAV which are not accounted for under the equity method were $21 million and $19 million, respectively. These investments fall under practical
expedient rules that do not require them to be included in the fair value hierarchy and as a result have been excluded from the tables above.
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The tables below present a reconciliation for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) (dollars in
millions):

Investment in

Unconsolidated
Subsidiaries Other Assets Contingent Consideration
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 461 $ 14 S 41
Transfer in (out) — (10)
Net change in fair value 16 5 (6)
Purchases/ Additions — 7 20
Sales / Payments = — (19)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 477 16 36
Transfer in (out) = — —
Net change in fair value (65) 18 (5)
Purchases/ Additions = 12 11
Sales / Payments — — (6)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 412§ 46 S 36
Net change in fair value, included in the table above, is reported in Net income as follows:
Category of Assets/Liabilities using Unobservable Inputs C lidated Fi ial S s
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries Equity (loss) income from unconsolidated subsidiaries
Other assets (liabilities) Other income (loss)
Contingent consideration (short-term) Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Contingent consideration (long-term) Other liabilities

The table below presents information about the significant unobservable inputs used for recurring fair value measurements for certain Level 3 instruments as of
December 31, 2024:

Valuation Technique Unobservable Input
Investment in lidated subsidiaries Discounted cash flow Discount rate 13 %
Monte Carlo Volatility 62 %
Other assets Discounted cash flow Discount rate 13 %
Contingent consideration Monte Carlo Volatility 21 %
Discount rate 5%
Discounted estimated payments () Discount rate 5% - 6%

@ As of December 31, 2024, discounted estimated payments for Contingent Consideration had a weighted average of 6%.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded non-cash asset impairment charges of $ million related to one of our equity method investments. There were
no asset impairment charges or other significant non-recurring fair value measurements recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded non-cash asset impairment charges of $9 million. Approximately $ 10 million of such charges related to the
exit of our Advisory Services business in Russia (primarily comprised of receivables), and $26 million and $22 million related to goodwill and trade name impairment charges,
respectively. The goodwill and the trade name impairment charges represent a full impairment of such assets associated with the Telford Homes business in our Real Estate
Investments segment. The charges were attributable to the effects of elevated inflation on construction, materials and labor costs which increased Telford Homes’ risk as the
contractor and reduced the profitability of current projects. The fair value measurements employed for our impairment evaluation of goodwill were based on a discounted cash
flow approach and a relief from royalty fair value method for the trade name. Significant inputs used in the evaluation included a risk-free rate of return, estimated risk
premium, terminal growth rates, working capital assumptions, royalty rate, income tax rates as well as other economic variables. These asset impairment charges were included
within the line item “Asset impairments” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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FASB ASC Topic 825, “Financial Instruments,” requires disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Our financial instruments are as follows:

e Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash — These balances include cash and cash equivalents as well as restricted cash with maturities of less than
three months. The carrying amount approximates fair value due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

*  Receivables, less Allowance for Doubtful Accounts— Due to their short-term nature, fair value approximates carrying value.

*  Warehouse Receivables — These balances are carried at fair value. The primary source of value is either a contractual purchase commitment from Freddie Mac or a
confirmed forward trade commitment for the issuance and purchase of a Fannie Mae or Ginnie Mae MBS (see Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies and
Note 5 — Warehouse Receivables & Warehouse Lines of Credit).

*  Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries — A portion of these investments are carried at fair value as discussed above. It includes our equity investment and
related interests in both public and non-public entities. Our ownership of common shares in Altus Power, Inc. (Altus) is considered level 1 and is measured at fair
value using a quoted price in an active market. Our ownership of alignment shares of Altus and our investment in Industrious and certain other non-controlling
equity investments are considered level 3 which are measured at fair value using Monte Carlo and discounted cash flows. The valuation of Altus’ common shares
and alignment shares are dependent on its stock price which could be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to various market conditions. Transfer out
activities from level 3 represents annual conversion of a portion of our alignment shares in Altus to its common shares (see Note 10 — Investments in
Unconsolidated Subsidiaries).

*  Available for Sale Debt Securities— Primarily held by our wholly-owned captive insurance company, these investments are carried at their fair value.
*  Equity Securities — Primarily held by our wholly-owned captive insurance company, these investments are carried at their fair value.

*  Other Assets and Liabilities — Includes the fair value of the unfunded commitment related to a revolving facility designated as Level 3. Valuations are based on
discounted cash flow techniques, for which the significant inputs are the amount and timing of expected future cash flows, market comparables and recovery
assumptions.

e Derivative assets and liabilities — The fair value of cross-currency swaps reflects the net present value of expected payments and receipts under the swap agreement
based on the market’s expectation of future spot foreign currency exchange rates. Additional inputs to the net present value calculation may include the contract
terms, counterparty credit risk and discount rates. These are designated as Level 2.

*  Contingent Consideration— The fair values of contingent consideration related to business acquisitions are estimated using Monte Carlo simulations or the
probability-weighted present value of estimated future payments resulting from the achievement levels of financial targets.

*  Short-Term Borrowings — The majority of this balance represents outstanding amounts under our warehouse lines of credit of our wholly-owned subsidiary,
CBRE Capital Markets, and our revolving credit facilities. Due to the short-term nature and/or variable interest rates of these instruments, fair value approximates
carrying value (see Note 5 — Warehouse Receivables & Warehouse Lines of Credit and Note 11 — Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings).
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e Senior Term Loans and Senior Notes — The table below presents the estimated fair value and actual carrying value of our long-term debt (net of unamortized
discount and unamortized debt issuance costs) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in millions). The estimated fair value is determined based on dealers’
quotes (which falls within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy). The actual carrying value is presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs and discount (see
Note 11 — Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings).

Estimated Fair Value Carrying Value
Financial instrument December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Senior term loans $ 708 § 746 $ 718 $ 752
5.950% senior notes 1,033 1,049 976 974
4.875% senior notes 600 600 599 597
5.500% senior notes 509 — 496 —
2.500% senior notes 426 424 492 490

*  Notes Payable on Real Estate — As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the carrying value of our notes payable on real estate, net of unamortized debt issuance costs,
was $196 million and $124 million, respectively, and are included in other current liabilities and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
These borrowings have either fixed interest rates or floating interest rates at spreads added to a market index. Although it is possible that certain portions of our
notes payable on real estate may have fair values that differ from their carrying values, based on the terms of such loans as compared to current market conditions,
or other factors specific to the borrower entity, we do not believe that the fair value of our notes payable is significantly different than their carrying value.

8. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following (dollars in millions):

December 31,

Useful Lives 2024 2023

Computer hardware and software 2-10 years $ 1,489 § 1,341
Leasehold improvements 1-15 years 716 658
Furniture and equipment 1-10 years 351 298
Construction in progress N/A 153 186
Total cost 2,709 2,483
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,795 1,576
Property and equipment, net $ 914 § 907

Depreciation and amortization expense associated with property and equipment was $297 million, $290 million and $261 million for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. There were no asset impairment charges related to property and equipment during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Construction in progress includes capitalizable costs incurred during the development stage of computer software and leasehold improvements that have not yet been
placed in service.
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9. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Our annual assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives has historically been completed as of the beginning of the fourth quarter
of each year. We performed the 2024, 2023 and 2022 annual assessments as of October 1 and determined that no impairment existed as the estimated fair value of our reporting
units was in excess of their carrying value.

During 2022, we identified a triggering event due to changing market conditions in our Real Estate Investments segment for the Telford Homes business. We recorded
a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $26 million associated with this reporting unit attributable to the effects of elevated inflation on construction, materials and labor
costs, driving an increase in Telford Homes’ risk as the contractor and reducing the profitability of current projects.

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in millions):

Global
Adyvisory Workplace Real Estate
Services Solutions Investments Total
Balance as of December 31, 2022
Goodwill $ 3283 §$ 2,110 $ 595 § 5,988
Accumulated impairment losses (762) (175) (183) (1,120)
2,521 1,935 412 4,868
Acquisitions 91 93 3 187
Foreign exchange movement 9 57 8 74
Balance as of December 31, 2023
Goodwill 3,383 2,260 606 6,249
Accumulated impairment losses (762) (175) (183) (1,120)
2,621 2,085 423 5,129
Acquisitions 8 589 = 597
Foreign exchange movement (33) (60) (12) (105)
Balance as of December 31, 2024
Goodwill 3,358 2,789 594 6,741
Accumulated impairment losses (762) (175) (183) (1,120)
$ 2,596 $ 2,614 $ 411 $ 5,621

Other intangible assets totaled $2.3 billion, net of accumulated amortization of $2.5 billion as of December 31, 2024, and $2.1 billion, net of accumulated amortization
of $2.2 billion as of December 31, 2023 and are comprised of the following (dollars in millions):

December 31,
2024 2023
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Unamortizable intangible assets:
Management contracts $ 58 $ 62
Trademarks 309 317
367 379
Amortizable intangible assets:
Customer relationships 2,021 $ (1,031) 1,727 $ (893)
Mortgage servicing rights 1,134 (648) 1,055 (556)
Trademarks/Trade names 342 (177) 315 (147)
Management contracts 133 (133) 122 (121)
Other 795 (505) 662 (462)
4,425 (2,494) 3,881 (2,179)
Total intangible assets $ 4,792 $ (2,494) § 4260 $ (2,179)
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Indefinite-lived intangible assets include management contracts identified as a result of the ING Group N.V. (ING) Real Estate Investment Management (REIM)
operations in Europe and Asia, as well as substantially all of Clarion Real Estate Securities (CRES) in 2011 (collectively referred to as the REIM Acquisitions) relating to
relationships with open-end funds, a trademark separately identified as a result of the CBRE Services, Inc. (CBRE Services) in 2001 (the 2001 Acquisition), a trade name
separately identified in connection with the REIM Acquisitions and a trademark separately identified as part of the Turner & Townsend transaction.

Customer relationships relate to existing relationships acquired through acquisitions mainly in our Global Workplace Solutions segment that are being amortized over
useful lives of up to 20 years.

Mortgage servicing rights represent the carrying value of servicing assets in the U.S. in our Advisory Services segment. The mortgage servicing rights are being
amortized over the estimated period that net servicing income is expected to be received, which is typically up to 10 years. See Mortgage Servicing Rights discussion within
Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies for additional information.

Trademarks are primarily from our 2015 acquisition of the Global Workplace Solutions business from Johnson Controls, Inc., which are being amortized over20
years. During 2022, we recorded a non-cash impairment of approximately $22 million for trademarks associated with our Telford Homes business in the Real Estate
Investments segment due to the impact of the inflationary conditions on construction materials negatively impacting cash flows (see Note 7 — Fair Value Measurements).

Management contracts consist primarily of asset management contracts relating to relationships with closed-end funds and separate accounts in the U.S., Europe and
Asia that were separately identified as a result of the REIM Acquisitions. These management contracts are being amortized over useful lives of up to 13 years.

Other amortizable intangible assets mainly represent upfront transition costs incurred to obtain or fulfill contracts prior to services being rendered which primarily get
amortized to cost of revenue over the life of the associated contract. It also includes a backlog related intangible identified as part of the Turner & Townsend transaction.

Amortization expense related to intangible assets, excluding amortization of transition costs, was $863 million, $322 million and $348 million for the years ended

December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The estimated annual amortization expense, excluding amortization of transition costs, for each of the years ending December
31, 2025 through December 31, 2029 and thereafter approximates $339 million, $281 million, $243 million, $191 million, $165 million and $529 million, respectively.
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10. Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Our investment ownership percentages in equity method
investments vary, generally ranging from 1% to 50%. The following table represents the composition of investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries under the equity method of
accounting and fair value option (dollars in millions):

December 31,

Investment type 2024 2023
Real Estate Investments (in projects and funds) $ 702§ 661
Investment in Altus:
Class A common stock () 100 168
Alignment shares @ 15 56
Subtotal 115 224
Other ® 478 489
Total investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries $ 1,205 § 1,374

() CBRE held 24,557,823 and 24,556,012 shares of Altus Class A common stock as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, representing approximate ownership of 15.4%.

@ The alignment shares, also known as Class B common shares, will automatically convert into Altus Class A common stock based on the achievement of certain total return thresholds on Altus Class A
common stock as of the relevant measurement date over the seven fiscal years following the merger. At March 31, 2024 (the third measurement date), 201,250 of alignment shares automatically converted
into 2,011 shares of Class A common stock, of which CBRE was entitled to 1,811 shares.

3 Consists of our investments in Industrious and other non-public entities.
Combined condensed financial information for the entities accounted for using the equity method is as follows (dollars in millions):

December 31,

2024 2023

Combined Condensed Balance Sheets Information:
Current assets $ 3804 $ 8,884
Non-current assets 51,600 44,116

Total assets $ 55,404 $ 53,000
Current liabilities $ 3378 $ 1,905
Non-current liabilities 17,701 17,288

Total liabilities $ 21,079 $ 19,193
Non-controlling interests $ 951 § 1,065

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Combined Condensed Statements of Operations Information:
Revenue $ 4,026 $ 7,178  $ 2,783
Operating income 1,479 4,984 1,215
Net (loss) income () (648) 760 4,102

(M Included in Net (loss) income are realized and unrealized earnings and losses in investments in unconsolidated investment funds and realized earnings and losses from sales of real estate projects in
investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries. These realized and unrealized earnings and losses are not included in Revenue and Operating income.
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Our Real Estate Investments segment invests our own capital in certain real estate investment funds with clients. We provided investment management, property
management, brokerage and other professional services in connection with these real estate investments and earned revenues from these unconsolidated subsidiaries of
$333 million, $279 million and $269 million during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We had receivables of $156 million and $83 million at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, from these entities. Additionally, in our global development business, we earned development and construction management
revenues and received reimbursements for costs from these unconsolidated subsidiaries of $114 million, $165 million and $148 million during the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022. We had receivables of $19 million and $30 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, from these entities.

11. Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings

Total long-term debt and short-term borrowings consist of the following (dollars in millions):

December 31,
2024 2023
Long-Term Debt

Senior term loans due in 2028 $ 720 $ 755
5.950% senior notes due in 2034 1,000 1,000
4.875% senior notes due in 2026 600 600
5.500% senior notes due in 2029 500 —
2.500% senior notes due in 2031 500 500
Total long-term debt 3,320 2,855
Less: current maturities of long-term debt 36 9
Less: unamortized discount 30 31
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs 9 11
Total long-term debt, net of current maturities $ 3245 § 2,804

Short-Term Borrowings
Warehouse lines of credit, with interest ranging from 5.65% to 8.15%, due in 2025 $ 552§ 666
Commercial paper program, with interest of 4.77% 175 —
Revolving credit facility, with interest of 7.50% 132 —
Other 47 16
Total short-term borrowings $ 906 § 682

Future annual aggregate maturities of total consolidated gross debt (excluding unamortized discount, premium and debt issuance costs) at December 31, 2024 are as
follows (dollars in millions):

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter

Future maturities of total consolidated gross debt $ 942 $ 638 $ 38 $ 608 $ 500 $ 1,500

Long-Term Debt

We maintain credit facilities with third-party lenders, which we use for a variety of purposes. On July 10, 2023, CBRE Group, Inc., CBRE Services, Inc. (CBRE
Services) and Relam Amsterdam Holdings B.V., a wholly-owned subsidiary of CBRE Services, entered into a new 5-year senior unsecured Credit Agreement (2023 Credit
Agreement) maturing on July 10, 2028, which refinanced and replaced a prior credit agreement. The 2023 Credit Agreement provides for a senior unsecured term loan credit
facility comprised of (i) tranche A Euro-denominated term loans in an aggregate principal amount of € 367 million and (ii) tranche A U.S. Dollar-denominated term loans in an
aggregate principal amount of $350 million, both requiring quarterly principal payments beginning on December 31, 2024 and continuing through maturity on July 10, 2028.
The proceeds of the term loans under the 2023 Credit Agreement were applied to the repayment of all remaining outstanding senior term loans under the prior 2022 Credit
Agreement, the payment of related fees and expenses and other general corporate purposes. We entered into a cross-currency swap to hedge the associated foreign currency
exposure related to this transaction.
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Borrowings denominated in euros under the 2023 Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to (i) the applicable percentage plus (ii) at our option, either (1) the
EURIBOR rate for the applicable interest period or (2) a rate determined by reference to Daily Simple Euro Short-Term Rate (ESTR). Borrowings denominated in U.S. dollars
under the 2023 Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to (i) the applicable percentage, plus (ii) at our option, either (1) the Term SOFR rate for the applicable interest
period plus 10 basis points (Adjusted Term SOFR) or (2) a base rate determined by the reference to the greatest of (x) the prime rate, (y) the federal funds rate plus 1/2 of 1%
and (z) the sum of (A) Term SOFR rate published by CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited for an interest period of one month and (B) 1.00%. The applicable rate for
borrowings under the 2023 Credit Agreement is determined by reference to our Credit Rating (as defined in the 2023 Credit Agreement). As of December 31, 2024, we had (i)
$374 million of euro term loan borrowings outstanding under the 2023 Credit Agreement (at an interest rate of1.25% plus EURIBOR) and (ii) $344 million of U.S. Dollar term
loan borrowings outstanding under the 2023 Credit Agreement (at an interest rate of 1.25% plus Adjusted Term SOFR), net of unamortized debt issuance costs, included in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The term loan borrowings under the 2023 Credit Agreement are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. and CBRE Services.

The 2023 Credit Agreement also requires us to maintain a minimum coverage ratio of consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the 2023 Credit Agreement) to consolidated
interest expense of 2.00x and a maximum leverage ratio of total debt less available cash to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the 2023 Credit Agreement) 0f4.25x (and in the
case of the first four full fiscal quarters following consummation of a qualified acquisition (as defined in the 2023 Credit Agreement), 4.75x) as of the end of each fiscal quarter.
In addition, the 2023 Credit Agreement also contains other customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of default. We were in compliance with the covenants
under this agreement as of December 31, 2024.

On February 23, 2024, CBRE Services issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.500% senior notes due April 1, 2029 (the 5.500% senior notes) at a
price equal to 99.837% of their face value. The5.500% senior notes are unsecured obligations of CBRE Services, senior to all of its current and future subordinated
indebtedness. The 5.500% senior notes are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. Interest accrues at a rate 0f5.500% per year and is payable semi-annually in
arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, beginning on October 1, 2024. The 5.500% senior notes are redeemable at our option, in whole or in part, on or after March 1,
2029 at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount on that date, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the date of redemption. At any time prior to
March 1, 2029, we may redeem all or a portion of the notes at a redemption price equal to the greater of (1) 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed and (2)
the sum of the present value at the date of redemption of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon to March 1, 2029, assuming the notes matured on
March 1, 2029, discounted to the date of redemption on a semi-annual basis at an adjusted rate equal to the treasury rate plus 20 basis points, minus accrued interest to the date
of redemption, plus, in either case, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.

On June 23, 2023, CBRE Services issued $1.0 billion in aggregate principal amount 0f5.950% senior notes due August 15, 2034 (the 5.950% senior notes) at a price
equal to 98.174% of their face value. The 5.950% senior notes are unsecured obligations of CBRE Services, senior to all of its current and future subordinated indebtedness. The
5.950% senior notes are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. Interest accrues at a rate 0f5.950% per year and is payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15
and August 15 of each year, beginning on February 15, 2024. The 5.950% senior notes are redeemable at our option, in whole or in part, on or after May 15, 2034 at a
redemption price of 100% of the principal amount on that date, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the date of redemption. At any time prior to May 15,
2034, we may redeem all or a portion of the notes at a redemption price equal to the greater of (1) 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed and (2) the sum of
the present value at the date of redemption of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon to May 15, 2034, assuming the notes matured on May 15,
2034, discounted to the date of redemption on a semi-annual basis at an adjusted rate equal to the treasury rate plus 40 basis points, minus accrued interest to the date of
redemption, plus, in either case, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.
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On March 18, 2021, CBRE Services issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of2.500% senior notes due April 1, 2031 (the 2.500% senior notes) at a price
equal to 98.451% of their face value. The 2.500% senior notes are unsecured obligations of CBRE Services, senior to all of its current and future subordinated indebtedness. The
2.500% senior notes are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. Interest accrues at a rate 0f2.500% per year and is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and
October 1 of each year. The 2.500% senior notes are redeemable at our option, in whole or in part, on or after January 1, 2031 at a redemption price o 00% of the principal
amount on that date, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the date of redemption. At any time prior to January 1, 2031, we may redeem all or a portion of
the notes at a redemption price equal to the greater of (1) 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed and (2) the sum of the present value at the date of
redemption of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon to January 1, 2031, assuming the notes matured on January 1, 2031, discounted to the date of
redemption on a semi-annual basis at an adjusted rate equal to the treasury rate plus 20 basis points, minus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the date of redemption,
plus, in either case, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date.

On August 13, 2015, CBRE Services issued $600 million in aggregate principal amount 0f4.875% senior notes due March 1, 2026 (the4.875% senior notes) at a price
equal to 99.24% of their face value. The 4.875% senior notes are unsecured obligations of CBRE Services, senior to all of its current and future subordinated indebtedness. The
4.875% senior notes are guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. Interest accrues at a rate of4.875% per year and is payable semi-annually in arrears on March 1 and
September 1 of each year. The 4.875% senior notes are redeemable at our option, in whole or in part, prior to December 1, 2025 at a redemption price equal to the greater of (1)
100% of the principal amount of the 4.875% senior notes to be redeemed and (2) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest
thereon to December 1, 2025 (not including any portions of payments of interest accrued as of the date of redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a semi-annual
basis at the Adjusted Treasury Rate (as defined in the indenture governing these notes). In addition, at any time on or after December 1, 2025, the 4.875% senior notes may be
redeemed by us, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but excluding) the date of
redemption. If a change of control triggering event (as defined in the indenture governing these notes) occurs, we are obligated to make an offer to purchase the then outstanding
4.875% senior notes at a redemption price of101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase.

The indentures governing our5.950% senior notes, 5.500% senior notes, 4.875% senior notes and 2.500% senior notes (1) contain restrictive covenants that, among
other things, limit our ability to create or permit liens on assets securing indebtedness, enter into sale/leaseback transactions and enter into consolidations or mergers, and (2)
require that the notes be jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior basis by CBRE Group, Inc. and any domestic subsidiary that guarantees the 2023 Credit Agreement or the
Revolving Credit Agreement. The indentures also contain other customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of default. We were in compliance with the covenants
under our debt instruments as of December 31, 2024.

Short-Term Borrowings

We had short-term borrowings of $906 million and $682 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, with related weighted average interest rates of'5.8%
and 6.8%, respectively, which are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Revolving Credit Agreement

On August 5, 2022, we entered into a new 5-year senior unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement (the Revolving Credit Agreement). The Revolving Credit Agreement
provides for a senior unsecured revolving credit facility available to CBRE Services with commitments in an aggregate principal amount of up to $3.5 billion and a maturity date
of August 5, 2027. Borrowings bear interest at (i) CBRE Services’ option, either (a) a Term SOFR rate published by CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited for the
applicable interest period or (b) a base rate determined by reference to the greatest of (1) the prime rate determined by Wells Fargo, (2) the federal funds rate plus 1/2 of 1% and
(3) the sum of (x) a Term SOFR rate published by CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited for an interest period of one month and (y) 1.00% plus (ii) 10 basis points,
plus (iii) a rate equal to an applicable rate (in the case of borrowings based on the Term SOFR rate, 0.630% to 1.100% and in the case of borrowings based on the base rate,
0.0% to 0.100%, in each case, as determined by reference to our Debt Rating (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement)). The applicable rate is also subject to certain
increases and/or decreases specified in the Revolving Credit Agreement linked to achieving certain sustainability goals.
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The Revolving Credit Agreement requires us to pay a fee based on the total amount of the revolving credit facility commitment (whether used or unused). In addition,
the Revolving Credit Agreement also includes capacity for letters of credit not to exceed $300 million in the aggregate.

The Revolving Credit Agreement also requires us to maintain a minimum coverage ratio of consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) to
consolidated interest expense of 2.00x and a maximum leverage ratio of total debt less available cash to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement)
of 4.25x (and in the case of the first four full fiscal quarters following consummation of a qualified acquisition (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement),4.75x) as of the
end of each fiscal quarter. In addition, the Revolving Credit Agreement also contains other customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of default. We were in
compliance with the covenants under this agreement as of December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, $132 million was outstanding under the revolving credit facility provided for by the Revolving Credit Agreement. No letters of credit were
outstanding as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, no amount was outstanding under this revolving credit facility. Letters of credit are issued in the ordinary
course of business and would reduce the amount we may borrow under this revolving credit facility.

Commercial Paper Program

On December 2, 2024, CBRE Services established a commercial paper program pursuant to which we may issue and sell up to $.5 billion of short-term, unsecured
and unsubordinated commercial paper notes with up to 397-day maturities, under the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. Amounts available under the program may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed from time to time. Payment of the commercial paper notes is guaranteed on an
unsecured and unsubordinated basis by CBRE Group, Inc. The program notes and the guarantee will rank pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.
The proceeds from issuances under the program may be used for general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2024, we had $175 million in borrowings outstanding under
our commercial paper program with a weighted average annual interest rate of 4.77%. At any point in time, the company intends to maintain available commitments under the
Revolving Credit Agreement in an amount at least equal to the amount of the commercial paper notes outstanding.

Turner & Townsend Revolving Credit Facility

Turner & Townsend maintains a £120 million revolving credit facility pursuant to a credit agreement dated March 31, 2022, with an additional accordion option of
£20 million, that matures on March 31, 2027. As of December 31, 2024, $4 million (£35 million) was outstanding under this revolving credit facility bearing interest at
SONIA plus 0.78%. As of December 31, 2023, $10 million (£8 million) was outstanding under this revolving credit facility.

Warehouse Lines of Credit

CBRE Capital Markets has warehouse lines of credit with third-party lenders for the purpose of funding mortgage loans that will be resold, and a funding arrangement
with Fannie Mae for the purpose of selling a percentage of certain closed multifamily loans to Fannie Mae. These warehouse lines are recourse only to CBRE Capital Markets

and related subsidiaries, based on the related deal type, which are secured by our related warehouse receivables. See Note 5 — Warehouse Receivables & Warehouse Lines of
Credit for additional information.
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12. Leases

Supplemental balance sheet information related to our leases is as follows (dollars in millions):

December 31,

Category Classification 2024 2023
Assets
Operating Operating lease assets 1,198 $ 1,030
Financing Other assets, net 260 210
Total leased assets 1,458 § 1,240
Liabilities
Current:
Operating Operating lease liabilities 200 $ 242
Financing Other current liabilities 43 36
Non-current:
Operating Non-current operating lease liabilities 1,307 1,089
Financing Other liabilities 122 72
Total lease liabilities 1,672 § 1,439
Components of lease cost are as follows (dollars in millions):
Year Ended December 31,
Component Classification 2024 2023
Operating lease cost Operating, administrative and other 230 $ 220
Financing lease cost:
Amortization of right-to-use assets 0 41 36
Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense 3 1
Variable lease cost @ 129 115
Sublease income Revenue (8) (5)
Total lease cost 395§ 367

@ Amortization costs of $27 million and $25 million from vehicle finance leases utilized in client outsourcing arrangements are included in the “Cost of revenue” line item in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Amortization costs of $ 14 million and $11 million from all other finance leases are included in the “Depreciation
and amortization” line item in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

@ Variable lease costs of $33 million and $24 million from leases in client outsourcing arrangements are included in the “Cost of revenue” line item in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Variable lease costs of $96 million and $64 million from all other leases are included in the “Operating, administrative and other” line item in

the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate for our operating and finance leases are as follows:

Weighted-average remaining lease term:

Operating leases (

Financing leases @
Weighted-average discount rate:

Operating leases ()

Financing leases @

December 31,

2024 2023
39 years 41 years
60 years 71 years

52% 4.8%

5.3% 5.2%

(1 Operating leases as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 include three 90+ year leases on real estate under development. If excluded, the weighted-average remaining lease term would be 9 years and 7 years
and weighted-average discount rate would be 4.3% and 3.5% as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

@ Finance leases as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 included a 99-year lease on real estate held for investment. If excluded, the weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate
would be 3 years and 3.1%, respectively, as of December 31, 2024 and 3 years and 2.5%, respectively, as of December 31, 2023. This excludes certain land leases up to 999 years held by our U.K.

development business.
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Maturities of lease liabilities by fiscal year as of December 31, 2024 are as follows (dollars in millions):

2025

2026

2027

2028

2029

Thereafter

Total remaining lease payments at December 31, 2024

Less: Interest

Present value of lease liabilities at December 31, 2024

Supplemental cash flow information and non-cash activity related to our operating and financing leases are as follows (dollars in millions):

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases
Operating cash outflows from financing leases
Financing cash outflows from financing leases
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new financing lease liabilities
Other non-cash increases in operating lease right-of-use assets ()
Other non-cash (decreases) increases in financing lease right-of-use assets ()

(M The non-cash activity in the right-of-use assets resulted from lease modifications/remeasurements and terminations.
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Operating Financing
Leases Leases
199 43
232 37
222 30
185 19
164 8
1,574 296
2,576 433
1,069 268
1,507 165
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
238 237
4 3
44 38
216 154
113 54
166 6
(12) 100



13. Commitments and Contingencies

We are a party to a number of pending or threatened lawsuits arising out of, or incident to, our ordinary course of business. We believe that any losses in excess of the
amounts accrued as liabilities on our consolidated financial statements are unlikely to be significant, but litigation is inherently uncertain and there is the potential for a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements if one or more matters are resolved in a particular period in an amount materially in excess of what we anticipated.

In January 2008, CBRE MCI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CBRE Capital Markets, entered into an agreement with Fannie Mae under Fannie Mae’s Delegated
Underwriting and Servicing Lender Program (DUS Program) to provide financing for multifamily housing with five or more units. Under the DUS Program, CBRE MCI
originates, underwrites, closes and services loans without prior approval by Fannie Mae, and typically, is subject to sharing up to one-third of any losses on loans originated
under the DUS Program. CBRE MCI has funded loans with unpaid principal balances of $45.5 billion at December 31, 2024, of which $42.1 billion is subject to such loss
sharing arrangements. CBRE MCI, under its agreement with Fannie Mae, must post cash reserves or other acceptable collateral under formulas established by Fannie Mae to
provide for sufficient capital in the event losses occur. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, CBRE MCI had $ 160 million and $140 million, respectively, of letters of credit
under this reserve arrangement and had recorded a liability of approximately $63 million and $67 million, respectively, for its loan loss guarantee obligation under such
arrangement. Fannie Mae’s recourse under the DUS Program is limited to the assets of CBRE MCI, which assets totaled approximately $1.8 billion (including $232 million of
warehouse receivables, which are pledged against warehouse lines of credit and are therefore not available to Fannie Mae) at December 31, 2024.

CBRE Capital Markets participates in Freddie Mac’s Multifamily Small Balance Loan (SBL) Program. Under the SBL program, CBRE Capital Markets has certain
repurchase and loss reimbursement obligations. We could potentially be obligated to repurchase any SBL loan originated by CBRE Capital Markets that remains in default for
120 days following the forbearance period, if the default occurred during the first 12 months after origination and such loan had not been earlier securitized. In addition, CBRE
Capital Markets may be responsible for a loss not to exceed 10% of the original principal amount of any SBL loan that is not securitized and goes into default after the 12-
month repurchase period. CBRE Capital Markets must post a cash reserve or other acceptable collateral to provide for sufficient capital in the event the obligations are
triggered. As of both December 31, 2024 and 2023, CBRE Capital Markets had posted a $5 million letter of credit under this reserve arrangement.

Letters of credit

We had outstanding letters of credit totaling $272 million as of December 31, 2024, excluding letters of credit for which we have outstanding liabilities already
accrued on our consolidated balance sheets related to our subsidiaries’ outstanding reserves for claims under certain insurance programs as well as letters of credit related to
operating leases. The CBRE Capital Markets letters of credit totaling $165 million as of December 31, 2024 referred to in the preceding paragraphs represented the majority of
the $272 million outstanding letters of credit as of such date. The remaining letters of credit are primarily executed by us in the ordinary course of business and expire at the end
of each of the respective agreements.

Guarantees

We had guarantees totaling $211 million as of December 31, 2024, excluding guarantees related to pension liabilities, operating leases, consolidated indebtedness and
other obligations for which we have outstanding liabilities already accrued on our consolidated balance sheets. The $211 million primarily represents guarantees executed by us
in the ordinary course of business, including various guarantees of management and vendor contracts in our operations overseas, which expire at the end of each of the
respective agreements.

In addition, as of December 31, 2024, we had issued numerous non-recourse carveout, completion and budget guarantees relating to development projects for the
benefit of third parties. These guarantees are commonplace in our industry and are made by us in the ordinary course of our REI business. Non-recourse carveout guarantees
generally require that our project-entity borrower not commit specified improper acts, with us potentially liable for all or a portion of such entity’s indebtedness or other
damages suffered by the lender if those acts occur. Completion and budget guarantees generally require us to complete construction of the relevant project within a specified
timeframe and/or within a specified budget, with us potentially being liable for costs to complete in excess of such timeframe or budget. While there can be no assurance, we do
not expect to incur any material losses under these guarantees.
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Performance and payment bonds

In the ordinary course of business, we are required by certain customers to provide performance and payment bonds for contractual commitments related to our
projects. These bonds provide a guarantee to the customer that the company will perform under the terms of a contract and that we will pay our subcontractors and vendors. If
we fail to perform under a contract or to pay our subcontractors and vendors, the customer may demand that the surety make payments or provide services under the bond. We
must reimburse the surety for expenses or outlays it incurs. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, outstanding performance and payment bonds approximated $808 million and
$242 million, respectively.

Deferred and contingent consideration

The purchase price for our business acquisitions often includes deferred and contingent consideration. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had short-term deferred
and contingent consideration of $199 million and $264 million, respectively, which was included within Accounts payable and accrued expenses, and long-term deferred and
contingent consideration of $93 million and $266 million, respectively, which was included within Other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Indirect Taxes

The company is subject to indirect taxes, including sales and use tax in the United States and value-add tax in certain foreign jurisdictions in which it conducts
business. The Company has indirect tax liabilities totaling $91 million and $3 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Indirect tax liabilities are adjusted
considering changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax examination, further interpretation of existing tax law, or new tax law. We are currently under audit in
several jurisdictions. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 450, “Contingencies,” the company establishes accruals for contingencies, including uncertainties related to taxes
not based on income, when the company believes it is probable that a loss has been incurred, and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

Other

An important part of the strategy for our REI segment involves co-investing our capital in certain real estate investments with our clients. For our investment funds, we
generally co-invest a minority interest of the equity in a particular fund. As of December 31, 2024, we had aggregate future commitments of $205 million related to co-
investment funds. Additionally, we make selective investments in real estate development projects on our consolidated account or co-invest with our clients with up to 50% of
the project’s equity as a principal in unconsolidated real estate projects. We had unfunded capital commitments of $330 million and $67 million to consolidated and
unconsolidated projects, respectively, as of December 31, 2024.

Also refer to Note 22 — Telford Fire Safety Remediation for the details relating to the provision.
14. Employee Benefit Plans
Stock Incentive Plans

2017 Equity Incentive Plan

Our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2017 Plan) was adopted by our board of directors and approved by our stockholders on May 19, 2017. The 2017 Plan authorized
the grant of stock-based awards to our employees, directors and independent contractors. Our 2017 Plan was terminated in May 2019 in connection with the adoption of our
2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2019 Plan), which is described below. At termination of the 2017 Plan, no unissued shares from the 2017 Plan were allocated to the 2019
Plan for potential future issuance. As of December 31, 2024, no restricted stock unit (RSU) awards to acquire shares of our Class A common stock granted under the 2017 Plan
remain outstanding according to their terms, and we will not issue any further shares under this plan. Shares underlying awards outstanding under the 2017 Plan at termination
that are subsequently canceled, forfeited or terminated without issuance to the holder thereof will be available for grant under the 2019 Plan.
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2019 Equity Incentive Plan

Our 2019 Plan was adopted by our board of directors on March 1, 2019 and approved by our stockholders on May 17, 2019. The 2019 Plan authorizes the grant of
stock-based awards to employees, directors and independent contractors. Unless terminated earlier, the 2019 Plan will terminate on March 1, 2029. A total of 9,900,000 shares
of our Class A common stock are reserved for issuance under the 2019 Plan, less 189,499 shares granted under the 2017 Plan between March 1, 2019, the date our board of
directors approved the plan, and May 17, 2019, the date our stockholders approved the 2019 Plan. Additionally, as mentioned above, shares underlying awards outstanding
under the 2017 Plan at termination that are subsequently canceled, forfeited or terminated without issuance to the holder thereof will be available for reissuance under the 2019
Plan. On May 27, 2022, an additional 7,700,000 shares of our Class A common stock was reserved for issuance under the 2019 Plan. As of December 31, 2024,996,395 shares
were cancelled and 1,601,597 shares were withheld for payment of taxes under the 2017 Plan and added to the authorized pool for the 2019 Plan, bringing the total authorized
amount under the 2019 Plan to 20,008,493 shares of our Class A common stock.

Shares underlying expired, canceled, forfeited or terminated awards under the 2019 Plan (other than awards granted in substitution of an award previously granted),
plus those utilized to pay tax withholding obligations with respect to an award (other than an option or stock appreciation right) will be available for reissuance. Awards granted
under the 2019 Plan are subject to a minimum vesting condition of one year. As of December 31, 2024, assuming the maximum number of shares under our performance-based
awards will later be issued, 9,014,472 shares remained available for future grants under this plan.

The number of shares issued or reserved pursuant to the 2017 Plan and 2019 Plan are subject to adjustment on account of a stock split of our outstanding shares, stock
dividend, dividend payable in a form other than shares in an amount that has a material effect on the price of the shares, consolidation, combination or reclassification of the
shares, recapitalization, spin-off, or other similar occurrences.

Non-Vested Stock Awards

We have issued non-vested stock awards, including RSUs and restricted shares, in our Class A common stock to certain of our employees, independent contractors
and members of our board of directors. The following is a summary of the awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

*  During the year ended December 31, 2024, we granted RSUs that are performance vesting in nature, with826,883 reflecting the maximum number of RSUs that
may be issued if all of the performance targets are satisfied at their highest levels, and 1,168,506 RSUs that are time vesting in nature.

*  During the year ended December 31, 2023, we granted RSUs that are performance vesting in nature, with896,742 reflecting the maximum number of RSUs that
may be issued if all of the performance targets are satisfied at their highest levels, and 1,216,384 RSUs that are time vesting in nature.

*  During the year ended December 31, 2022, we granted RSUs that are performance vesting in nature, with1,223,849 reflecting the maximum number of RSUs that
may be issued if all of the performance targets are satisfied at their highest levels, and 1,154,113 RSUs that are time vesting in nature.

Our annual performance-vesting awards generally vest in full three years from the grant date, based on our achievement against various performance targets. Our time-
vesting awards generally vest 25% per year over four years from the grant date.

We made a special grant of RSUs under our 2017 Plan (2017 Special RSU grant) to certain of our employees, witl3,288,618 reflecting the maximum number of RSUs
that may be issued if all of the performance targets are satisfied at their highest levels, and 939,605 RSUs that are time vesting in nature. During 2021, we granted additional
RSUs under this program to certain of our employees, with 146,080 reflecting the maximum number of RSUs that may be issued if all of the performance targets are satisfied at
their highest levels. There were no time vesting RSUs associated with the 2021 grants. As a condition to this 2017 Special RSU grant, each participant has agreed to execute a
Restrictive Covenants Agreement. Each 2017 Special RSU grant (except the ones granted during 2021, which are all performance based) consisted of:

(i) Total Shareholder Return (TSR) Performance RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant. The actual number of TSR
Performance RSUs that vested on December 1, 2023, was determined by measuring our cumulative TSR against the cumulative TSR of each of the other companies
comprising the S&P 500 on the grant date (the Comparison Group) over a six-year measurement period
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commencing on the grant date and ending on December 1, 2023. For purposes of measuring TSR, the initial value of our common stock was the average closing
price of such common stock for the 60 trading days immediately preceding the grant date and the final value of our common stock was the average closing price of
such common stock for the 60 trading days immediately preceding December 1, 2023.

(ii) Time Vesting RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant.

(iii) EPS Performance RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant. The actual number of EPS Performance RSUs that will vest is
determined by measuring our cumulative adjusted income per share growth against the cumulative EPS growth, as reported under GAAP (GAAP EPS), of each of
the other members of the Comparison Group over a six-year measurement period commencing on January 1, 2018 and ending on December 31, 2023.

The Time Vesting and TSR Performance RSUs subject to the 2017 Special RSU grants vested on December 1, 2023, while the EPS Performance RSUs subject to the
2017 Special RSU grants vested on December 31, 2023.

We granted RSUs under our 2019 Plan (Segment RSU Grant) to certain of our employees in Advisory Services and GWS segments in 2021 and 2022, withl,630,846
reflecting the maximum number of RSUs that may be issued if all of the performance targets are satisfied at their highest levels, and 465,956 RSUs that are time vesting in
nature. As a condition to this Segment RSU grant, each participant has agreed to execute a Restrictive Covenants Agreement. Each Segment RSU grant consisted of:

(i) Segment Performance RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant. The actual number of Segment Performance RSUs that
will vest is determined by measuring growth in certain segment specific metrics such as client operating profit, segment operating profit and major markets over a
five-year measurement period commencing on January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2026.

(ii) Time Vesting RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant, which cliff vests on November 10, 2026.

(iii) EPS Performance RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant. The actual number of EPS Performance RSUs that will vest is
determined by measuring our cumulative adjusted earnings per share growth against the cumulative EPS growth, as reported under GAAP, to a comparative group
comprised of each of the other companies comprising the S&P 500 on the grant date over a five-year measurement period commencing on January 1, 2022 and
ending on December 31, 2026.

In February 2022, we made a special grant of RSUs under our 2019 Plan (2022 Special RSU grant) to our CEO, witl88,715 reflecting the maximum number of RSUs
that may be issued if all of the performance targets are satisfied at their highest levels, and 25,347 RSUs that are time vesting in nature. As a condition to this 2022 Special RSU
grant, the CEO has agreed to execute a Restrictive Covenants Agreement. This 2022 Special RSU grant consisted of:

(i) Total Shareholder Return (TSR) Performance RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant. The actual number of TSR
Performance RSUs that will vest is determined by measuring our cumulative TSR against the cumulative TSR of each of the other companies comprising the S&P
500 on the Grant Date (the Comparison Group) over a five-year measurement period commencing on January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2026. For
purposes of measuring TSR, the initial value of our common stock was the average closing price of such common stock for the 60 trading days immediately
preceding January 1, 2022, and the final value of our common stock will be the average closing price of such common stock for the 60 trading days immediately
preceding December 31, 2026.

(ii) Time Based RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant, vesting on February 25, 2027.

(iii) EPS Performance RSUs with respect t033.3% of the total number of target RSUs subject to the grant. The actual number of EPS Performance RSUs that will vest is
determined by measuring our cumulative adjusted income per share growth against the cumulative EPS growth, as reported under GAAP (GAAP EPS), of each of
the other members of the Comparison Group over a five-year measurement period commencing on January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2026. These RSUs
vest on December 31, 2026.
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In March 2024, we issued a portion of the 2024 annual performance awards under our 2019 Plan with TSR conditions, with385,878 reflecting the maximum number
of RSUs that may be issued if all of the performance targets are satisfied at their highest levels.

We estimated the fair value of the TSR Performance RSUs referred to above on the date of the grant using a Monte Carlo simulation with the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2022
Volatility of common stock 29.9 % 35.6 %
Expected dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 %
Risk-free interest rate 42 % 1.8 %
A summary of the status of our non-vested stock awards is presented in the table below:
‘Weighted Average
Market Value
Shares/Units Per Share
Balance at December 31, 2021 6,848,791 $ 64.10
Granted 1,796,196 95.01
Performance award achievement adjustments 409,851 77.99
Vested (1,372,123) 57.74
Forfeited (269,636) 79.33
Balance at December 31, 2022 7,413,079 73.67
Granted 1,664,755 78.46
Performance award achievement adjustments 365,965 81.14
Vested (4,001,675) 59.62
Forfeited (221,545) 81.14
Balance at December 31, 2023 5,220,579 86.17
Granted 1,609,510 95.89
Performance award achievement adjustments (302,282) 111.72
Vested (1,729,161) 75.67
Forfeited (341,324) 89.27
Balance at December 31, 2024 4,457,322 91.78

Total compensation expense related to non-vested stock awards was $146 million, $96 million and $160 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively. At December 31, 2024, total unrecognized estimated compensation cost related to non-vested stock awards was approximately $ 186 million, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.3 years.

Bonuses

We have bonus programs covering select employees, including senior management. Awards are based on the position and performance of the employee and the
achievement of pre-established financial, operating and strategic objectives. The amounts charged to operating expense for bonuses were $727 million, $697 million and
$843 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

401(k) Plan

Our CBRE 401(k) Plan (401(k) Plan) is a defined contribution savings plan that allows participant deferrals under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC).
Most of our U.S. employees, other than qualified real estate agents having the status of independent contractors under section 3508 of the IRC of 1986, as amended, and non-
plan electing union employees, are eligible to participate in the plan. The 401(k) Plan provides for participant contributions as well as a company match. A participant is allowed
to contribute to the 401(k) Plan from 1% to 75% of his or her compensation, subject to limits imposed by applicable law. Active participants vest in company match
contributions at 33% per year for each plan year they are employed. For 2022, we contributed a67% match on the first 6% of annual compensation for participants with an
annual base
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salary of less than $100,000 and we contributed a 50% match on the first 6% of annual compensation for participants with an annual base salary of $100,000 or more, or who
are commissioned employees (up to $6,000 of compensation). For 2024 and 2023, we contributed67% on the first 6% of eligible compensation contributed to the plan (up to
$6,000) for all employees regardless of base compensation or commissioned status. In connection with the 401(k) Plan, we charged to expense §21 million, $108 million and
$91 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Participants are entitled to invest up t025% of their 401(k) account balance in shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2024, approximatelyl.0 million
shares of our common stock were held as investments by participants in our 401(k) Plan.
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Pension Plans

We have two primary non-U.S. contributory defined benefit pension plans (major plans), both based in the U.K. Our subsidiaries maintain these plans to provide
retirement benefits to existing and former employees participating in these plans. With respect to these plans, our historical policy has been to contribute annually to the plans,
an amount to fund pension liabilities as actuarially determined and as required by applicable laws and regulations. Our contributions to these plans are invested by the plan
trustee and, if these investments do not perform well in the future, we may be required to provide additional contributions to cover any pension underfunding. Effective July 1,
2007, we reached agreements with the active members of these plans to freeze future pension plan benefits. In return, the active members became eligible to enroll in a defined
contribution plan. For these plans, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair values of pension plan assets were $262 million and $243 million, respectively, and the fair
values of projected benefit obligations were $236 million and $267 million, respectively. As a result, these plans were overfunded by approximately $26 million and
underfunded by approximately $24 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The projected benefit obligation on the major plans included £7 million of gains due
to actuarial assumptions in 2024 and $7 million of losses due to plan experience in 2023.

Items not yet recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost (benefit) for the major plans were $125 million and $132 million as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively, and were included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

During the fourth quarter of 2024, the trustees of the major pension plans entered into a buy-in agreement with a third-party insurance company. The buy-in
arrangement is an insurance contract providing substantially all future benefit plan payments to the pension plan participants. However, the primary benefit obligation remains
with the Company. The buy-in arrangement also allows for the possible future conversion into a buy-out arrangement where the insurance company would assume full
responsibility for the pension plan obligations, at which time the Company would derecognize the assets and liabilities of the pension plan and realize a settlement loss as a
component of the net periodic pension cost.

As of December 31, 2024, for all plans where total projected benefit obligations exceed plan assets, projected benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets were
$113 million and $51 million, respectively, and $374 million and $295 million as of December 31, 2023, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, for all plans where total accumulated benefit obligations exceed plan assets, accumulated benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets
were $96 million and $51 million, respectively, and $361 million and $295 million as of December 31, 2023, respectively.

Net periodic pension cost (benefit) for all plans was $18 million, $20 million, and $(3) million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The following table provides amounts recognized related to all of our defined benefit pension plans within the following captions on our consolidated balance sheets
(dollars in millions):

December 31,
2024 2023
Other assets, net $ 64§ 41
Other liabilities 70 85

The following table presents estimated future benefit payments as of December 31, 2024. We will fund these obligations from the assets held by these plans. If the
assets these plans hold are not sufficient to fund these payments, the company will fund the remaining obligations (dollars in millions):

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter
Estimated future benefit payments for defined benefit plans $ 48 $ 47 8 47 $ 48 8 48 $ 270
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15. Income Taxes

The components of income before provision for income taxes consisted of the following (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Domestic $ 326 $ 665 $ 1,275
Foreign 892 612 383
Total $ 1,218 § 1,277 $ 1,658

Our tax provision (benefit) consisted of the following (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Current provision:
Federal $ 48 8 98 §$ 338
State 60 31 99
Foreign 268 242 208
Total current provision 376 371 645
Deferred provision:
Federal (57) 4) (249)
State (33) 4 (56)
Foreign (104) (121) (106)
Total deferred provision (194) (121) (411)
Total provision for income taxes $ 182§ 250 $ 234

The following is a reconciliation stated as a percentage of pre-tax income of the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate to our effective tax rate:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Federal statutory tax rate 21 % 21 % 21 %
Foreign rate differential (1) (1)
State taxes, net of federal benefit 2 2 3
Nontaxable or nondeductible items 1 3 2
Reserves for uncertain tax positions “4) — 1
Tax credits (5) (5) 2)
Outside basis differences recognized as a result of a legal entity restructuring — — (10)
Other 1 1) 1)

Effective tax rate 15 % 19 % 14 %

In 2022, we recognized a net tax benefit of approximately $166 million attributable to outside basis differences recognized as a result of a legal entity restructuring.
The recognition of the outside tax basis differences generated a capital loss that offset capital gains generated during 2022. The remaining capital loss will be carried back and
then forward to offset future capital gains. Based on our strong history of capital gains in the prior three years and the nature of our business, we expect to generate sufficient
capital gains in the five-year carry forward period and therefore concluded that it is more likely than not that we will realize the full tax benefit from the capital loss carried
forward. Accordingly, we have not provided any valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset for the capital loss carried forward.
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Cumulative tax effects of temporary differences are shown below (dollars in millions):

December 31,
2024 2023
Assets:
Tax losses and tax credits $ 591 $ 506
Operating lease liabilities 407 343
Bonus and deferred compensation 372 334
Bad debt and other reserves 130 117
All other 295 188
Deferred tax assets, before valuation allowance $ 1,795 $ 1,488
Less: Valuation allowance (396) (357)
Deferred tax assets $ 1,399 § 1,131
Liabilities:
Property and equipment (34) (55)
Unconsolidated affiliates and partnerships (104) (115)
Capitalized costs and intangibles (555) (531)
Operating lease assets (351) (286)
All other (64) (38)
Deferred tax liabilities $ (1,108) $ (1,025)
Net deferred tax assets $ 291 § 106

As of December 31, 2024, there were deferred tax assets before valuation allowances of approximately $30 million related to U.S. federal, state, and foreign net
operating losses (NOLs). The majority of the NOLs are carried forward indefinitely and primarily related to the foreign jurisdictions. In certain foreign jurisdictions NOLs
expire each year beginning in 2024. The utilization of NOLs may be subject to certain limitations under U.S. federal, state and foreign laws. As of December 31, 2024, we had a
U.S. federal and state capital loss carryforward, net of reserves for uncertain tax position, of approximately $42 million which will expire after 2027, and $24 million foreign tax
credits, which will expire after 2033. We have recorded a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets where we believe that it is more likely than not that the tax attributes will
not be utilized.

We determined as of December 31, 2024, $396 million of deferred tax assets do not satisfy the realization criteria set forth in Topic 740. Accordingly, a valuation
allowance has been recorded for this amount. If released, the entire amount would result in a benefit to continuing operations. During the year ended December 31, 2024, our
valuation allowance increased by approximately $39 million. The increase was attributed to a build in valuation allowance of $8 million due to current year activities, reversal
of the beginning of year valuation allowance of $4 million as certain foreign subsidiaries expect to utilize deferred tax assets before expiration as a result of current and
forecasted earnings within the applicable jurisdiction as well as expected utilization of U.S. foreign tax credits, and a decrease of $25 million due to foreign currency translation
and tax rate changes. We believe it is more likely than not that future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the benefit of our deferred tax assets recorded
as of December 31, 2024, net of valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2024, we have undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries of approximately $4.3 billion for which we have indefinitely reinvested and not
recognized deferred taxes. Estimating the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax is not practicable due to the complexity and variety of assumptions necessary to estimate the
tax. As of December 31, 2024, we have recorded $25 million of deferred tax liability relating to book over tax basis in Turner & Townsend undistributed earnings and for any
subsidiaries not considered indefinitely reinvested.

The total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was approximately $47 million and $413 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease
of $66 million resulted from a release of $80 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits due to audit closure, accrual of gross unrecognized tax benefits of 5 million, and a
release of $11 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits related to the expiration of statute of limitations in various tax jurisdictions. The total amount of unrecognized tax
benefits that would affect our effective tax rate, if recognized, is $216 million as of December 31, 2024.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Beginning balance, unrecognized tax benefits $ (413) § (391)
Gross increases - tax positions in prior period ) (12)
Gross decreases - tax positions in prior period 3 1
Gross increases - current-period tax positions (21) (18)
Decreases relating to settlements 80 —
Reductions as a result of lapse of statute of limitations 11 7
Foreign exchange movement 2 =
Ending balance, unrecognized tax benefits $ (347) 8 (413)

Our continuing practice is to recognize accrued interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters within income tax expense. During the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, we accrued an additional $4 million and $3 million, respectively, in interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions. As of December 31, 2024, we
have recognized a liability for interest and penalties of $10 million. We believe the amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits that will be settled during the next twelve months
due to filing amended returns and settling ongoing exams will not be significant.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in multiple state, local and foreign tax jurisdictions. We are under audit by
various states and cities including California, Massachusetts, New York, New York City, and Texas. We are also under audit by various foreign tax jurisdictions including
France, Germany, and Spain. With limited exception, our significant U.S. state and foreign tax jurisdictions are no longer subject to audit by the various tax authorities for tax
years prior to 2013 and 2017, respectively.
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16. Stockholders’ Equity

Our board of directors is authorized, subject to any limitations imposed by law, without the approval of our stockholders, to issue a total 025,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, in one or more series, with each such series having rights and preferences including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and
liquidation preferences, as our board of directors may determine. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, no shares of preferred stock have been issued.

Our board of directors is authorized to issue up t0525,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, $0.01 par value per share (common stock), of which
302,052,229 shares and 304,889,140 shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Stock Repurchase Program

On November 21, 2024, our board of directors authorized an additional $.0 billion to our existing $4.0 billion share repurchase program (as amended, the 2024
program) bringing the total authorized amount under the 2024 program to a total of $9.0 billion as of December 31, 2024. The board also extended the term of the 2024 program
through December 31, 2029. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 5,110,624 shares of our common stock with an average price of §26.02 per share
using cash on hand for an aggregate of $644 million under the 2024 program. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, we repurchased7,867,348
shares and 22,890,606 shares of our common stock using cash on hand for an aggregate of $50 million and $1.9 billion.

Our stock repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any specific number of shares. Under this program, shares may be repurchased in privately negotiated
and/or open market transactions, including under plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our stock repurchases have been funded with
cash on hand and we intend to continue funding future repurchases with existing cash. We may utilize our stock repurchase programs to continue offsetting the impact of our
stock-based compensation program and on a more opportunistic basis if we believe our stock presents a compelling investment compared to other discretionary uses. The timing
of any future repurchases and the actual amounts repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including the market price of our common stock, general market and economic
conditions and other factors. As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $5.8 billion of capacity remaining under the 2024 program.

17. Income Per Share Information

The calculations of basic and diluted income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. stockholders are as follows (dollars in millions, except share and per share

data):
Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Basic Income Per Share
Net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. stockholders $ 968 § 986 § 1,407
Weighted average shares outstanding for basic income per share 305,859,458 308,430,080 322,813,345
Basic income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. stockholders $ 3.16 $ 320§ 4.36
Diluted Income Per Share
Net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. stockholders $ 968 $ 986 $ 1,407
Weighted average shares outstanding for basic income per share 305,859,458 308,430,080 322,813,345
Dilutive effect of contingently issuable shares 2,174,154 4,120,862 4,882,770
Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted income per share 308,033,612 312,550,942 327,696,115
Diluted income per share attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. stockholders $ 314§ 315§ 4.29

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,9,222, 338,711 and 1,312,197, respectively, of contingently issuable shares were excluded from the
computation of diluted income per share because their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect.
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18. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

We account for revenue with customers in accordance with Topic 606. Revenue is recognized when or as control of the promised services is transferred to our
customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to receive in exchange for those services.

Disaggregated Revenue

The following tables represent a disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by type of service and/or segment (dollars in millions):
Year Ended December 31, 2024

Global
Advisory Workplace Real Estate Corporate,
Services Solutions Investments other and eliminations C lidated
Topic 606 Revenue:
Facilities management — 17,227 — 3 — 3 17,227
Project management — 7,913 — — 7,913
Advisory leasing 3,932 — — — 3,932
Advisory sales 1,774 — — — 1,774
Property management 2,222 — — (17) 2,205
Valuation 751 — — — 751
Commercial mortgage origination () 196 — — — 196
Loan servicing @ 82 — — — 82
Investment management — — 650 — 650
Development services — — 373 — 373
Topic 606 Revenue 8,957 25,140 1,023 (17) 35,103
Out of Scope of Topic 606 Revenue:
Commercial mortgage origination 400 — — — 400
Loan servicing 249 — — — 249
Development services ) — — 15 — 15
Total Out of Scope of Topic 606 Revenue 649 — 15 — 664
Total Revenue 9,606 25,140 1,038 $ 17) $ 35,767
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Global
Adyvisory Workplace Real Estate Corporate,
Services Solutions Investments other and eliminations lidated
Topic 606 Revenue:
Facilities management — 3 15,205 — 8 — 3 15,205
Project management — 7,310 — — 7,310
Advisory leasing 3,503 — — 3 3,506
Advisory sales 1,611 — — — 1,611
Property management 1,928 — — (20) 1,908
Valuation 716 — — — 716
Commercial mortgage origination () 138 — — — 138
Loan servicing @ 73 — — — 73
Investment management — — 592 — 592
Development services — — 345 — 345
Topic 606 Revenue 7,969 22,515 937 (17) 31,404
Out of Scope of Topic 606 Revenue:
Commercial mortgage origination 286 — — — 286
Loan servicing 244 = = — 244
Development services ) — — 15 — 15
Total Out of Scope of Topic 606 Revenue 530 — 15 — 545
Total Revenue 8499 § 22,515 952 $ (17) $ 31,949
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Year Ended December 31, 2022

Global
Advisory ‘Workplace Real Estate Corporate,
Services Solutions Investments other and eliminations C lidated
Topic 606 Revenue:
Facilities management $ — $ 15201  § — 3 — 3 15,201
Project management — 4,650 — — 4,650
Advisory leasing 3,872 — — 3 3,875
Advisory sales 2,523 — — — 2,523
Property management 1,849 — — (19) 1,830
Valuation 765 — — = 765
Commercial mortgage origination () 274 — — — 274
Loan servicing @ 57 — — — 57
Investment management — — 595 — 595
Development services — — 404 — 404
Topic 606 Revenue 9,340 19,851 999 (16) 30,174
Out of Scope of Topic 606 Revenue:

Commercial mortgage origination 289 — — — 289
Loan servicing 254 — — — 254
Development services &) — — 111 — 111
Total Out of Scope of Topic 606 Revenue 543 — 111 — 654
Total Revenue $ 9,883 § 19,851 § 1,110 $ (16) $ 30,828

(1 We earn fees for arranging financing for borrowers with third-party lender contacts. Such fees are in scope of Topic 606.
@ Loan servicing fees earned from servicing contracts for which we do not hold mortgage servicing rights are in scope of Topic 606.
) Out of scope revenue for development services represents selling profit from transfers of sales-type leases in the scope of Topic 842.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

We had contract assets totaling $489 million ($400 million of which was current) and $518 million ($443 million of which was current) as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2024, our contract assets decreased by $29 million, primarily driven by decreases in our Real Estate Investments and
Advisory Services segments, partially offset by increases in our GWS segment.

We had contract liabilities totaling $375 million (all of which was current) and $304 million ($298 million of which was current) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized revenue of $214 million that was included in the contract liability balance at December 31, 2023.

Contract Costs

We capitalized $56 million, $40 million and $30 million, respectively, of transition costs during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. We recorded
amortization of transition costs of $36 million, $37 million and $42 million, respectively, during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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19. Segments

We organize our operations around, and publicly report our financial results on,three global business segments: (1) Advisory Services; (2) Global Workplace
Solutions and (3) Real Estate Investments. In addition, we also have a “Corporate, other and eliminations” segment. Our Corporate segment primarily consists of corporate costs
for leadership and certain other central functions. We track our strategic non-core equity investments in “other” which is considered an operating segment and reported together
with Corporate as it does not meet the aggregation criteria for presentation as a separate reportable segment. These activities are not allocated to the other business segments.
Corporate and other also includes eliminations related to inter-segment revenue.

Segment operating profit (SOP) is the measure reported to Bob Sulentic, CBRE’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO), who is our chief operating decision
maker (CODM) for purposes of assessing performance and making decisions about allocating resources to each segment. The CODM uses SOP results compared to prior
periods and previously forecasted amounts to assess performance and identify trends of ongoing operations within each segment. SOP excludes the impact of certain costs and
charges that may obscure the underlying performance of our businesses and related trends, including restructuring charges and other costs incurred, which are outside the
ordinary course of business. SOP represents earnings, inclusive of amounts attributable to non-controlling interests, before net interest expense, write-off of financing costs on
extinguished debt, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, and asset impairments. In addition, management excludes the following costs from SOP (“Other segment
adjustments”):

*  costs associated with efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives,

»  charges related to indirect tax audits and settlements,

» carried interest incentive compensation expense (reversal) to align with the timing of associated revenue,

* impact of fair value adjustments to real estate assets acquired in the Telford acquisition (purchase accounting) that were sold in the period,

*  costs incurred related to legal entity restructuring,

» integration and other costs related to acquisitions,

*  provision associated with Telford’s fire safety remediation efforts,

e one-time gain associated with remeasuring an investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary to fair value as of the date the remaining controlling interest was
acquired; and,

« the impact of fair value non-cash adjustments related to unconsolidated equity investments.

SOP for the three global business segments excludes the impact of corporate overhead as these costs are reported under Corporate and other. There have been no
significant changes to the measurement methods of expenses or methods of allocating expenses to segments during 2024.
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Summarized financial information by segment is as follows (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Net revenue

Pass-through costs also recognized as revenue
Total revenue

Cost of revenue

Operating expenses and allocations

Other adjustments to segment operating profit (loss):
Equity income (loss) from unconsolidated subsidiaries
Other income
Gain on disposition of real estate
Other segment adjustments (V)

Segment operating profit (loss)

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Net revenue

Pass-through costs also recognized as revenue
Total revenue

Cost of revenue

Operating expenses and allocations

Other adjustments to segment operating profit (loss):
Equity income from unconsolidated subsidiaries
Other income
Gain on disposition of real estate
Other segment adjustments

Segment operating profit (loss)

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Net revenue

Pass-through costs also recognized as revenue
Total revenue

Cost of revenue

Operating expenses and allocations

Other adjustments to segment operating profit (loss):
Equity income (loss) from unconsolidated subsidiaries
Other income (loss)
Gain on disposition of real estate
Other segment adjustments

Segment operating profit (loss)

(1 Other segment adjustments, as defined above.

Global

. Corporate,
ASi:irslz?s] ‘ggfli(tl;(l)?l';e Iﬁszlsfnfte?ltti other and le)iminaﬁons Consolidated
9,507 $ 10,340 § 1,038 § a7 s 20,868
99 14,800 — — 14,899
9,606 25,140 1,038 (17) 35,767
5,858 22,703 224 26 28,811
2,099 1,327 862 723 5,011
1 3) 117 (134) (19)
5 3 6 25 39
— — 142 — 142
40 91 44 305 480
1,695 § 1,201 § 261 $ (570) $ 2,587
Global
Advisory ‘Workplace Real Estate Corporate,
Services Solutions Investments other and eliminations Consolidated
8411 $ 8,930 § 952§ a7 s 18,276
88 13,585 — — 13,673
8,499 22,515 952 17) 31,949
5,147 20,345 186 3) 25,675
2,076 1,242 784 460 4,562
4 1 216 27 248
46 2 — 13 61
— — 27 — 27
38 75 14 66 193
1,364 $ 1,006 $ 239 $ (368) $ 2,241
Global
Advisory Workplace Real Estate Corporate,
Services Solutions Investments other and eliminations Consolidated
9811 § 7872 $ 1,110 § (16) $ 18,777
72 11,979 — — 12,051
9,883 19,851 1,110 (16) 30,828
5,980 17,948 322 (11) 24,239
2,055 1,080 1,082 432 4,649
15 1 380 (167) 229
1 7 (1) (19) (12)
— — 244 — 244
46 68 189 45 348
1910 $ 899 § 518  § (578) $ 2,749

@ Eliminations represent revenue from transactions between operating segments. See Note 18 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
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Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Depreciation and Amortization
Advisory Services $ 272§ 289 § 311
Global Workplace Solutions () 332 262 253
Real Estate Investments 13 15 16
Corporate, other and eliminations 57 56 33
Total depreciation and amortization $ 674 $ 622 $ 613
Equity (Loss) Income from Unconsolidated Subsidiaries
Advisory Services $ 1 $ 4 3 15
Global Workplace Solutions A3) 1 1
Real Estate Investments 117 216 380
Corporate, other and eliminations (134) 27 (167)
Total equity (loss) income from unconsolidated subsidiaries $ (19) $ 248§ 229

(0 Excludes $41 million, $46 million and $53 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of amortization on vehicle finance leases utilized in client outsourcing arrangements
and amortization of transition costs recorded in Cost of Revenue line item in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Reconciliation of total segment operating profit to net income is as follows (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net income attributable to CBRE Group, Inc. $ 968 $ 986 $ 1,407
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 68 41 17
Net income 1,036 1,027 1,424
Adjustments to increase (decrease) net income:
Depreciation and amortization 674 622 613
Asset impairments — — 59
Interest expense, net of interest income 215 149 69
Write-off of financing costs on extinguished debt — — 2
Provision for income taxes 182 250 234
Carried interest incentive compensation expense (reversal) to align with the timing of associated revenue 8 (7) ()
Integration and other costs related to acquisitions 93 62 40
Costs incurred related to legal entity restructuring 2 13 13
Costs associated with efficiency and cost-reduction initiatives 259 159 118
Impact of fair value non-cash adjustments related to unconsolidated equity investments 9 — —
Provision associated with Telford’s fire safety remediation efforts (V) 33 — 186
Charges related to indirect tax audits and settlements 76 — —
One-time gain associated with remeasuring an investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary to fair value as of the date the
remaining controlling interest was acquired = (34) —
gggggl of fair value adjustments to real estate assets acquired in the Telford Acquisition (purchase accounting) that were sold in B B )
Total segment operating profit $ 2,587 § 2241 $ 2,749

(M See Note 22 — Telford Fire Safety Remediation for additional information.

Our CODM is not provided with total asset information by segment and accordingly, does not measure or allocate total assets on a segment basis. As a result, we have
not disclosed any asset information by segment.
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Geographic Information

Revenue in the table below is allocated based upon the country in which services are performed (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Revenue
United States $ 20,162 $ 17,458 § 17,464
United Kingdom 4,968 4,393 4,084
All other countries 10,637 10,098 9,280
Total revenue $ 35,767 $ 31,949 § 30,828

On June 24, 2024, we announced plans to combine our project management business with our Turner & Townsend subsidiary and will create a new Project
Management segment. This transaction closed in the beginning of January 2025.

On January 16, 2025, we acquired the remaining equity interest in Industrious National Management, LLC (Industrious), a leading provider of flexible workplace
solutions. We previously invested in Industrious through an approximately 40% equity interest and a $100 million convertible note. In conjunction with the acquisition, we will
create a new business segment called Building Operations & Experience (BOE). This new segment will consist of CBRE’s enterprise facilities management, local facilities
management, property management and flexible workplace business lines, and will unify the company’s building operations, workplace experience and property management
capabilities across all property sectors and building types.

As a result of the establishment of the new BOE and Project Management segments, we will reorganize our operations and report our financial results based onfour
reportable segments — Advisory Services, Building Operations & Experience, Project Management and Real Estate Investments beginning in the first quarter of 2025.

20. Related Party Transactions

The accompanying consolidated balance sheets include loans to related parties, primarily employees other than our executive officers, of ¥80 million and
$733 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The majority of these loans represent sign-on and retention bonuses issued or assumed in connection with
acquisitions and prepaid commissions as well as prepaid retention and recruitment awards issued to employees. These loans are at varying principal amounts, bear interest at
rates up to 5.3% per annum and mature on various dates through 2034.

See Note 10 — Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries for additional details on related party revenue and receivables disclosure for the REI segment.
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21. Restructuring Activities

The company continued to execute various restructuring activities during 2024 to simplify management and workforce structure and improve efficiencies in its
operations.

The following tables present the detail of expenses incurred by segment (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Global
Advisory Workplace Real Estate
Services Solutions Investments Corporate Consolidated
Employee separation benefits $ 40 8 65 $ 308 71 3 179
Professional fees and other — — — 80 80
Total $ 40 8 65 § 3 $ 151 $ 259
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Global
Advisory Workplace Real Estate
Services Solutions Investments Corporate Consolidated
Employee separation benefits $ 26 $ 32§ 13§ 11 3 82
Lease exit costs 39 1 4 1 45
Professional fees and other 7 19 4 2 32
Subtotal 72 52 21 14 159
Depreciation expense 6 — 3 = 9
Total $ 78 8 52§ 24§ 14 8 168
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Global
Advisory Workplace Real Estate
Services Solutions Investments Corporate Consolidated
Employee separation benefits $ 33 8§ 20 $ 9 8 19 3 81
Lease exit costs 10 3 — — 13
Professional fees and other 3 5 3 13 24
Subtotal 46 28 12 32 118
Depreciation expense 5 3 — — 8
Total $ 51§ 31§ 12 8 32 8 126

The following table shows ending liability balances associated with major cash-based charges (dollars in millions):

Employee separation benefits Professional fees and other

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 37§ 10
Expense incurred 82 32
Payments made (106) (42)
Balance at December 31, 2023 13

Expense incurred 179 79
Payments made (146) (79
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 46 8

These restructuring activities are largely complete as of the end of fiscal year 2024.

Ending balance related to employee separation benefits is included in “Compensation and employee benefits payable” in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. Of the total employee separation benefits charges incurred, $64 million, $25 million and $32 million were included within the “Cost of revenue” line item, and
$115 million, $57 million and $50 million were included in the “Operating, administrative and other” line item in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 respectively.
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Ending balance related to professional fees and other is included in “Accounts payable and accrued expenses” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
majority of these charges are included within the “Operating, administrative and other” line item in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 respectively.

22. Telford Fire Safety Remediation

On April 28, 2022, Telford Homes signed the U.K. government’s non-binding Fire Safety Pledge (the Pledge) to comply with the Building Safety Act of 2022 (BSA).

The BSA introduced new laws related to building safety and the remediation of historic building safety defects, effectively requiring developers to remediate certain buildings
with critical fire safety issues. The BSA also retrospectively amended the Defective Premises Act of 1972 (DPA) to allow claims to be made within a 30-year limitation period
for dwellings completed before June 28, 2022. The U.K. government had previously established a Building Safety Fund (BSF) and an Aluminum Composite Material (ACM)
fund, whereby applicants to the fund would be funded by the government to remediate certain fire safety defects if certain criteria were met. On March 16, 2023, Telford Homes
entered into a legally binding agreement with the U.K. government, under which Telford Homes will (1) take responsibility for performing or funding remediation works
relating to certain life-critical fire-safety issues on all Telford Homes-constructed buildings of 11 meters in height or greater in England constructed in the last 30 years (in-scope
buildings) and (2) withdraw Telford Homes-developed buildings from the government-sponsored BSF and ACM Funds or reimburse the government funds for the cost of
remediation of in-scope buildings.

We believe there is an obligation attributable to past events, including as a result of retrospective changes in building fire-safety regulations, under the Pledge and the
legally binding agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2024, management substantially finalized the determination of in-scope buildings that require some level of
remediation with assistance from internal and external experts. We believe approximately 80 buildings are in-scope as compared to79 buildings deemed to be at risk at
December 31, 2023.

The accompanying consolidated balance sheets include an estimated liability of approximately $204 million (of which $102 million was current) and $192 million (of
which $82 million was current) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the remediation efforts. Thecurrent liability includes estimates related to remediation
activities we plan to perform within one year and the net amounts that the U.K. government has already paid or quantified through the BSF for remediation of Telford-
constructed buildings. The remaining balance represents estimates developed by Telford’s internal team and/or third-party experts for the remaining in-scope buildings. The
overall balance increased during 2024 based on additional information obtained and evaluations performed allowing for a more refined estimate on a building-by-building basis.

The estimated remediation costs for in-scope buildings are subjective, highly complex and dependent on a number of variables outside of Telford Homes’ control.
These include, but are not limited to, individual remediation requirements for each building, the time required for the remediation to be completed, cost of construction or
remediation materials, availability of construction materials, potential discoveries made during remediation that could necessitate incremental work, investigation costs,
availability of qualified fire safety engineers, potential business disruption costs, potential changes to or new regulations and regulatory approval. We will continue to assess new
information as it becomes available during the remediation process and adjust our estimated liability accordingly.

23. Subsequent Events

On January 1, 2025, we combined our project management business with our Turner & Townsend subsidiary and increased our ownership in the combined entity to
70%. In addition, on January 16, 2025, we also acquired the remaining equity interest in Industrious, a provider of premium flexible workplace solutions. For additional
information, see Note 19 — Segments of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)). The company’s management, with participation of the CEO and CFO, under the oversight of our Board,
evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, using the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that:

(1)  pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness towards future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Based on the evaluation under this framework, management concluded that the company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2024.

Our evaluation of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal control over financial reporting of J&J Worldwide Services (J&J), which we
acquired in the first quarter of 2024. The percentage of total assets and revenue attributable to the acquired J&J Worldwide Services (J&J) included in our consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024 was approximately 4% and 1%, respectively.

The effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein on page 55.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (certifying officers) have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d- 15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2024. Based on this evaluation, our certifying
officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of December 31, 2024.

Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act requires that we conduct an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report, and we have a disclosure policy in furtherance of the same. This evaluation is designed to ensure that all corporate disclosure is complete and
accurate in all material respects. The evaluation is further designed to ensure that all information required to be disclosed in our SEC reports is accumulated and communicated
to management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods and in the manner specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer supervise and participate in this evaluation, and they are assisted by members of our Disclosure Committee.
Our Disclosure Committee consists of our Chief Legal & Administrative Officer, our Chief Accounting Officer, and other select employees.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As described above, in the first quarter of 2024, we acquired J&J. As part of our ongoing integration activities, we continue to implement our controls and procedures
over J&J to reflect the risks inherent in our acquisition. Throughout the integration process, we monitor these efforts and take corrective action as needed to reinforce the
application of our controls and procedures. Other than the foregoing, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, ourChief Legal & Administrative Officer, Chad Doellinger, entered into a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (the Trading
Plan) to sell shares of the company’s Class A common stock. The Trading Plan is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c).

The table below provides certain information regarding Mr. Doellinger’s Trading Plan.

Maximum Number of Shares that May Be Sold
Name Plan Adoption Date Under the Plan Plan Expiration Date

Chad Doellinger 10/28/2024 2,769 May 15, 2026

Trading under the Trading Plan may commenceno sooner than March 11, 2025 and will end on the earlier of the applicable date set forth above and the date on which
all the shares in the Trading Plan are sold. Mr. Doellinger’s Trading Plan was adopted during an authorized trading period and when he was not in possession of material non-
public information. The transactions under Mr. Doellinger’s Trading Plan will be disclosed publicly through Form 144 and Form 4 filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information under the headings “Elect Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” “Executive Management” and “Stock Ownership” in the definitive proxy statement
for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2024.

We are filing the certifications by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as exhibits to this
Annual Report.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information contained under the headings “Corporate Governance,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Executive Compensation” in the definitive
proxy statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information contained under the heading “Stock Ownership” in the definitive proxy statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein
by reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2024. All outstanding awards relate to our Class A common

stock.
Number of Securities Remaining
Number of Securities to be ‘Weighted-average Exercise Available for Future Issuance under
Issued upon Exercise of Price of Outstanding Equity Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, Options, Warrants and (Excluding Securities Reflected in
Warrants and Rights Rights Column (a))
(a) (b) (¢)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders () 5,933,831 § = 9,014,472
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
5,933,831 $ — 9,014,472

Total

(M Consists of restricted stock units (RSUs) issued under our 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2019 Plan).

In addition:
e The figures in the foregoing table include:

° 3,159,985 RSUs that are performance vesting in nature, with the figures in the table reflecting the maximum number of RSUs that may be issued if all
performance-based targets are satisfied and

° 2,773,846 RSUs that are time vesting in nature.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information contained under the headings “Elect Directors,” “Corporate Governance” and “Related-Party Transactions” in the definitive proxy statement for our
2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information contained under the heading “Audit and Other Fees” in the definitive proxy statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
1. Financial Statements
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules located on page 52 of this report.
2. Financial Statement Schedules
See Schedule II located on page 119 of this report.
3. Exhibits
See Exhibit Index located on page 120 of this report.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

Not applicable.
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CBRE GROUP, INC.
SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(Dollars in millions)

Allowance for Doubtful

Accounts
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 97
Additions: Charges to expense 17
Deductions: Write-offs, payments and other 22
Balance, December 31, 2022 92
Additions: Charges to expense 34
Deductions: Write-offs, payments and other 24
Balance, December 31, 2023 102
Additions: Charges to expense 26
Deductions: Write-offs, payments and other 27
Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 101
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Exhibit
No.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

SEC File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

2.1

22

3.1

32
4.1
42(a)

4.2(b)

42(c)

4.2(d)

42(e)

4.3
10.1

Acquisition Agreement. dated as of July 26, 2021, among Turner &
Townsend Partners LLP. CBRE Titan Acquisition Co. Limited, CBRE
Group. Inc.

Amended and Restated Variation Agreement, dated as of November 9,
2021, between Turner & Townsend Partners LLP, CBRE Titan
Acquisition Co. Limited, CBRE Group, Inc. and Turner & Townsend
Holdings Limited

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CBRE Group,
Inc.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of CBRE Group. Inc.

Form of Class A common stock certificate of CBRE Group. Inc.
Indenture. dated as of March 14. 2013. among CBRE Group, Inc..
CBRE Services. Inc.. certain subsidiaries of CBRE Services. Inc. and
Wells Fargo Bank. National Association, as trustee

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 13. 2015, between
CBRE Services. Inc.. CBRE Group. Inc., certain subsidiaries of
CBRE Services. Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank. National Association, as
trustee, for the issuance of 4.875% Senior Notes due 2026. including
the Form of 4.875% Senior Notes due 2026

Seventh Supplemental Indenture. dated as of March 18, 2021, among
CBRE Group, Inc., CBRE Services. Inc., certain subsidiaries of
CBRE Services. Inc. named therein and Wells Fargo Bank. National
Association, as trustee, for the issuance of 2.500% Senior Notes due
2031, including the Form of 2.500% Senior Notes due 2031

Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 23, 2023, among
CBRE Group, Inc., CBRE Services. Inc. and Computershare Trust
Company. National Association, as successor to Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as trustee, for the issuance of 5.950% Senior
Notes due 2034, including the Form of 5.950% Senior Notes due 2034

Ninth Supplemental Indenture. dated as of February 23, 2024, among
CBRE Group, Inc., CBRE Services. Inc. and Computershare Trust
Company. National Association, as successor to Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association. as trustee, for the issuance of 5.500% Senior
Notes due 2029. including the Form of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2029
Description of Securities

Credit Agreement. dated as of July 10, 2023. among CBRE Group.
Inc.. CBRE Services. Inc.. Relam Amsterdam Holdings B.V.. the
lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank. National Association, as
administrative agent
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8-K

10-K

8-K

8-K
10-Q
10-Q

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

10-K
8-K

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205
001-32205
001-32205

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205
001-32205

2.1

2.4

3.1

3.1
4.1
4.4(a)

42

42

42

42

4.3
10.1

07/29/2021

03/01/2022

05/23/2018

11/21/2024
08/09/2017
05/10/2013

08/13/2015

03/18/2021

06/23/2023

02/23/2024

03/02/2020
07/10/2023



https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001138118/000119312521228071/d858009dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000113811822000010/cbre-20211231x10kxex24.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312518172133/d510412dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312523279883/d946850dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000156459017016641/cbg-ex41_356.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312513213389/d497915dex44a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312515289984/d96320dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312521085986/d129456dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312523173924/d466062dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312524044484/d788609dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000156459020008056/cbre-ex43_339.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312523184581/d532598dex101.htm

Exhibit
No.

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

SEC File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

10.2

10.3

10.6

10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15
10.16
10.17

10.18

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2023, among Relam
Amsterdam Holdings B.V.. CBRE Services, Inc.. CBRE Group. Inc.
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of August 5. 2022, among
CBRE Group. Inc.. CBRE Services, Inc.. the lenders party thereto, the
issuing banks party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent

Amendment No. 1. dated as of May 3. 2023. to the Revolving Credit
Agreement dated as of August 5. 2022, among CBRE Group, Inc.
CBRE Services. Inc., the lenders party thereto. the issuing banks party
thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative
agent

Amendment No. 2. dated as of November 19, 2024, to the Revolving
Credit Agreement dated as of August 5. 2022, among CBRE Group.
Inc.. CBRE Services, Inc., the lenders party thereto, the issuing banks
party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent

Holdings Guaranty Agreement, dated as of August 5. 2022, among
CBRE Group. Inc.. CBRE Services, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association. as administrative agent.

CBRE Group. Inc. Executive Bonus Plan +
Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Officers +
Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Officers +

CBRE Group. Inc. Amended and Restated 2019 Equity Incentive Plan
T

Form of Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the
CBRE Group. Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (Non-Employee
Director) +

Form of Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the
Amended and Restated CBRE Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan
(Time Vesting RSU)

Form of Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the
Amended and Restated CBRE Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan
(Core EPS Performance Vesting RSU)

Form of Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the
Amended and Restated CBRE Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan
(Relative TSR Performance Vesting RSU)

CBRE Deferred Compensation Plan, effective January 1. 2019 +
CBRE Adoption Agreement +

CBRE Group. Inc. Amended and Restated Change in Control and
Severance Plan for Senior Management. including form of Designation
Letter +

Form of Restricted Covenants Agreement +
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8-K

8-K

10-Q

8-K
8-K

10-Q
S-8

10-K

8-K

10-K
10-K
10-Q

10-K

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205
001-32205
001-32205
333-26594

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205

001-32205
001-32205
001-32205

001-32205

10.2

10.2

10.1

10.3

10.1
10.1
10.3
99.1

10.25

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.22
10.15
10.1

10.33

07/10/2023

08/08/2022

07/27/2023

08/08/2022

03/08/2021
12/08/2009
05/10/2016
05/27/2022

03/01/2022

03/11/2024

03/11/2024

03/11/2024

03/01/2019
02/20/2024
10/29/2020

03/01/2018



https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312523184581/d532598dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312522214998/d388149dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000113811823000025/cbre-20230630x10qxex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312522214998/d388149dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312521073365/d144530dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312509249336/dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312516585170/d132908dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312522162452/d320734dex991.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000113811822000010/cbre-20211231x10qxex1025.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312524064939/d756074dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312524064939/d756074dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312524064939/d756074dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000156459019005666/cbg-ex1022_359.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000113811824000006/cbre-20231231x10kxex1015.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000156459020048948/cbre-ex101_323.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000156459018003991/cbg-ex1033_887.htm

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form SEC File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
10.19 Letter Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2021, by and between CBRE. 10-Q 001-32205 10.3 07/30/2021
Inc. and Emma Giamartino +
10.20 Form of Restrictive Covenants Agreement + 10-Q 001-32205 10.4 07/30/2021
10.21 Letter Agreement, dated as of February 23. 2022, by and between 10-K 001-32205 10.34 03/01/2022
CBRE. Inc. and Chandra Dhandapani +
10.22 Separation Agreement, dated as of April 4, 2024, by and between 8-K 001-32205 10.10 04/05/2024
CBRE. Inc. and Chandra Dhandapani+
10.23 Executive Directors Service Agreement, dated as of April 8. 2008, X
between Vincent Clancy and Turner & Townsend plct
10.24 Variation of Employment Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2021, X
between Vincent Clancy and Turner & Townsend Limited+
10.25 Restrictive Covenant Undertaking, dated as of July 26, 2021, between X
Vincent Clancy and CBRE Titan Acquisition Co. Limited +
19 CBRE Group, Inc. Securities Compliance Policy X
21 Subsidiaries of CBRE Group. Inc. X
22.1 Subsidiary Issuers and Guarantors of CBRE Group. Inc.’s Registered X
Debt
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm X
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) X
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to §302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a X
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to §302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer X
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
97 CBRE Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Policy Regarding 10-K 001-32205 97 02/20/2024
Recoupment of Certain Executive Compensation
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear X
in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within
the Inline XBRL document)
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document X
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document X
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and X

contained in Exhibit 101)

+ Denotes a management contract or compensatory arrangement
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000113811821000033/cbre-20210630x10qxex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000113811821000033/cbre-20210630x10qxex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000113811822000010/cbre-20211231x10qxex1034.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000119312524088614/d820810dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1138118/000113811824000006/cbre-20231231x10kxex97.htm

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CBRE GROUP, INC.
Registrant

Date: February 14, 2025 /s/ ROBERT E. SULENTIC
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[EXECUTION VERSION]

AMENDMENT NO. 2 dated as of November 19, 2024 (this “Amendment”), to the Revolving Credit Agreement
dated as of August 5, 2022, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of May 3, 2023 (as further amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Revolving Credit Agreement”), among CBRE
SERVICES, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), CBRE GROUP, INC., a Delaware corporation, the Lenders
from time to time party thereto and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as administrative agent (in
such capacity “Wells Fargo” or the “Administrative Agent”) for the Lenders.

A. The Borrower has requested that the Revolving Credit Agreement be amended to amend certain conditions to all
extensions of credit as set forth herein.

B. The Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders have agreed to amend the Revolving Credit
Agreement as provided for herein (the Revolving Credit Agreement, as so amended, being referred to herein as the “Amended Revolving
Credit Agreement”), effective as of the Effective Date (as defined below).

Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual agreements contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the
sufficiency and receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

SECTION 1. Terms Generally. The rules of construction set forth in Section 1.2 of the Revolving Credit Agreement shall
apply mutatis mutandis to this Amendment. This Amendment shall be a “Loan Document” for all purposes of the Amended Revolving Credit
Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings assigned thereto in the Revolving
Credit Agreement.

SECTION 2. Amendments to the Revolving Credit Agreement.
(a)  Section 6.2(a) of the Revolving Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

Continuation of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement and the other
Loan Documents (other than the representations and warranties set forth in Section 7.5 and Section 7.6) shall be true and correct in all material
respects, except for any representation and warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse Effect, which such
representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all respects, on and as of such borrowing, issuance or extension date with the same
effect as if made on and as of such date (except for any such representation and warranty that by its terms is made only as of an earlier date,
which representation and warranty shall remain true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date, except for any representation
and warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse Effect, which such



representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all respects as of such earlier date).

SECTION 3. Representations and Warranties of the Borrower. To induce the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders
to enter into this Amendment, the Borrower represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders that:

(a)  This Amendment has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower and constitutes a legal, valid and
binding obligation of the Borrower enforceable against such Person in accordance with its terms, subject to the effects of bankruptcy,
insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and to general
equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) and an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

(b) On and as of the date hereof, each of the representations and warranties made by the Borrower in Article VII of the
Amended Revolving Credit Agreement is true and correct in all material respects with the same effect as though made on and as of the date
hereof, except (i) to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date in which case such representations and
warranties were true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date and (ii) to the extent such representations and warranties are
already qualified as to materiality, such representations and warranties are true and correct in all respects.

(¢)  On and as of the date hereof, no Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing.

SECTION 4. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective on and as of the date hereof (the
“Effective Date”), but only if, on or prior to such date, the Administrative Agent (or its counsel) shall have received counterparts of this
Amendment that, when taken together, bear the signatures of (i) the Borrower, (ii) the Administrative Agent and (iii) the Lenders that
constitute the Required Lenders.

SECTION 5. Effect of this Amendment.

(a)  Except as expressly set forth herein, this Amendment shall not by implication or otherwise limit, impair, constitute a
waiver of, or otherwise affect the rights and remedies of each of the Administrative Agent, the Lenders or the Issuing Lenders under the
Revolving Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, and shall not alter, modify, amend or in any way affect any of the terms, conditions,
obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Revolving Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, all of which are ratified and
affirmed in all respects and shall continue in full force and effect. Nothing herein shall be deemed to entitle the Borrower to a consent to, or a
waiver, amendment, modification or other change of, any of the terms, conditions, obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the
Revolving Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document in similar or different circumstances. This Amendment shall apply and be effective
only with respect to the provisions of the Revolving Credit Agreement specifically referred to herein. After the Effective Date, any reference to
the Revolving Credit Agreement shall mean the Amended Revolving Credit Agreement.



SECTION 6. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an
original, and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one agreement. Delivery of an executed signature page of this Amendment by
facsimile or other customary means of electronic transmission (e.g., “pdf”) shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart
hereof. The words “execution”, “signed”, “signature”, “delivery” and words of like import in or relating to this Amendment and/or any
document to be signed in connection with this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed to include Electronic
Signatures (as defined below), deliveries or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity
or enforceability as a manually executed signature, physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may
be. As used herein, “Electronic Signatures” means any electronic symbol or process attached to, or associated with, any contract or other
record and adopted by a person with the intent to sign, authenticate or accept such contract or record.

SECTION 7. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. The provisions of Sections 12.6 (Waiver Of Jury Trial) and 12.5 (Governing Law,
Jurisdiction, Etc.) of the Revolving Credit Agreement shall apply to this Amendment to the same extent as if fully set forth herein.

SECTION 8. Headings. The Section headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this
Amendment and are not to affect the construction of, or to be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed by their respective authorized
officers as of the date and year first above written.

CBRE SERVICES, INC., as Borrower

By: /s/ Emma Giamartino
Name: Emma Giamartino
Title: Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Administrative Agent and as a Lender

by
/s/ Jonathan Berns
Name: Jonathan Berns
Title: Executive Director

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited, as a Lender

by
/s/ Cynthia Dioquino
Name: Cynthia Dioquino
Title: Director

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as a Lender

by
/s/ Brian Smolowitz
Name: Brian Smolowitz
Title: Executive Director

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



U.S. Bank National Association, as a Lender

by
/s/ Michael Day
Name: Michael Day
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



Bank of China, Los Angeles Branch, as a Lender

by
/s/ Peng Li
Name: Peng Li
Title: SVP & Branch Manager
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ING Bank N.V., Dublin Branch, as a Lender

by
/s/ Robert O’Donoghue
Name: Robert O’Donoghue
Title: Managing Director

For Lenders requiring a second signature:

by
/s/ Sean Hassett
Name: Sean Hassett
Title: Director
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National Westminster Bank plc, as a Lender

by
/s/ Jonathan Eady
Name: Jonathan Eady
Title: Director

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, as a Lender

by
/s/ Robb Gass
Name: Robb Gass
Title: Managing Director

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



Comerica Bank, as a Lender

by
/s/ John Smithson
Name: John Smithson
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



Bank of America, N.A., as a Lender

by
/s/ Suzanne E. Pickett
Name: Suzanne E. Pickett
Title: Senior Vice President

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



Standard Chartered Bank, as a Lender

by
/s/ Kristopher Trace
Name: Kristopher Tracy
Title: Director, Financing Solutions

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

by
/s/ Amanda L. Nelson
Name: Amanda L. Nelson
Title: Senior Vice President

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A., as a Lender

by
/s/ Gretell Merlo
Name: Gretell Merlo
Title: Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as a Lender

by
/s/ Patrick Mueller
Name: Patrick Mueller
Title: Managing Director

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as a Lender

by
/s/ Privankush Goswami
Name: Priyankush Goswami
Title: Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]



Citibank, N.A., as a Lender

by
/s/ James Oleskewicz
Name: James Oleskewicz
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to CBRE Amendment No. 2]
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Senior Executive's Service Agreement = Audi PLC

THIS DEED is made on

BETWEEN:-

(1)

(2)

1.1

Turner & Townsend plc whose registered office is at Low Hall, Calverley Lane,
Horsforth, Leeds LS18 4GH (the "Company"); and

Vincent Patrick Clancy of
(the "Executive")

THE PARTIES AGREE as follows:-

DEFINITIONS

In this Agreement the following words and expressions shall have the following

meanings:-
Irthe ACt"

"Associated Company"

"Board"

"Civil Partner"

"Employment"”

"Equity Share Capital"

"FSA"

"Group"

means the Employment Rights Act 1996

means a company or undertaking (which is not a
Subsidiary or Holding Company of the Company or of
a Group Company) of which more than 20 per cent of
the Equity Share Capital is for the time being owned
by the Company or a Group Company or which for the
time being owns more than 20 per cent of the Equity
Share Capital of the Company or a Group Company

means the Board of Directors of the Company from
time to time

means a person who has entered into a civil
partnership under the Civil Partnership Act 2004

means the employment of the Executive under this
Agreement or, where the context so requires, the
duration of the employment of the Executive under
this Agreement

has the meaning given to it in section 744 of the
Companies Act 1985

means the Financial Services Authority

means
(N the Company
(i) any Holding Company for the time being of

the Company
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(iii) any Subsidiary for the time being of the
Company or of the Company's Holding

Company
(iv) any Associated Company and
(v) any other company or body corporate or

other form of business entity the name of
which is notified in writing to the Executive
by the Company as being a member of the
Group

"Group Company" means any member of the Group, other than the
Company, from time to time

"Holding Company" and have the meanings given to them respectively in
"Subsidiary” section 736 of the Companies Act 1985

"Intellectual Property means trade marks, service marks, logos, get-up,
Rights" trade dress, trade names, internet domain names,

rights in designs, copyright (including rights in
computer software) and moral rights, database rights,
semi-conductor topography rights, utility models,
rights in know-how and other intellectual property
rights, in each case whether registered or
unregistered and including  applications  for
registration, and all rights or forms of protection
having equivalent or similar effect anywhere in the
World

"Invention" means any invention, discovery or improvement
including (without limitation) any know how, design,
image, process, plan, drawing, formula, computer
programme, software (including source code and
object code), system or specification which in any
way affects or relates to the business of the Company
or any Group Company (including without limitation
any current, potential or future product, service,
process, equipment, system or activity of the
Company or any Group Company) whether or not
now, or at any future time, capable of being the
subject of patent protection (whether in the United
Kingdom or in any other territory in the World)

"Material" means any and all written, audio and/or visual work,
any know-how, show-how, information, technique,
invention, design, drawing, specification, component
list, manual, instruction, catalogue, image,
photograph, plan, formula, computer program,
software or system, record, document, compilation or
database which in any way affects or relates to the
business of the Company or any Group Company
(including without limitation any current, potential or
future product, service, process, equipment, system

e ekl af bha Facammen: ac -a. Fraa o SRS




VI auuIvILy Ul uig LUIpdiy OF dily Lroup Lompany)

Turner & Townsend making the difference : : u




Senior Executive’'s Service Agreement - Audi PLC Page 3

"Minority Holder" means a person who, whether solely or jointly, holds
or is beneficially interested in the shares or securities
of any company quoted on any Recognised
Investment Exchange provided that such holding or
interest does not exceed 3 per cent of any single class
of such shares or securities. In calculating whether a
person is a Minority Holder there shall be aggregated
with any shares or securities held by him or to which
he is beneficially entitled any shares or securities of
the same class which his spouse or Civil Partner or
any dependent child holds or is beneficially entitled to

"Model Code" means the Model Code for transactions in securities
by directors and relevant employees issued from time
to time by the FSA as the United Kingdom Listing
Authority

"Person" includes any natural or legal person and any
unincorporated firm, undertaking or similar body

"Recognised Investment has the meaning given to it in section 285 of the
Exchange" Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

"Reference Period" means any 17 week period during the Employment

"Remuneration means the committee of the Board, set up to
Committee" determine executive remuneration as appointed by
the Board from time to time

"Working Time" has the meaning given to it in Regulation 2 of the
Working Time Regulations 1998

1.2 The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect its
interpretation or construction.

1.3 A reference to any statutory or legislative provision includes a reference to that
provision as modified, replaced, amended and/or re-enacted from time to time.

1.4 Any reference to the Executive shall, if appropriate, include his personal
representatives.

1.5 Words importing one gender include the other gender.

1.6 Any reference in this Agreement to a Clause or sub-clause is to the relevant Clause or
sub-clause of this Agreement,

1.7 The Schedules to this Agreement form an integral part of this Agreement and any
reference to this Agreement includes a reference to such Schedules.

1.8 This Agreement includes the written statement of particulars of employment which
the Company is required to give the Executive under section 1 of the Act and
therefore no separate written statement will be provided. Whilst most of the
particulars are set out in the body of the Agreement some are set out in Schedule 1.
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4.2

4,3

Senior Executive's Service Agreement - Audi PLC

EMPLOYMENT

The Company shall employ the Executive and the Executive agrees to act as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company or in such capacity of a like status as the Board
shall from time to time reasonably require on the terms set out in this Agreement.

FREEDOM TO TAKE UP THE APPOINTMENT

The Executive warrants that by virtue of entering into or performing any of his duties
under this Agreement or any other agreement made or to be made between the
Company or a Group Company and the Executive he will not be in breach of any
express or implied terms of any contract or of any other obligation binding upon him
and he will indemnify the Company and any Group Company against any costs,
claims, liabilities and expenses (including legal expenses on an indemnity basis)
arising out of any such breach or alleged breach by him.

TERM OF EMPLOYMENT

The Employment shall begin on 4™ April 2008 but the Executive's period of
continuous employment began on 8" May 1989.

Subject to Clause 16 (Termination of Employment) the Employment shall be for an
initial fixed period of two years ending on 4" April 2010 (save that the Company may
terminate the Employment at any time during this period by giving the Executive 12
months prior notice in writing) and thereafter shall continue until terminated by
either party giving to the other not less than 12 months prior notice in writing.

Payment in Lieu of Notice

4.3.1 The Company may at any time in its absolute discretion elect to terminate
the Employment forthwith by paying to the Executive, in lieu of the notice
period referred to in Clause 4.2 or Clause 16.4.1 (termination on account of
iliness or injury) or any part thereof, an amount equivalent to the Salary for
such period or part period. Such a payment shall be subject to such
deductions for tax and national insurance as are required by law and to any
other authorised deductions.

4.3.2  For the avoidance of doubt:-

(a) if the Company terminates the Executive's employment other than
in accordance with its rights under this Agreement any entitlement
to damages for breach of contract will be assessed on normal
common law principles (including the Executive's obligation to
mitigate his loss); and

(b) the right of the Company to make a payment in lieu of notice does
not give rise to any right for the Executive to receive such a
payment,

4.3.3  The Company may in its absolute discretion pay any sums due under Clause
4.3.1 as one lump sum or in instalments over the period until the date on
which notice, if it had been served in accordance with Clause 4.2, would
have expired, Such payments will be subject to income tax and national
insurance contributions. If the Company chooses to pay in instalments the
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4.4

5.1

5.2

Executive is obliged to seek alternative income over the relevant period and
to disclose the gross amount of any such income to the Company as
evidenced by payslips and/or invoices. The instalment payments shall then
be reduced by the gross amount of such income.

Garden Leave

Without prejudice to the provisions of Clauses 4.3 (payment in lieu of notice)
and 16.2 (summary dismissal), the Company may, at any time during the
Employment require the Executive to cease performing his job for such period or
periods of the Employment as the Company shall in its absolute discretion determine.
During any such period of garden leave:-

4.4.1 the Company shall continue to pay the Salary and shall provide all benefits
to which he is entitled under this Agreement;

4.4.2  without prejudice to the Company's rights under Clause 5.3 (performance of
alternative duties) the Company shall be under no obligation to provide any
work for the Executive and shall be entitled to appoint any other person or
persons to perform the Executive's duties under this Agreement whether on
a temporary or a permanent basis;

4.4.3 the Company may forbid the Executive to enter any Group premises or to
contact any employees, officers, clients, clients, agents or suppliers of the
Group without its prior consent;

4.4.4 the Company may remove the Executive's access to the Company's IT
system including but not limited to his access to e-mails, intranets and
extranets;

4.4.5 the Executive shall, at the request of the Board, immediately deliver to the
Company all or any property in his possession or control which belongs to
the Company or any Group Company or which relates to the business of the
Company or any Group Company, including without limitation, all items
mentioned in Clause 16.5.1, save that the Executive shall not be required to
return his Company car until the termination of the Employment;

4.4.6  the Executive shall keep the Board informed of his whereabouts so that he
can be called upon to perform any appropriate duties as required by the
Board; and

4.4.7  for the avoidance of doubt the Executive shall continue to be bound by all
the Executive's obligations under this Agreement insofar as they are
compatible with the Executive being on garden leave including, without
limit, the Executive's duty of good faith and the Executive's duties under
Clause 5.6 (Executive not to be employed in any other business).

DUTIES OF THE EXECUTIVE

The Executive shall, in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, be
responsible to the Board.

The Executive accepts that without being entitled to further remuneration: -
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5.2.1 the Company may require him to perform duties for any Group Company
whether for the whole or part of his Working Time, and whether or not by
way of a formal secondment;

5.2.2  the Company may require him to act as an officer of the Company or any
Group Company or hold any other appointment or office as nominee or
representative of the Company or any Group Company; and

5.2.3  the Company may transfer the Employment to any other Group Company.

5.3 The Executive accepts that the Company may at its discretion require him to perform
other duties or tasks not within the scope of his normal duties and the Executive
agrees to perform those duties or undertake those tasks as if they were specifically
required under this Agreement.

5.4 During the Employment the Executive shall at all times:-

5.4.1 use his best endeavours to promote the success, interests and reputation of
the Group giving at all times the full benefit of his knowledge, experience,
expertise and skill;

5.4.2 faithfully and diligently and to the best of his ability exercise such powers
and perform such duties in relation to the business of the Group as the
Board may from time to time require;

5.4.3  comply with his duties under Part 10 of the Companies Act 2006;

5.4.4  keep the Board promptly and fully informed (in writing if so required by the
Board) of his conduct of the business of the Company and any Group
Company and provide the Board with all information regarding the affairs of
the Company and any Group Company and his conduct in relation thereto
as it shall require;

5.4.5  conform to the instructions or directions of the Board and implement and

apply the policy of the Company as determined by the Board from time to
time;

5.4.6 refrain from making any false or misleading statements about the Company
or any Group Company;

5.4.7 refrain from entering into any arrangement on behalf of the Company or
any Group Company which is outside its normal course of business or his
normal duties or which contains unusual or onerous terms.

3.5 The Company may from time to time annnint anu Athar mareas ac coeeo oo s
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jointly with the Executive to perform the duties of the Executive under this
Agreement,

The Executive shall not during the Employment without permission of the Board be
directly or indirectly employed, engaged, concerned or interested, whether as a

director, employee, sub-contractor, partner, consultant, proprietor, agent or
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office but the Executive may nevertheless be or become a Minority Holder provided
that the Executive discloses this to the Company.

The Executive shall not during or after the Employment knowingly or willingly do or
cause or permit to be done anything which is calculated or may tend to prejudice or
injure the interests of the Company or any Group Company and if during the
Employment the Executive shall learn of any act or omission by any other person
whether or not employed by the Company or any Group Company which is calculated
or may tend to prejudice or injure the interests of the Company or any Group
Company he shall promptly report it to the Board giving all necessary particulars,
irrespective of whether this may involve some degree of self-incrimination. This shall
include without limit any behaviour by any current or former officer or employee of
the Company or any Group Company which could reasonably be construed as an
attempt to entice the Executive or any other employee of the Company or any Group
Company to leave the employment of the Company or any Group Company.

The Executive shall comply and procure that his spouse or Civil Partner and
dependent children comply with all applicable laws, regulations, rules and codes of
conduct, which may include without limitation the Criminal Justice Act 1993, the
Listing Rules, the Transparency and Disclosure Rules and the Prospectus Rules issued
from time to time by the FSA, the AIM Rules for Companies issued from time to time
by the London Stock Exchange PLC, the Model Code, the City Code on Takeovers and
Mergers, the Code of Market Conduct and the Price Stabilisation Rules issued by the
FSA, together with any policy of the Company from time to time in force in relation
to:-

5.8.1 dealings in shares, debentures or other securities of the Company or any
Group Company;

5.8.2  any unpublished price sensitive information affecting the securities of any
other company; and

5.8.3 any form of market abuse as defined by the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000.

The Executive shall hold any office in the Company and any Group Company subject
to the Articles of Association as amended from time to time. If the provisions of this
Agreement conflict with the Articles of Association, the Articles of Association will
prevail.

The Executive will do such things as are necessary to ensure that he and the
Company and any Group Company comply with the Combined Code on Corporate
Governance published by the Financial Reporting Council (if relevant, and as
amended from time to time) including without limitation retiring by rotation from his
office and seeking re-election when requested to do so by the Board and/or the QCA
Guidelines issued by the Quoted Companies Alliance (to the extent applicable to a
company the size and nature of the Company, and as amended from time to time) or
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

HOURS OF WORK

Subject to the performance of any activities permitted by the Board under Clause 5.6
the Executive shall devote the whole of his working time and attention to the service
of the Group except during holidays and any periods of absence due to illness or
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6.2

6.3

6.4

2l

2

7.3

8.1

8.2

8.3

The normal business hours of the Company are 8.30 am to 5.00 pm Monday to Friday
inclusive with a daily lunch break of 60 minutes and shall apply to the Executive
provided that the Executive shall be obliged to work such further hours as may be
necessary for the proper discharge of his duties and shall not be entitled to receive
any additional remuneration for work outside normal business hours.

The Executive acknowledges that the limit in Regulation 4(1) of The Working Time
Regulations 1998 shall not apply to him and accordingly agrees that his Working
Time (including overtime) may exceed an average of 48 hours for each 7 day period
in the Reference Period whenever necessary for the proper discharge of his duties or
in any event as may be required by the Company. The Executive shall be entitled to
withdraw such agreement by giving 3 months prior written notice to the Company.

The Executive agrees that he will comply with all policies or requirements of the
Company from time to time in force, in relation to the recording of Working Time.

PLACE OF WORK

The Executive will work at the London office of the Company or anywhere else within
the United Kingdom required by the Board for the proper performance of his powers
and duties under this Agreement, The Company reserves the right to change the
Executive's principal place of work to any other location whether on a temporary or
permanent basis,

For the purpose of performing his duties, the Executive shall undertake such journeys
in the United Kingdom and elsewhere (including internationally) as the Board shall
require. Travelling and other expenses shall be reimbursed in accordance with
Clause 9.

There may be occasions when the Executive shall be requested to work outside the
UK for more than a month, but the terms of this Agreement shall continue to apply in
such circumstances.

SALARY AND BONUS

During the Employment the Company shall pay to the Executive a basic salary at the
rate of £212,500 per year which shall accrue from day to day and be payable by
equal monthly instalments in arrears on or about the last day of each month (the
"Salary"). The Salary shall be deemed to include any fees or other remuneration
receivable by the Executive as an Executive of the Company or any Group Company
or in respect of any other company or unincorporated body in which he holds office or
any other appointment as nominee or representative of the Company or any Group
Company.

The Salary shall be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee in May each year and
the rate of the Salary may be increased by the Company with effect from that date
by such amount if any as it shall think fit. For the avoidance of doubt it is agreed
that the Executive shall have no contractual right to any increase in the Salary under
this Clause, and there will be no review of the Salary after notice has been given in
accordance with Clause 4.2 or if the Executive is in receipt of benefits under the
Company's permanent health insurance scheme.

During the Employment the Company may in its absolute discretion decide to pay to
the Executive, in addition to the Salary, bonuses of such amounts (if any) at such
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discretion decide. For the avoidance of doubt it is agreed that the Executive shall
have no contractual right to any bonus payment under this Clause.

8.4 For the purposes of sections 13 to 16 of the Act, the Executive hereby consents to
the deduction from the Salary and bonus (or from any other sum due from the
Company or any Group Company to the Executive which falls within the definition of
"Wages" in section 27 of the Act) of any sums owing by the Executive to the
Company or to any Group Company at any time and he also agrees to make payment
to the Company or any Group Company of any sums owed by him to the Company or
any Group Company upon demand by the Company at any time. This sub-clause is
without prejudice to the right of the Company and any Group Company to recover
any sums or balance of sums owed by the Executive to the Company and any such
Group Company by legal proceedings.

9, EXPENSES

9.1 The Company shall refund to the Executive all reasonable expenses properly incurred
by him in performing his duties under this Agreement, provided that these are
incurred in accordance with Company policy from time to time. The Company will
require the Executive to produce receipts or other documents as proof that he has
incurred any expenses he claims.

9.2 If the Company provides the Executive with any credit or charge card the Executive
shall use such card solely for those expenses referred to in Clause 9.1 and he shall
immediately return any such card to the Company whenever so required by the
Board, and in any event in accordance with the provisions of Clause 4.4 (garden
leave), Clause 16.5.1(b) (termination of employment) and Clause 17.1.4 (suspension
from employment) where applicable.

10, CAR AND CAR ALLOWANCE

10.1 Subject to the Executive holding a current full UK driving licence, the Company shall
provide the Executive with a car or car allowance, subject to the terms of the
Company's car policy.

11, PENSION AND LIFE ASSURANCE

111 The Executive will be permitted, as soon as he is eligible, to join the Turner &
Townsend Retirement Benefits Scheme or such other scheme as the Company may
nominate for this purpose (in either case the "Pension Scheme") subject to the
rules of such scheme from time to time in force. Details of the Pension Scheme will
be provided to the Executive by the HR Director on request,

11.2 The Company reserves the right at any time to withdraw or amend any of the rules
or benefits of the Pension Scheme and/er to terminate the Executive's participation in
the Pension Scheme.

11.3 If the Executive joins the Pension Scheme the Company will be entitled to deduct
contributions from the Salary for payment into the Pension Scheme on the
Executive's behalf.

11.4 No contracting out certificate is in force in relation to the Employment if the Executive
joins the Pension Scheme.
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The Company maintains a life assurance scheme (the "Life Assurance Scheme")
and the Executive shall be entitled to become and remain throughout the
Employment a member of the Life Assurance Scheme, subject to the rules of the Life
Assurance Scheme from time to time in force, details of which will be provided to the
Executive on request by the HR Director. The Company shall be entitled at any time
to withdraw or amend any of the rules or benefits of the Life Assurance Scheme
and/or to terminate the Executive's participation in the Life Assurance Scheme and
such changes shall take effect as between the Company and the Executive upon the
Executive receiving written notice of the same in accordance with Clause 28 (save
where such changes are not material, including but not limited to changing the
identity of the provider, in which case such changes shall take effect without
notification to the Executive).

PRIVATE MEDICAL EXPENSES INSURANCE SCHEME

During the Employment the Executive shall be entitled to participate at the
Company's expense for himself, for any spouse or Civil Partner and any dependent
children in the Company's private medical expenses insurance scheme (the "Private
Medical Insurance Scheme") subject always to the rules of the Private Medical
Insurance Scheme for the time being in force (details of which are available on
request from the HR Director) and to the approval of the relevant insurer.

The Company reserves the right at any time to withdraw or amend any of the rules
or benefits of the Private Medical Insurance Scheme (including the level of cover)
and/or terminate the Executive's participation in the Private Medical Insurance
Scheme and subject to Clause 12.3 any such changes shall take effect as between
the Company and the Executive upon the Executive receiving written notice of the
same from the Company in accordance with Clause 28 (save where such changes are
not material, including but not limited to changing the identity of the provider in
which case such changes shall take effect without notification to the Executive).

Where the Executive is notified of any changes in accordance with Clause 12.2, any
entitlement to benefit which has already accrued to him at the time of the change will
be dealt with in accordance with the rules of the relevant scheme immediately prior
to the change provided that thereafter the Executive's entitlement under the scheme
(if any) shall be subject to any changes which have been duly notified to him in
accordance with Clause 12.2,

PERMANENT HEALTH INSURANCE SCHEME

During the Employment the Executive shall be entitled to participate at the
Company's expense in the Company's permanent health insurance scheme (the "PHI
Scheme") subject always to the rules of the PHI Scheme for the time being in force
(details of which are available on request from the HR Director), to the approval of
the relevant insurer and to the conditions set out in Clause 13.2.

The Executive's participation in the PHI Scheme shall be on the basis that:

13.2.1 if the insurer fails or refuses to provide the Executive with any benefit under
the PHI Scheme, the Executive will have no right of action against the
Company in respect of such a failure or refusal;

13.2.2 the Executive's health is such that the Company is able to obtain cover or to
obtain cover on terms and at a premium that the Company considers
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13.2.3 in the event that the Executive wishes to make a claim under the PHI
Scheme the Company will use reasonable endeavours to:-

(a) obtain from its insurers any forms required to initiate the
Executive's claim;

(b) provide the Executive with such forms in order to enable him to
make a claim;

(c) liaise between the Executive and its insurers in order to assist with

the processing of the Executive's claim but the Company will
neither be liable to the Executive for any failure or refusal on the
part of the scheme insurer to provide any benefits under the PHI
Scheme nor be required to attempt to persuade the insurers to
provide any such benefits to the Executive (whether by means of
threatening or issuing proceedings against the insurer or
otherwise).

The Company reserves the right at any time to terminate the Executive's
participation in the PHI Scheme and/or to withdraw or amend any of the rules or
benefits of the PHI Scheme (including the level of cover) and subject to Clause 13.4
any such changes shall take effect as between the Executive and the Company upon
the Executive receiving written notice of the same from the Company in accordance
with Clause 28 (save where such changes are not material, including but not limited
to changing the identity of the provider, in which case such changes shall take effect
without notification to the Executive).

Where the Executive is notified of any changes in accordance with Clause 13.3, any
entitlement to benefit which has already accrued to him at the time of the change will
be dealt with in accordance with the rules of the PHI Scheme immediately prior to the
change, provided that thereafter the Executive's entitlement under the PHI Scheme
(if any) shall be subject to any changes which have been duly notified to him in
accordance with the Clause 13.3.

HOLIDAY

The Executive is entitled to 30 working days paid holiday in each holiday year in
addition to such bank and other public holidays as are observed by the Company.
The holiday year runs from January to December and, subject to the provisions of
Clause 14.7, holiday entitlement is to be taken at such times and on such notice as is
agreed by the Board.

The Executive shall not be entitled to carry forward any unused part of his holiday
entitlement to a subsequent holiday year.

Where the Employment starts or terminates during a holiday year the Executive will
be entitled in that year to such proportion of his annual holiday entitiement as equals
the proportion of time he is employed under this Agreement in that year, rounded to
the nearest half day except that if the Executive has accrued sufficient holiday in a
particular holiday year to comply with the Working Time Regulations 1998 (the
"Regulations") no holiday entitlement shall accrue during any period of garden leave
taken in accordance with Clause 4.4,
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14.4

14.5

14.6

14.7

14.8

ES.

15.1

The Executive shall not be entitled to payment in lieu of any unused part of his
holiday entitlement, except on termination of the Employment in accordance with
Clause 14.6.

The Executive shall not accrue any entitlement to holiday in respect of periods of
absence from the office due to injury or illness of more than 20 consecutive days
absence in any holiday year, save in relation to statutory holiday (if any) to which the
Executive is entitled as a matter of law.

On termination of the Employment:-

14.6.1 the Executive shall be entitled to be paid in lieu of any outstanding holiday
entitlement or, as the case may be, shall be obliged to repay to the
Company salary in respect of holiday taken in excess of his entitlement in
his final holiday year and subject to Clause 14.6.2 the basis for calculation
in either case shall be [/,65) of the Salary for each day; and

14.6.2 where the Executive has been summarily dismissed in accordance with
Clause 16.2 or where the Executive terminates the Employment in breach of
the notice provisions in Clause 4.2, the calculation of any sum owed by the
Executive in respect of excess holiday entitlement shall be carried out in
accordance with Clause 14.6.1, but the amount of any payment in lieu of
outstanding holiday entitlement owed by the Company shall be calculated
as being £1.

No holiday may be taken by the Executive during any notice period without the
consent of the Board. The Company may however require the Executive to take all
or part of his holiday entitlement on a particular day or days or during any notice
period, including any period of notice during which the Executive is put on garden
leave in accordance with Clause 4.4,

For the avoidance of doubt:-

14.8.1 Regulations 15(1) to 15(4) of the Regulations do not apply to the
Employment; and

14.8.2 the Executive may take all or part of his holiday entitlement before it has
accrued under Regulation 15A of the Regulations provided that the
Executive has the Board's permission to do so in accordance with
Clause 14.1,

SICKNESS

If during the Employment the Executive is absent from work due to illness or injury
he must notify the HR Director as soon as possible and, if practicable, on the first
working day of incapacity. The Executive shall complete any self-certification forms
which are required by the Company immediately upon his return to work and, if his
incapacity continues for more than 7 consecutive days (whether working days or not)
shall produce medical certificates to cover the duration of his absence from work.
Provided the Executive complies with these requirements, undergoes any medical
examination or tests required by the Company under Clause 15.6 and provided the
Company Is satisfied that the Executive's absence is due to illness or injury, the
Executive's absence will be regarded as authorised,
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The Executive shall be entitled to receive the Salary excluding any bonus but
including any other contractual benefits due to him under this Agreement during any
authorised period or periods of absence due to illness or injury up to a maximum of
26 weeks in aggregate in any 12 month period ("Contractual Sick Pay").
Thereafter he will not be entitled to any further payment from the Company or any
Group Company (other than by way of any Statutory Sick Pay due to him or any pay
due to him pursuant to the terms of Clause 13) nor to the continued provision of his
benefits under this Agreement until the resumption of his duties, although the
Company may at the Board's discretion continue to pay him the Salary (excluding
any bonus) and other contractual benefits for such periods as it considers appropriate
("Discretionary Sick Pay").

Both Contractual Sick Pay and any Discretionary Sick Pay shall be subject to set off
by the Company in respect of any statutory sick pay or social security benefits to
which the Executive is entitled (whether or not such benefits are actually received).

Where the Company has paid any Discretionary Sick Pay and the PHI insurers
subsequently pay out benefits under the PHI Scheme in respect of the same period
(the "Waiting Period"), the Company may deduct from any sums owed to the
Executive the amount by which the Discretionary Sick Pay provided during the
Waiting Period exceeds the amount of benefit received by the Company from the PHI
Scheme insurers in respect of the Waiting Period.

For statutory sick pay purposes the Executive's qualifying days shall be Monday to
Friday inclusive.

The Executive may at the Company's expense be required during the course of the
Employment to attend a medical practitioner or clinic nominated by the Company for
the purpose of a medical examination to help determine his fitness for continued
Employment and he shall undergo any tests and examinations reasonably required by
the said medical practitioner or clinic and shall authorise disclosure of and co-operate
in ensuring the prompt delivery of any resulting report to the Company. Such an
examination may include or consist of tests for alcohol or drugs (including
“controlled drugs” as defined by the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971) where the Company
has reason to believe that the use of alcohol or drugs is adversely affecting the
Executive's performance at work or is posing a risk to health and safety.
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Access to Medical Reports Act 1988 the
Executive hereby consents to the Company obtaining any medical report relating to
his physical or mental health prepared by a medical practitioner who is or has been
responsible for the clinical care of the Executive.

Without prejudice to Clause 5.5 (power to appoint joint executive) the Company shall
be entitled during any period during which the Executive is absent due to illness or
injury in excess of 28 days to appoint any other person or persons to perform the
duties and exercise the powers of the Executive in his place on such terms and
conditions as the Company shall see fit,

Third Party Injury to Executive

15.8.1 If the Executive is absent from work by reason of any illness or injury
caused wholly or partly by any act or omission of any third party in relation
to which the Executive may be or become entitled to recover damages or
compensation, then all net payments made to the Executive under this
Clause 15 in respect of the said absence shall be repaid by the Executive if
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earnings from the said third party and/or from the Criminal Injuries
Compensation Authority or the Motor Insurers' Bureau or any other similar
body (the "Relevant Bodies") by action or otherwise,

15.8.2 Where the Executive receives any damages or compensation for loss of
earnings as referred to in Clause 15.8.1, he shall notify the Company in
writing forthwith and shall repay the amount due to the Company under this
Clause within 28 days of receipt of the said damages or compensation.

15.8.3 For the avoidance of doubt, where the Executive receives damages or
compensation from a third party and/or the Relevant Bodies in the
circumstances referred to in Clause 15.8.1, and that compensation includes
an unspecified sum for loss of earnings, then the amount owing to the

Company under Clause 15.8.1 will be such sum as is reasonable in all the
circumstances.

.9 For the avoidance of doubt:-

15.9.1 the term "illness or injury" as used in this Clause 15 includes any mental

or psychiatric illness and any injury, whether or not this has been sustained
in the course of the Executive's duties; and

15.9.2 the provisions of this Clause 15 are subject to the termination provisions set
out in Clause 16 and in particular the Company's right in Clause 16.4 to
terminate on account of illness or injury.

TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

i | Retirement

Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Agreement and in particular Clause 4.2,
the Employment will terminate on the Executive's 65" birthday subject to the
Executive's right to request an extension to the Employment pursuant to the
Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006.

i Summary Dismissal

Notwithstanding the provisions of Clauses 4.2 (notice Clause), 4.3 (payment in lieu of
notice) and 16.4 (termination on account of illness or injury), the Company may by
written notice to the Executive forthwith terminate the Employment (without being
under any obligation to pay any further sums to the Executive whether by way of
compensation, damages or otherwise in respect of or in lieu of any notice period or
unexpired term of this Agreement, and without prejudice to any other rights of the
Company) if the Executive:-

d~ - - s - —




1b.2.1 T1alls or neglects efficiently and diligently to carry out his duties to the
reasonable satisfaction of the Board;

16.2.2 does not comply with any lawful order or direction given to him by the
Board;
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16.2.4 in the performance of his duties or otherwise commits any act of aross
misconduct or act of misconduct having already received a final written
warning;

16.2.5 though his acts or omission (whether at or outside work) adversely
prejudices or is likely in the reasonable opinion of the Board adversely to
prejudice the interests or reputation of the Grou p;

16.2.6 resigns as a director of the Company without the written consent of the
Board or is disqualified from holding or ceases to hold office as a director of
the Company or any Group Company by virtue of any court order, under
any provision of general law or under any provision of the Company's
Articles of Association save where this arises by reason of him not being re-
elected as a director of the Company at any annual general meeting of the
Company or any Group Company at which, under the said Articles, he is to
retire by rotation;

16.2.7 is convicted of any criminal offence (excluding an offence under road traffic
legislation in the United Kingdom and elsewhere for which a penalty of
Imprisonment cannot be imposed);

16.2.8 is made the subject of a bankruptcy order or has a receiving order or an
administration order made against him or makes any composition or
arrangement with his creditors generally or otherwise takes advantage of
any statute from time to time in force offering relief for insolvent debtors;

16.2.9 becomes addicted to or is habitually under the influence of alcohol or any
drug (not being a drug prescribed for the Executive by a medical
practitioner for the treatment of a condition other than drug addiction) the
possession of which is controlled by law;

16.2.10 is expelled, suspended or subject to any serious disciplinary action by RICS
or other relevant professional body or loses any approval given to him by
any statutory or regulatory authority (including approval given pursuant to
section 59 of Financial Services Markets Act 2000) as a result of which he is
no longer able to perform his duties under this Agreement;

16.2.11 becomes a patient within the meaning of the Mental Health Act 1983; or

16.2.12 fails to comply with the Code of Market Conduct, or any applicable laws,
regulations, rules and codes of conduct in relation to any form of market
abuse as defined by the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 or has
imposed on him a penalty in relation to any such market abuse; or

16.2.13 is the subject of a statement by the London Stock Exchange that in its
opinion the retention of office by the Executive is prejudicial to the interests
of investors.

It shall be a fundamental term of this Agreement that the Executive shall comply at
all times with all applicable laws, regulations, rules and codes of conduct which may
include without limitation the Listing Rules, the Transparency and Disclosure Rules
and the Prospectus Rules issued from time to time by the FSA, the AIM Rules for
Companies issued from time to time by the London Stock Exchange PLC, the Model
Code, the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers, the Code of Market Conduct and the
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himself aware of the provisions of such rules and codes and the parties agree that
(without prejudice to the effect of any other conduct of the Executive) any breach by

the Executive of such rules and codes shall be gross misconduct for the purpose of
Clause 16.2.4.

16.4 Termination on Account of Iliness or Injury

16.4.1 Without prejudice to Clauses 16.2 (summary dismissal) and 4.3(payment in
lieu of notice) and subject to Clause 16.4.2 (restrictions on dismissals in
context of the PHI Scheme), but notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement, if the Executive shall become unable to perform his duties
properly by reason of illness or injury for a period or periods aggregating at
least 26 weeks in any period of 12 consecutive calendar months (the
"Period or Periods of Incapacity") then the Company may, by not less
than three months prior written notice to the Executive given at any time
while the Executive is incapacitated by illness or injury from performing his
duties under the Agreement, terminate the Employment provided that the
Company shall withdraw any such notice if during the currency of the notice
the Executive returns to full time duties and provides a medical
practitioner's certificate satisfactory to the Board to the effect that he has
fully recovered his health and that no recurrence of his illness or injury can
reasonably be anticipated. |

16.4.2 Where the Executive is receiving benefits under the Company's permanent
health insurance scheme (the "PHI Benefits") or where the Executive is
awaiting a decision from the scheme insurers in respect of benefits under
the scheme (provided that such a decision is not unreasonably delayed) the
Company shall not terminate the Employment for any reason where to do
so would render the Executive ineligible for PHI Benefits or eligible for a
reduced rate of PHI Benefits PROVIDED THAT nothing in this sub-clause
shall prevent the Company from:-

(a) terminating the Employment pursuant to Clause 16.2 (summary
dismissal); or

(b) terminating the Employment under Clause 4.2 by reason of
redundancy; or

(c) terminating the Employment forthwith where the Executive ceases
to receive PHI Benefits

(d) terminating the Employment in accordance with Clause 16.4.1
where the scheme insurers decline an application for benefits
under the scheme made by or on behalf of the Executive; or

and in such circumstances the Executive agrees that the Company would be
acting reasonably in so terminating the Employment.

16.5 Miscellaneous

16.5.1 Upon termination of the Employment for whatever reason the Executive
shall forthwith deliver to the Company or its authorised representative such
of the following as are in his possession or control:-
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(a) all keys, security and computer passes, plans, statistics,
documents, records, papers, magnetic disks, tapes or other
software storage media including any copies thereof which belong
to the Group or which relate to the business of the Group including
all copies, records and memoranda (whether or not recorded in
writing or on computer disk or tape) made by the Executive of any
Confidential Information (as defined by Clause 20.6);

(b) all credit cards and charge cards provided for the Executive's use
by the Company;

(c) any Company car provided and all keys and documents relating to
it; and

(d) all other property of the Group not previously referred to in this
Clause.

Upon termination of the Executive's employment howsoever arising the Executive
shall have no rights as a result of this Agreement (or any alleged breach of it) to any
compensation under or in respect of any share options, bonus or long-term incentive
plans in which he may have participated or have received grants or allocations at or
before the date the Executive's employment terminates, Any rights which he may

have under such schemes shall be exclusively governed by the rules of such
schemes,

SUSPENSION FROM EMPLOYMENT AND DISCIPLINARY MEASURES

In order to investigate a complaint of misconduct against the Executive or in which
the Executive is implicated and/or during the course of any disciplinary process to
which the Executive is subject, the Company shall be entitled to suspend the
Executive from his duties on full Pay with full entitlement to all other benefits to
which he is entitled under this Agreement for so long as the Board shall consider

necessary in order to facilitate a proper investigation of such complaint and during
such period of suspension:-

17.1.1 without prejudice to Clause 5 (duties of the Executive) the Company shall
be under no obligation to provide any work for the Executive and shall be
entitled to appoint any other Person or persons to perform the Executive's
duties under this Agreement whether on a temporary or a permanent basis;

17.1.2 the Company may forbid the Executive to enter any Company or Group
Company premises or to contact any employees, officers, clients, clients,
agents or suppliers of the Company or any Group Company without its prior
consent such censent not to be unreasonably withheld;

17.1.3 The Company may remove the Executive's access to the Company's IT
system including but not limited to his access to e-mails, intranets and
extranets;

17.1.4 the Executive shall, at the request of the Board, immediately deliver to the
Company all or any property in his possession or control which belongs to
the Company or any Group Company or which relates to the business of the

Company or any Group Company, including without limitation all items
mentinned in Clanea 18 © 1 a;ie £o - o Pt e
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7.2

17.3

18.

18.1

18.2

18.3

18.4

18.5

Clause shall require the Executive to return his Company car until the
termination of the Employment; and

17.1.5 the Executive shall continue to be bound by all the Executive's obligations
under this Agreement insofar as they are compatible with the Executive
being suspended from duties, including without limit the Executive's duty of
good faith and the Executive's duties under Clause 5.6 (Executive not to be
employed in any other business).

The Company's normal disciplinary (which cover decisions regarding dismissal) and
grievance procedures apply to the Executive's employment with such modifications as
the Company may deem to be necessary to take account of the Executive's seniority.
The said disciplinary and grievance procedures shall not have contractual effect and
the Company shall not therefore be obliged to follow the procedures or any part
thereof in whole or in part at any stage of the Employment.

If the Executive is dissatisfied with any disciplinary decision taken against him
(including a decision to dismiss him) or if the Executive seeks redress for any
grievance relating to the Employment he should raise the issue in writing with the HR
Director. Full details of how to go about this and the steps that follow such
application are set out in the Company's disciplinary and grievance procedures,

DIRECTORSHIPS AND SHAREHOLDINGS

During the Employment the Executive will not do anything which could cause him to

be disqualified from continuing to act as a director of the Company or any Group
Company.

It shall be a fundamental term of this Agreement that the Executive shall comply at
all times with the Employee Share Dealing Code and any breach by the Executive of
such code shall be gross misconduct for the purpose of Clause 16.2.4.

The Executive shall not resign his office as a director of the Company or any Group
Company without the agreement of the Company.

The Executive shall, at the written request of the Board:-

18.4.1 immediately resign (without claim for compensation) from all and any
directorships and other offices held in the Company and any Group
Company and from any other appointments or offices which he holds as
nominee or representative of the Company and any Group Company;

and in the event of his failure to do so within 7 days of the said request the
Executive hereby irrevocably authorises any director of the Company for the time
being in his name and on his behalf to execute any documents or do anything else
that is necessary to effect such resignations and/or transfers. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Board may make a request in accordance with this Clause at any time,
including, but not limited to, in circumstances where the Executive is on garden
leave pursuant to Clause 4.4, is in receipt of benefits under the PHI Scheme
pursuant to Clause 13, has been suspended from the Employment pursuant to
Clause 17.1 or where the Employment has terminated for any reason,

If during the Employment the Executive shall cease to be a director of the Company
or any Grﬂup comﬂan\f {otherwice than far 2 rascam; dooase oo B
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pursuant to Clause 16.2.6) the Company may by written notice terminate the
Employment or alternatively, at the discretion of the Company, the Employment shall
continue as if the Executive had been employed as a non Company's Act Executive
and the terms of this Agreement (save those relating to the holding of the office of
director) shall continue in full force and effect,

RECONSTRUCTION

If the Employment of the Executive is terminated by reason of the liquidation,
reorganisation, or other reconstruction of the Company or any Group Company or as
part of any other rearrangement of the affairs of the Company or any Group
Company not invelving a liquidation, and the Executive is offered employment by a
reconstructed Company or by another Group Company for a period not less than the
term then unexpired of this Agreement and on terms which (considered in their
entirety) are no less favourable to any material extent than the terms of this
Agreement then, subject to the provisions of the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection
of Employment) Regulations 2006, the Executive shall be obliged to accept such offer
and shall have no claim against the Company or any reconstructed or Group
Company in respect of the termination of the Employment.

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

The Executive is aware that in the course of the Employment he will have access to
and be entrusted with information in respect of the business and finances of the
Company and its dealings, transactions and affairs and likewise in relation to any
Group Company all of which information is or may be Confidential Information.
Accordingly the Executive gives the undertakings set out in this Clause 20 to the
Company for itself and for the benefit of and as trustee for any Group Company.

The Executive shall not during the Employment or afterwards use, exploit (except for
the benefit of the Group) or divulge to any third party by any means any Confidential
Information except he shall be permitted to do so:-

20.2.1 when necessary in the proper performance of the duties of the Employment;
20.2.2 with the express written consent of the Board; or
20.2.3 where this is required by law,

The Executive shall, during the Employment, use his best endeavours to prevent the
unauthorised use or disclosure of any Confidential Information whether by any other
officer, employee or agent of the Group or otherwise and shall be under an obligation
promptly and fully to report to the Board any such unauthorised use or disclosure
which comes to his knowledge.

The Executive shall not, during the Employment or at any time thereafter make,
except for the benefit of the Company or any Group Company, any copy, record, or
memorandum (whether recorded in writing, on computer disk or tape or otherwise)
of any Confidential Information and any such copy record or memorandum made by
the Executive during the Employment shall be and remain the property of the
Company and accordingly shall be returned by the Executive to the Company at any
time during the Employment at the request of the Board and in any event upon the
termination of the Employment for whatever reason in accordance with Clause
16.5.1(a).
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o The Executive shall not during the Employment without prior notification to the Head
of Communications either directly or indirectly publish any opinion, fact or material or
deliver any lecture or address or participate in the making of any film, radio
broadcast or television transmission or communicate with any representative of the
media or any third party relating to:-

20.5.1 the business or affairs of the Company or any Group Company or of any of

their officers, employees, clients, suppliers, distributors, agents or
shareholders; or

20.5.2 the development or exploitation of any Intellectual Property Rights,
Inventions or Confidential Information

and for the purposes of this Clause media shall include television (terrestrial, satellite
and cable), radio, newspapers and other journalistic publications.

(=]

In this Agreement "Confidential Information" means:-

20.6.1 all information which relates to the business, finances, transactions, affairs,
products, services, processes, equipment or activities of the Company and

any Group Company which is designated by the Company or any Group
Company as confidential; and

20.6.2 all information relating to such matters which comes to the knowledge of
the Executive in the course of the Employment and which, by reason of its

character and/or the manner of its coming to his knowledge, is evidently
confidential; and

20.6.3 all information which relates to the business, finances, transactions, affairs,
products, processes, equipment or activities of actual or potential clients,
clients, suppliers or other persons which has been given to the Company or
any Group Company in confidence

and shall include without limitation business plans, business methods, corporate
plans, management systems, finances, maturing new business opportunities,
research and development projects, concepts, ideas, new products, product formulae,
source code, software, software designs, graphic designs, artwork, processes,
inventions, discoveries or know-how, sales statistics, sales techniques, marketing
surveys and plans, costs, profit or loss, prices and discount structures, the names,
addresses and contact details of clients and suppliers or potential clients and
suppliers provided that information shall not be, or shall cease to be, Confidential
Information if and to the extent that it comes to be in the public domain otherwise
than as a result of the unauthorised act or default of the Executive,

-

Nothing in this Clause 20 shall nrevent the Fvaritiva fram Aicclanina ofe oo —ir -
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which he is entitled to disclose under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 provided
that the disclosure is made in the appropriate way to an appropriate person having
regard to the provisions of the Act and he has first complied with the Company's
procedures relating to such disclosures.

This Clause is without prejudice to the Executive's obligations under Clause 25 (data
nrafartian)
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21.1 For the purposes of this Clause the following words and expressions shall have the

following meanings:-

21.1.1 "Business"

21.1.2 "directly or
indirectly"

21.1.3 "Key Personnel"

21.1.4 "Prospective
Client"

21.1.5 "Relevant Client"

21.1.6 "Relevant Goods

and Services"

the business or businesses of the Company
or any other Group Company in or with
which the Executive has been involved or
concerned at any time during the period of
12 months prior to the Termination Date

the Executive acting either alone and on his
own behalf or jointly with or on behalf of any
other person, firm or company, whether as
principal, partner, manager, employee,
contractor, director, consultant, investor or
otherwise

any person who is at the Termination Date
or was at any time during the period of
12 months prior to the Termination Date
employed in the Business as a Executive or
in an executive or senior managerial capacity
and with whom the Executive has had
dealings other than in a de minimis way
during the course of the Employment

any person, firm or company which has been
engaged in negotiations, with which the
Executive has been personally involved, with
the Company or any Group Company with a
view to purchasing goods or services from
the Company or any Group Company during
the period of & months prior to the
Termination Date

any person, firm or company which at any
time during the 12 months prior to the
Termination Date was a client of the
Company or any Group Company, with
whom or which the Executive dealt other
than in a de minimis way or for whom or
which the Executive was responsible in a
supervisory or managerial capacity on behalf
of the Company or any Group Company at
any time during the said period

any goods and services competitive with
those supplied by the Company or any Group
Company at any time during the 12 months
prior to the Termination Date in the supply
of which the Executive was involved or
concerned other than in a de minimis way at
any time during the said period
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21.1.7 "Relevant Period" the period of the Employment and, the
period of 12 months from the Termination
Date except that (a) any period of garden
leave served by the Executive pursuant to
Clause 4.4 in the 12 months prior to the
Termination Date shall reduce the Relevant
Period for the Purposes of Clause 21.2 and
(b) any period of garden leave served by the
Executive in excess of 6 months immediately
prior to the Termination Date shall be used
to reduce the Relevant Period for the
purposes of Clauses 21.3, 21.4 and 21.5

21.1.8 "Relevant Supplier” any person, firm or company which at any
time during the 12 months prior to the
Termination Date was a supplier of any
goods or services (other than utilities and
goods or services supplied for administrative
purposes) to the Company or any Group
Company and with whom or which the
Executive had personal dealings during the
Employment other than in a de minimis way

21.1.9 "Termination Date" the date on which the Employment shall
terminate

21.2 Without prejudice to Clause 5.6 (Executive not to be employed in any other business)
the Executive shall not without the prior written consent of the Board directly or
indirectly at any time within the Relevant Period engage or be concerned or
interested in any business which (a) competes or (b) will at any time during the
Relevant Period compete with the Business. Nothing in this sub-clause shall prevent

the Executive from being or becoming a Minority Holder provided that the Executive
discloses this to the Company,

21.3 The Executive shall not, other than during the Employment in the ordinary and
Proper course of his duties and for the benefit of the Company, without the prior

written consent of the Board directly or indirectly at any time within the Relevant
Period:-

21.3.1 solicit the custom of; or

21.3.2 facilitate the solicitation of; or

21.3.3 deal with

any Relevant Client in respect of any Relevant Goods and Services; or
21.3.4  solicit the custom of; or

21.3.5 facilitate the solicitation of; or

21.3.6 deal with

any Prospective Client in respect of anv Ralauans mana- -« ~
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21.3.7 interfere; or
21.3.8 endeavour to interfere

with the continuance of supplies to the Company and/or any Group Company (or the
terms relating to those sy Pplies) by any Relevant Supplier.

The Executive shall not without the prior written consent of the Board directly or
indirectly at any time during the Relevant Period:-

21.4.1 entice away from the Company or any Group Company; or
21.4.2 endeavour to entice away from the Company or any Group Company

any Key Personnel,

The Executive shall not without the prior written consent of the Board directly or
indirectly at any time during the Relevant Period:-

21.5.1 employ or engage; or
21.5.2 endeavour to employ or engage
any Key Personnel,

The Executive shall not at any time after the Termination Date in any way make use
of any business name which is identical to or similar to, in such a manner as is likely
to be confused with any business name used by the Company or the Group or which
might suggest a connection with the Company or the Group and the Executive shall
not in any way hold himself out as an employee or director of the Company or Group
Or use any of the trade marks from time to time used by the Group.

The Executive acknowledges that because of the nature of his duties and the
particular responsibilities arising as a result of such duties he has or will have
knowledge of Confidential Information and has/will have developed relationships with
and have knowledge of and influence over the Group's clients and staff and is
therefore in a position to harm the goodwill and interests of the Company and any
Group Companies (the "Interests") if he were to make use of such Confidential
Information or knowledge or influence for his Own purposes or the purposes of
another. Accordingly, having regard to the above and having taken independent
legal advice, the Executive acknowledges that the provisions of this Clause are fair,
reasonable and necessary to protect the Interests. Whilst the provisions of this
Clause 21 have been framed with a view to ensuring that the Interests are
adequately protected taking account of the Group's legitimate expectations of the
future development of the business, it is acknowledged by the Executive that the
business may change over time and as a result it may become necessary to amend
the provisions of this Clause 21 in order to ensure that the Interests remain
adequately protected. The Executive, therefore, agrees that the Company shall be
entitled to amend the provisions of this Clause 21 in accordance with Clause 21.8
below in order to protect the Interests,

In order to amend the provisions of this Clause 21, the Company shall notify the

Executive in writing of why it believes it is necessary to amend Clause 21 and the
amﬁndment‘q whirh it Aranac~- T - X ]
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14 calendar days in which to put forward any objections which he might have to the
Proposed amendments. In the event of the Executive not putting forward any such
objections, then this Clause 21 shall take effect with the proposed amendments on
the expiry of the 14 day period. In the event of the Executive putting forward any
objections, the Company shall endeavour to accommodate them, insofar as they are
reasonable and where reasonably possible, given that the Company's overriding
objective must be to eénsure adequate protection of the Interests, to agree the
amendments with the Executive, The Company shall then, having considered the
Executive's objections, serve a further written notice on the Executive informing him

of the final amendments to this Clause 21 which will thereafter take immediate
effect,

The Executive acknowledges that the provisions of this Clause 21 shall constitute
severable undertakings given to the Company for itself and for the benefit of and as
trustee for each of the other Group Companies and the said undertakings may be

enforced by the Company on its own behalf and on behalf of any of the Group
Companies,

Each of the obligations in this Clause 21 is an entire separate and independent
restriction on the Executive. If any part is found to be invalid or unenforceable the
remainder will remain valid and enforceable,

If any of the restrictions or obligations contained in this Clause 21 is held not to be
valid on the basis that it exceeds what is reasonable for the protection of the goodwill
and interests of the Company or any Group Company but would be valid if part of the
wording were deleted then such restrictions or obligations shall apply with such
deletions as may be necessary to make it enforceable,

The Executive acknowledges and agrees that he shall be obliged to draw the
provisions of this Clause 21 to the attention of any third party who may at any time
before or after the termination of the Employment offer tg employ or engage the

Executive in any capacity and for whom or with whom the Executive intends to work
during the Relevant Period,

The Executive shall, at the request and cost of the Company, enter into a direct
agreement or undertaking with any Group Company to which the Executive provides
services whereby he will accept restrictions corresponding to the restrictions in this
Clause (or such of them as may be appropriate in the circumstances) as the
Company may require in the circumstances.

The Executive agrees that if the Company transfers all or any part of its business to 3
third party (the "Transferee"), the restrictions contained in this Clause 21 shall, with
effect from the date that the Executive becomes an employee of the Transferee,
apply to the Executive as if references to the Company include the Transferee and
references to any Group Company include any Group Company of the Transferee,

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

It shall be a duty of the Executive during the Employment to consider and keep under
review the ways if any in which the products, services, processes, equipment,

systems and activities of the Company and any Group Company might be improved,
enhanced and/or developed.

If during the course of his Employment the Executive alnna ar with ~siene i

naribbimaik i
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develops, or directs the discovery of any Invention he shall promptly disclose it to the
Board giving full particulars of it including all necessary drawings, know how, models,
specifications or other material related to the Invention, and the Executive agrees
and acknowledges that:-

22.2.1 because of the nature of his duties and the responsibilities arising from
them he has a special obligation to further the interests of the Company so
that all Inventions made, discovered, developed, or directed by the
Executive in the performance of his duties or as a result of any special
project for the Company outside the scope of his normal duties and all
rights in such Inventions shall belong to the Company and the Executive
acknowledges that at the date of this Agreement he does not have any
facilities for making Inventions other than those provided by the Company
or any Group Company under this Agreement; and

22.2.2 the provisions of this sub-clause:-

(a) shall not entitle the Executive to any compensation beyond the
Salary to which he is entitled under Clause 8 of this Agreement
except that nothing in this Agreement excludes or restricts any
rights which the Executive may have to claim additional
compensation by virtue of section 40 of the Patents Act 1977, in
the case of any Invention in relation to which a British patent has
been granted, and in relation to which the Company has derived
outstanding benefit from such Invention and/or the patent for it;
and

(b) shall not restrict the Executive's rights under sections 39 to 43 of
the Patents Act 1977,

The Executive shall promptly disclose to the Board (and hand over on demand) any
and all Material written, originated, produced, devised, conceived, created, developed
or directed by the Executive during the course of the Employment (whether alone or

the Company outside the scope of his normal duties) and hereby acknowledges that
by virtue of the Employment and his position in the Company the Intellectual
Property Rights in such Material vest automatically and forthwith in the Company,

The Executive hereby waives all and any moral rights (as defined in Chapter IV of the
Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988).

The Executive shall, at the cost of the Company and on demand, execute all such
documents and do all such other acts as the Company shall require to enable the
Company or its nominee to obtain the full benefit of any Invention (and all the rights
therein) or Intellectual Property Rights in any Material to which the Company is
entitled and to secure (in the case of all registered Intellectual Property Rights) such
registration or similar protection in any part of the world as the Company may
consider appropriate.

The Executive shall, for a period not exceeding 5 years from the date of termination
of this Agreement give to the Company, or any successor in title there from, such
assistance as the Company may require (in its absolute discretion) in connection with
any dispute or threatened dispute directlv or indiracths ralatinn tn e oo
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other protection in respect thereof (including but not limited
documents, the swearing of any declarations Or oaths, the Providing of information
and the Participation jn any Proceedings before any Court or tribunal),

to the execution of

The Executive hereby Irrevocably authorises any director of the Company for the time
n

being in his Name and on hijs behalf to EXecute any documents ang to do everything
necessary to give effect to this Clause 22,

If the Executive shaj) during the Employment make or discover an

write, originate, Produce, devise, Conceive, Create, develop or dire

(whether alone or with others (including without limitation those others who are

under his directinn) and whether jn the performance of his duties or a5 a result of any

SPecial project for the Company outside the Scope of hjs normal duties), in which

despite the previous Provisions of this Clause, any Intellectya] Property Rights
1]

(i cluding any patents) belong to the Executive and not the Company then the
Executive shall if so required by the Board:-

22.9.1 assign such rights to the Company or its Nominee; angd

22.9.2 untj| such rights shaj) be fully ang absolutely vested in the Company shall
hold the Same as trustee for the Company.

any step or register any Patent or other right in respect of, or tg develop or exploit,
any Invention o Material discovered, Written, originated, Produced, devised,
conceijved, Created, developed or directed by the Executjve,

Nothing in this Clause sha|| be taken to limit or derogate from the obligations of the
Executive under Clause 20 (confidentia] informatiun).

HISREPRESENTATIDN

The Executive shall not, after termination of the Empioyment, wrongfully fepresent

himself as being employed by, or connected with or interested in the Company or any
Group Company,

REFERENCES

The Company IS under no obligation to provide a reference in respect of the
Executive either during or after the Employment, However, if jt agrees to do s jt will
use reasonable efforts to ensure that any such reference is accurate, The Company

shall not, in the absence of malice, be liaple to the Executive for any error jn gr
Omission from any such reference.

DATA PROTECTION

The Executive shall at aj) times during the Employment act in accordanca wishk ac -
Data Protection Act 1998 (the "19aR amsm - TC
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introduced by the Company from time to time to comply with the 1998 Act. Breach
of this undertaking will constitute a serious disciplinary offence.

25.2 The Executive agrees to provide the Company in its capacity as Data Controller with
all Personal Data relating to him which is necessary or reasonably required for the
proper performance of this Agreement, the administration of the employment
relationship (both during and after the Employment) or the conduct of the Company's
business or where such provision is required by law (the "Authorised Purposes").

25.3 The Executive explicitly consents to the Company or any Group Company processing
his Personal Data, including his Sensitive Personal Data, where this is necessary or
reasonably required to achieve one or more of the Authorised Purposes (including
without limitation any self-certification forms or medical certificates supplied to the
Company to explain the Executive's absence by reason of illness or injury, any
records of sickness absence, any medical reports or health assessments, any details
of his trade union membership and any information relating to any criminal
convictions or any criminal charges secured or brought against him),

25.4 The Executive acknowledges that the Company may, from time to time collect or
disclose his Personal Data (including his Sensitive Personal Data) from and to third
parties (including without limitation the Executive's referees, any management
consultants or computer maintenance companies engaged by the Company, the
Company's professional advisers, providers of trustee and/or administration services,
other Group Companies and any potential purchasers of the business). The
Executive consents to such collection and disclosure even where this involves the
transfer of such data outside the European Economic Area where this is necessary or
reasonably required to achieve one or more of the Authorised Purposes or is in the
interests of the Company and/or its shareholders.

25.5 The Company agrees to process any Personal Data made available to it by the
Executive in accordance with the provisions of the 1998 Act.

25.6 In this Clause "Data Controller' "Personal Data" "processing” and "Sensitive
Personal Data" shall have the meaning set out in sections 1 and 2 of the 1998 Act.

26, THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

26.1 The Company and the Executive agree that no term of this Agreement (including the
terms of any documents incorporated either expressly or by implication into this
Agreement) shall be enforceable by a Third Party in his own right by virtue of
section 1(1) of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 and for the avoidance
of doubt this Agreement may be rescinded or varied in whole or in part by agreement
between the Company and the Executive without the consent of any such Third Party.

26.2 For the purposes of this Clause a "Third Party" means any person who is not named
as a party to this Agreement,

27, PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS

27.1 This Agreement including any documents incorporated into this Agreement
constitutes the entire understanding between the parties with respect to its subject
matter and supersedes all previous agreements and undertakings (if any) relating to
the employment of the Executive by the Company or any Group Company.
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- The Executive acknowledges that he has not been induced to enter into this

Agreement by any representation, warranty or undertaking not exprassly
incorporated into it. The Executive agrees and acknowledges that his only rights and
remedies in relation to any representation, warranty or undertaking made or given in
connection with this Agreement (unless such representation, warranty or undertaking
was made fraudulently) will be for breach of the terms of this Agreement, to the
exclusion of all other rights and remedies (including those in tort or arising under
statute),

NOTICES

Any notice to be given under this Agreement by either party shall be in writing and if
given by the Company shall be signed by a Executive (other than the Executive) or
some other duly authorised officer or agent of the Company and if given by the
Executive shall be signed by him.

Any notice to the Company shall be served at the address of its registered office for
the time being and may be delivered by hand or sent by first class recorded delivery
post.

Any notice to the Executive shall be served on him in person or at his last known
private address in the United Kingdom and may be delivered by hand to that address
or sent by first class recorded delivery post.

LAW AND JURISDICTION

This Agreement is governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English
law.

The parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts with regard to
any dispute or claim arising under this Agreement except to the extent that it is
provided elsewhere in this Agreement that such dispute or claim should be resolved
by any person acting as an expert.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Any amendment to this Agreement (other than an amendment to Clause 21 which
must be made in accordance with Clause 21.8) must be recorded in writing and
signed by the parties to be effective.

The complete or partial invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this
Agreement for any purpose shall in no way affect:-

30.2.1 the validity or enforceability of such provision for any other purpose;

30.2.2 the remainder of such provisions; or

30.2.3 the remaining provisions of this Agreement,

No waiver by the Company other than one made in writing by resolution of the Board
of any breach by the Executive of any provision of this Agreement and no failure,

delay or forbearance by the Company in exercising any of its rights shall be taken to
be a waiver of such breach or right or shall prevent the Companv from later takinn




any action or making any claim in respect of such breach or right. '
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304 This Agreement may be executed in counterparts which together shall constitute one
Agreement. Either party may enter into this Agreement by executing a counterpart
and this Agreement shall not take effect until it has been executed by both parties,
Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page by facsimile shall take effect
as delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement provided that the relevant
party shall give the other the original counterpart (including such signature page) as
s00n as reasonably practicable thereafter,

EXECUTED AS A DEED by the parties on the date which first appearsjn this Deed.

SIGNED as a Deed )
(but not delivered until dated) by )
Vincent Patrick Clancy in the presence of:- )

)

Signature of witness: [ 1 ()I/( fi)uLH‘
Name of witness: CUAEE ARETT

Address:

Occupation: f%',‘.lé?j,ﬁ\]ﬂul_ ASSISTANT

EXECUTED as a Deed (but not delivered )
until dated) by Turner & Townsend plc acting by )
two Directors or a Executive )
and the Secretary:- )
)
E

xecutive ,aw{ UQL

-

E‘J’r;wtﬁ’éﬂecretan:l B /g' g/ﬁl , / e
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SCHEDULE 1
STATEMENT OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS
(Clause 1.8)

e following information is given to supplement the information given in the body of the

reement and to comply with the requirements of section 1 of the Employment Rights Act
96:-

There are no collective agreements which directly affect the terms and conditions of
the Employment.
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PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

DATED 26 JULY 2021

(1) TURNER & TOWNSEND LIMITED

(2) VINCENT CLANCY

VARIATION OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT







DocuSign Envelope ID: 09267B68-D8F4-40E7-BBES-320E0E49E992

26 JULY

THIS AGREEMENT is made on 2021

BETWEEN:-

(1) TURNER & TOWNSEND LIMITED (registered number 0646864.3) whose registered office is at Low
Hall, Calverley Lane, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire, LS18 4GH (the "Employer"); and

(2) VINCENT CLANCY of {the “Employee”).
WHEREAS:-
A The Employee is employed by the Company pursuant to an employment contract between the

Employee and the Company (the "Employment Contract").

B. In consideration of the payment under this Agreement the Employee has agreed to vary their
Employment Contract by the terms of this Agreement in order to provide reasonable protection to
the Company.

THE PARTIES AGREE as follows:

1 DEFINITIONS
1:4 For the purposes of this Agreement the following words and expressions shall have the following
meanings:
"Associated Company" a company or undertaking (which is not a Subsidiary or
Holding Company of the Company or of a Group
Company) of which more than 20 per cent of the Equity
Share Capital is for the time being owned by the
Company or a Group Company or which for the time
being owns mare than 20 per cent of the Equity Share
Capital of the Company or a Group Company
"Board" the Executive Board of Turner and Townsend Holdings
Ltd
"Business” the business or businesses of the Company or any other

Group Company in or with which the Employee was
involved or concerned at any time during the period of
12 months prior to the Termination Date

"Confidential Information" (i information which relates to the business,
finances, transactions, affairs, products,
services, processes, equipment or activities of
the Company and any Group Company which is
designated by the Company or any Group

Company as confidential; and

—

{ii) information relating to such matters which came
to the knowledge of the Employee in the course
of the Employment and which, by reason of its
character and/or the manner of its coming to the
Emblovee's knowledae. is evidentlv
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"directly or
indirectly"

"Employment”

"Equity Share Capital"

"Group Company"”

"Group"

"Holding Company" and
"Subsidiary"

"Key Personnel"

(i) all information which relates to the business,
finances, transactions, affairs, products,
processes, equipment or activities of actual or
potential clients, customers, suppliers or other
persons which has been given to the Company
or any Group Company in confidence

and shall include without limitation information as to any
of the following subjects: business plans, business
methods, corporate plans, management systems,
finances, maturing new business opportunities,
research and development projects, concepts, ideas,
new products, product formulae, source code, software,
software designs, graphic designs, artwork, processes,
inventions, discoveries or know-how, sales statistics,
sales techniques, marketing surveys and plans, costs,
profit or loss, prices and discount structures, the names,
addresses and contact details of customers, clients and
suppliers or potential customers, clients and suppliers
provided that information shall not be, or shall cease to
be, Confidential Information if and to the extent that it
comes fo be in the public domain otherwise than as a
result of the unauthorised act or default of the Employee

the Employee acting either alone and on the
Employee's own behalf or jointly with or on behalf of any
other person, firm or company, whether as principal,
partner, manager, employee, contractor, director,
consultant, investor or otherwise

the employment of the Employee pursuant to the
Employment Contract or, where the context so requires,
the duration of the employment of the Employee under
the Employment Contract

has the meaning given to it in section 548 of the
Companies Act 2006

any member of the Group, other than the Company,
from time to time

(i) the Company;

(ii) any Holding Company for the time being of the
Company;

(iii) any Subsidiary for the time being of the
Company or of the Company's Holding
Company; and

(iv) any Associated Company

have the meanings given to them respectively in
section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006

any person who was at the Termination Date or at any
time during the period of 12 months prior to the
Termination Date employed or engaged (in any
capacity) in the Business in an executive or senior



managerial capacity and with whom the Employee had
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"Minority Holder"

"PEFSOH"

"Prospective Client"

"Relevant Area"

"Relevant Client"

"Relevant Goods and

Services"

"Relevant Period"

"Relevant Supplier"

dealings, other than in a de minimis way, during the
course of the Employment

a person who, whether solely or jointly, holds or is
beneficially interested in the shares or securities of any
company quoted on any recognised investment
exchange provided that such holding or interest does
not exceed 3 per cent of any single class of such shares
or securities. In calculating whether a person is a
Minority Holder there shall be aggregated with any
shares or securities held by the Employee or to which
they are beneficially entitled any shares or securities of
the same class which their spouse or civil partner or any
dependent child holds or is beneficially entitled to

includes any natural or legal person and any
unincorporated firm, undertaking or similar body

any person, firm or company which was engaged in
negotiations, with which the Employee was personally
involved or, in respect of the exercise of the Employee’s
duties or responsibilities, about whom the Employee
became aware or informed to a material extent in the
course of the Employment, with the Company or any
Group Company with a view to purchasing goods or
services from the Company or any Group Company
during the period of 6 months prior to the Termination
Date

any jurisdiction in which the Employee operated or was
located or serviced clients of a Group Company in the
12 months prior to the Termination Date

any person, firm or company which at any time during
the 12 months prior to the Termination Date was a
customer or client of the Company or any Group
Company, with whom or which the Employee dealt
(other than in a de minimis way) or for whom or which
the Employee was responsible in a supervisory or
managerial capacity on behalf of the Company or any
Group Company or about whom the Employee became
aware or informed to a material extent at any time during
the said period

any goods and services competitive with those supplied
by the Company or any Group Company at any time
during the 12 months prior to the Termination Date in
the supply of which the Employee was involved or
concerned (other than in a de minimis way) at any time
during the said period

12 months from the Termination Date less any period
spent by the Employee on garden leave pursuant to the
Employment Contract

any person, firm or company which at any time during
the 12 months prior to the Termination Date was a
supplier of any goods or services (other than ufilities and
goods or services supplied for administrative purposes)



1o the Company or any Group Company and with whom
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1.2

1.3

14

2.1

3.1

3.2

or which the Employee had personal dealings during the
Employment (other than in a de minimis way)

"Termination Date" the date that Employment ends for any reason

The headings in this Variation of Employment Agreement are for convenience only and shall not
affect its interpretation or construction.

A reference to any statutory or legislative pravision includes a reference to that provision as modified,
replaced, amended and/or re-enacted from time to time.

Unless otherwise expressly stated, any reference in this Variation of Employment Agreement to a
clause or sub clause is to the relevant clause or sub clause of this Variation of Employment
Agreement.

CONSIDERATION

In consideration of the payment by the Company of £1,000 subject to the deduction of appropriate
deductions as required by law including any national tax or national social security obligations, the
Employee has agreed to vary the relevant terms of the Employment Contract and agrees from the
date of this Deed to be bound by the Restrictions set out in clause 3 below. For the avoidance of
doubt this Deed will not impact on any other terms of the Employment Contract or any partnership
agreement to which the Employee is a party.

RESTRICTIONS

The Employee shall not without the prior written consent of the Board directly or indirectly at any time
during the Relevant Period engage or be concerned or interested or be involved in any business
concern within the Relevant Area which (a) competes or (b) intends to compete during the Relevant
Period with the Business. Nothing in this sub-clause shall prevent the Employee from being or
becoming a Minority Holder.

The Employee shall not without the prior written consent of the Board directly or indirectly at any time
within the Relevant Period:

321  solicit the custom of; or

3.22 facilitate the solicitation of; or

323  deal with

any Relevant Client in respect of any Relevant Goods and Services; or
324  solicit the custom of; or

325 facilitate the solicitation of; or

326  dealwith

any Prospective Client in respect of any Relevant Goods and Services; or
327  interfere; or

3.28 endeavour to interfere



with the continuance of supplies to the Company and/or any Group Company (or the terms relating
to those supplies) by any Relevant Supplier.
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33

34

35

36

3.7

3.8

39

4.1

4.2

The Employee shall not without the prior written consent of the Board directly or indirectly at any time
during the Relevant Period:

3.31  offer to employ or engage; or

332  employ or engage or otherwise facilitate the employment or engagement of; or
3.33  entice away from the Company or any Group Company; or

3.34  endeavour to entice away from the Company or any Group Company

any Key Personnel.

Nothing in clauses 3.1 to 3.3 shall prevent the Employee from being engaged or concerned in any
business concern insofar as the Employee's duties or work shall relate solely to geographical areas
where the business concern is not in competition with the Business.

The Employee acknowledges that because of the nature of the duties under the Employment
Contract and the particular responsibilities arising as a result of such duties the Employee has
knowledge of Confidential Information and has developed relationships with and has knowledge of
and influence over the Group's customers, clients and staff and is therefore in a position to harm the
goodwill and interests of the Company and any Group Companies (the "Interests") if the Employee
were o make use of such Confidential Information or knowledge or influence for the Employee's own
purposes or the purposes of another. Accordingly, having regard to the above and having taken
independent legal advice, the Employee acknowledges that the provisions of this Agreement are fair,
reasonable and necessary to protect the Interests.

Each of the obligations in this clause 3 is an entire separate and independent restriction on the
Employee. If any part is found to be invalid or unenforceable the remainder will remain valid and
enforceable.

If any of the resirictions or obligations contained in this clause 3 is held not to be valid on the basis
that it exceeds what is reasonable for the protection of the goodwill and interests of the Company or
any Group Company but would be valid if part of the wording were deleted then such restrictions or
obligations shall apply with such deletions as may be necessary to make it enforceable.

The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Employee shall be obliged to draw the provisions
of this Agreement to the attention of any third party who may offer to employ or engage the Employee
in any capacity and for whom or with whom the Employee intends to work during the Relevant Period.

If an Employee is contacted during the period of 12 months after the Termination Date to supply,
carry out or undertake to or for any Relevant Client any work or services similar to the work or
services which the Group had, during the course of its normal business during a period of two years
prior to the Termination Date, supplied, carried out, or undertaken to or for that Relevant Client or
any other person, the Employee shall inform that person that the Employee is no longer an Employee
of a Group Company and provide the person with the name of the Employee's successor whom that
person can contact. The Employee shall also inform their successor that the Employee has been
contacted and by whom.

CONFIDENTIALITY

The Employee shall not use, exploit (except for the benefit of the Group) or divulge to any third party
by any means any Confidential Information except the Employee shall be permitted to do so:

411  with the express written consent of the Board; or
41.2  where this is required by law.

Nothing in this Clause will prevent disclosure by the Employee of information:
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4.21 for the purpose of making a protected disclosure as defined by Part VA of the Employment
Rights Act 1996 (Protected Disclosures), provided that the disclosure is made in
accordance with the provisions of that Act. This includes protected disclosures made about
matters previously disclosed to another recipient;

422  forthe purpose of reporting misconduct, or a serious breach of regulatory requirements, to
a relevant requlator; and/or

423  for the purpose of reporting an offence to a law enforcement agency and/or co-operating
with a criminal investigation or prosecution.

5. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

5.1 Section 1 of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 ("CRiTPA") shall apply to this
Agreement but only to the extent that any Group Company shall be entitled to enforce in its own right
the terms of Clauses 3 and 4.

5.2 In accordance with section 2(3)(a) of CRITPA, the whole or any part of this Agreement may be

rescinded or varied by agreement between the Employee and the Company without the consent of
any Group Company or of any other person who is not named as a party to this Agreement.

EXECUTED AS A DEED by the parties on the date which first appears in this Deed.

SIGNED as a Deed by Vincent Clancy (but not )

delivered until dated) ) Dacusigned by:
- ) | Vit
e prEsence of.- ) BFFSA1226FBC408...

Signature of witness: \ =~ o

Name of witness:  Siobhan Clancy

Address:
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Executed as a Deed (but not delivered until the date of
this Deed) by Turner & Townsend Limited acting by
Martin Stephen Jeremy Lathom-Sharp

Martin Stephen Jeremy Lathom-Sharp

Full Name (Director)

in the presence of;
Clare Lathom-Sharp

Address

e, S

OFBASOSECRIIACE..

Signature of Director

DocuSigned by:

(lan (aom-Sleary
Si GOAABADBZOESSBE. . AR
Signature of Witness
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DATED 26 JULY 2021

(1) VINCENT CLANCY

(2) CBRE TITAN ACQUISITION CO. LIMITED

RESTRICTIVE COVENANT UNDERTAKING
relating to the sale and purchase of 60% of the

issued share capital of

TURNER & TOWNSEND HOLDINGS LIMITED

O

Pinsent Masons
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THIS DEED is made on 26 JULY 2021

BETWEEN:

(1 VINCENT CLANCY of (the "Covenantor");
and

(2) CBRE TITAN ACQUISITION CO. LIMITED (registered number 13524061) whose registered office
is at St. Martin’s Court, 10 Paternoster Row, London, England EC4M 7HP (the “Buyer").

BACKGROUND:

A Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated on or around the date of this Deed (the “SPA”),

Turner & Townsend Partners LLP (registered number OC401797) (the "LLP") has agreed to sell and
transfer 60% of the issued share capital of Turner & Townsend Holdings Limited (registered number
09782970) (the “Company”) to the Buyer (partly by direct transfer and partly by the sale of a newly
incorporated shareholder of the Company wholly owned by the LLP) upon the terms, and subject to
the conditions, set out in the SPA. The LLP will hold the remaining 40% of the issued share capital
of the Company.

B The Covenantor is a member of the LLP and will benefit from the sale of the shares in the Company
by way of a distribution of a share of the proceeds of sale by the LLP.

C As part of the consideration for the Buyer entering into the SPA, the Covenantor (along with the other
members in the LLP) has agreed to enter into certain restrictive covenants in favour of the Buyer as
set out in this Deed.

IT IS AGREED:

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Words and expressions defined in the SPA shall have the same meaning in this Deed except where
otherwise provided or expressly defined in this Deed and, unless the context otherwise requires,
clause 1 of the SPA shall apply to the interpretation of this Deed.

1.2 Should there be any conflict between any provision of the SPA and this Deed, the provisions of this
Deed will take precedence over the conflicting provision(s) of the SPA.

2, CONDITION
The terms of this Deed are subject to and conditional upon Completion taking place, and this Deed
shall terminate with immediate effect upon termination of the SPA in accordance with its terms. If
this Deed is terminated in accordance with this Clause 2, the Covenantor shall have no liabilities or
obligations under this Deed.

3 RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS

3.1 Subject to Clause 3.3, the Covenantor undertakes to the Buyer and each Group Company that he

will not (whether alone or in conjunction with, or on behalf of, another person and whether directly or
indirectly), without the prior written consent of the Buyer (such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld or delayed):-

3.1.1  foraperiod of 60 months immediately following Completion for the purpose of any business
which competes with the Business solicit, deal or contract with any Relevant Customer;

3.1.2  for a period of 60 months immediately following Completion, knowingly interfere with the
continuance of supplies to any Group Company from any supplier who has been supplying
goods or services to that Group Company at any time during the period commencing
12 months immediately prior to the date hereof and through Completion if such interference
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3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

causes or would cause that supplier to cease supplying, or materially reduce its supply of,
those goods or services;

3.1.3  for a period of 60 months immediately following Completion, entice away from any Group
Company, or employ, any Seller LLP Partner, Senior Employee or any other person
employed in a managerial, technical or sales capacity by any Group Company at
Completion or who was employed by any Group Company at any time during the period
commencing 12 months immediately prior to the date hereof and through Completion
where the person in question either has Confidential Information or would be in a position
to exploit a Group Company's trade connections; or

3.14  within the Relevant Area for a period of 60 months following Completion, be connected with
or interested in any other business involved in the sale or supply of goods or services
identical to or substantially the same as those goods or services supplied by the Business.

Each of the undertakings set out in Clause 3.1 is separate and severable and enforceable

accordingly, and if any one or more of such undertakings or part of an undertaking is held to be

against the public interest or unlawful the remaining undertakings or part of the undertakings will
continue in full force and effect and will bind the Seller.

The Covenantor will not be in breach of the provisions of Clause 3.1 as a result of:-

3.3.1  his membership of the LLP;

3.3.2  being a director, officer, employee or consultant of any Group Company; or

3.3.3  holding any units of any authorised unit trust or not more than five per cent of any class of
shares or securities of any company which is dealt on any recognised stock exchange (as
defined by the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000).

NOTICES

Any notice or other communication to be given or made under or in connection with this Deed (each

a "Notice" for the purposes of this Clause 4) shall be in English, in writing and signed by or on behalf

of the Party giving it.

Service of a Notice must be effected by one of the following methods:-

421  delivered by hand to the relevant address set out in Clause 4.4; or

422 by first class pre-paid post (prepaid international air mail if overseas) to the relevant
address set out in Clause 4.4; or

423  bye-mail to the relevant e-mail address set out in Clause 4.4
Subject to Clause 4.4, any notice or other communication shall be deemed to have been served:-

431  if delivered by hand, at the time of delivery if delivery was effected during a Business Day,
or at the start of the next Business Day if delivered at any other time;

4.3.2  if sent by first class pre-paid post, at the start of the second Business Day after posting it;
and

433  if sent by prepaid international air mail, at the start of the sixth Business Day after posting
it;

434  if sent by e-mail on the same day if a Business Day, otherwise on the next Business Day,
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44

4.5

4.6

5.1

8.1

provided that if, in accordance with the above provisions, any such notice, demand or other
communication would otherwise be deemed fo be given or made after 5.00 p.m. such notice, demand
or other communication shall be deemed to be given or made at 9.00 a.m. on the next Business Day.

Notices shall be addressed as follows:-

441 Notices for the Buyer shall be marked for the attention of;-
Name: CBRE Legal Department
Address: 2100 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1250, Dallas, Texas 75201 (USA)
E-mail address:

Attention: Pasha Zargarof, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Mark Pflug,
425 Lexington Avenue, New York, NY 10017, and Clare Gaskell,
Simpson Thacher & Bartlett, CityPoint, One Ropemaker Street, London EC2Y 9HU,

442  Notices for the Covenantor shall be sent to the Covenantor at the address set out in this
Deed or such other address as the Covenantor or the LLP may specify by notice in writing
to the Buyer or by sending it to the following email address:
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Andrew Black, Pinsent Masons LLP, 30
Crown Place, Earl Street, London EC2A 4ES,

If a notice or other communication is given or deemed given after 5:00 p.m. or on a date which is not
a Business Day, it shall be deemed to have been given on the next Business Day.

A party to this Deed may notify the other party of a change to its name, relevant addressee or address
for the purposes of Clause 4.4 provided that such notification shall only be effective:-

4.6.1  onthe date specified in the notification as the date on which the change is to take place; or

46.2  if no date is specified or the date specified is less than five Business Days after the date
on which notice is given, the date falling five Business Days after notice of any such change
has been given.

ASSIGNMENT

This Deed is personal to the parties and neither this Deed, nor any of the benefits arising under it
shall be assignable without the prior written consent of each of the other party.

COUNTERPARTS

This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and by each of the parties on separate
counterparis each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original, but all
the counterparts together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999

Except as expressly provided in this Deed, a person who is not a party shall have no rights under the
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to rely upon or enforce any term of this Deed provided
that this does not affect any right or remedy of the third party which exists or is available apart from
that Act.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Transaction Documents set out the entire agreement and understanding between the parties in
relatinn tn tha suhiect matter of thiz NDead



Do mrre e gaans rremaaa s e e s




DocuSign Envelope |D: 09267B68-D8F4-40E7-B8ES-320E0E49E992

9.1

9.2

9.3

94

9.5

10.

10.1

10.2

1".

1.1

1.2

1.3

GENERAL

Save to the extent otherwise provided, any outstanding obligation contained in this Deed will remain
in full force and effect notwithstanding Completion.

No future variation of this Deed will be valid unless it is in writing and signed by or on behalf of each
party but no variation will require the consent of any Group Company.

If any provision of this Deed is held to be unenforceable or illegal, in whale or in part, such provision
or part shall to that extent be deemed not to form part of this Deed but the enforceability of the
remainder of this Deed shall remain unaffected.

The failure to exercise or delay in exercising a right or remedy under this Deed shall not constitute a
waiver of the right or remedy or a waiver of any other rights or remedies and no single or partial
exercise of any right or remedy under this Deed shall prevent any further exercise of the right or
remedy or the exercise of any other right or remedy.

The parties' rights and remedies contained in this Deed are in addition to, and not exclusive of, any
other rights or remedies available at law.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND NON-RELIANCE

This Deed and any other document referred to in this Deed constitute the entire agreement and
supersede any previous agreements between the parties to this Deed relating to the subject matter
of this Deed.

Each party acknowledges and represents that it has not relied on or been induced to enter into this
Deed by a representation, warranty or undertaking (whether contractual or otherwise) given by the
other parties to this Deed other than as expressly set out in this Deed or in each document referred
toin it.

LAW AND JURISDICTION

This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by
and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.

All disputes arising out of or in connection with this Deed shall be finally settled under the Rules of
Arbitration of the London Court of International Arbitration ("LCIA") by three arbitrators. The
claimant(s) shall nominate one arbitrator to be approved by the LCIA in accordance with the LCIA
Rules. The respondent(s) shall nominate one arbitrator to be approved by the LCIA in accordance
with the LCIA Rules. The third arbitrator, who shall act as the chairman of the tribunal, shall be
nominated by agreement of the two party-appointed arbitrators, reached in consultation with the
parties to such dispute, within twenty {20) days of the confirmation of the appointment of the second
arbitrator, or in default of such agreement, appointed by the LCIA. In the event that any party to such
dispute fails to nominate an arbitrator in accordance with the foregoing, then the LCIA shall nominate
an arbitrator on behalf of such party. The place of arbitration shall be London, England. The language
of the arbitration shall be English.

If for any reason more than one arbitration is commenced pursuant to this Deed, such separate
arbitration proceedings may be consalidated into a single proceeding before one tribunal appointed
in accordance with this Clause 11, where no significant prejudice would result, as determined in the
sole discretion of the tribunal first appointed in any such several proceedings. This Clause is
expressly intended to afford the tribunal so appointed with greater flexibility and discretion to
consolidate related arbitration claims and proceedings, so that related claims and proceedings may
be combined within a single proceeding, than is otherwise afforded under the LCIA Rules. For the
avoidance of doubt, each Party expressly acknowledges that the fact that the first in time arbitral
tribunal has already been appointed does not constitute significant prejudice for the purpose of this
Clause 11.
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11.4 Each Party acknowledges and undertakes that (i) it shall not challenge the validity or enforceability
of the provisions of this Deed either as a matter of any Law or otherwise ("Challenge”) and (ii) in the
event of a Challenge, the Party making such Challenge shall indemnify and keep indemnified each
other Party against any and all Losses which such other Party incurs arising out of or in connection
with a Challenge including, without limitation, any Losses reasonably and properly incurred as result

of settling or defending a Challenge.

EXECUTED AS A DEED by the parties on the date which first appears in this Deed.

Signed as a Deed (but not delivered until the date of this

Deed) by VINCENT CLANCY
in the presence of

Clare Lathom-Sharp

Full Name (Witness)

Executed as a Deed (but not delivered until the date of

this Deed) by

CBRE TITAN ACQUISITION CO, LIMITED
acting by

Ful Name (Director/Atomey)

in the presence of;

Full Name (Witness)

DocuSigned by:

farkin, Shebn, Jervmy (afim Shary

"""""" OFB4505ECEBTIACF .

Duly Authorised Attorney

DocuSigned by:

(Lai (ablom~Sleary

------------ BIAABADBZDES4EF. .
Signature of Witness

Signature of Director/Attorney

Signature of Witness






114 Each Party acknowledges and undertakes that (i) t shall not challenge the validity or enforceabiity
of the prowisions of this Deed erther as a matter of any Law or otherwise ("Challenge”) and (il) in the
event of a Challenge the Party making such Challenge shall ndemnify and keep indemnified each
other Party agains! any and all Losses which such other Party incurs ansing out of or in connection
with a Challenge including, without imdation, any Losses reasonably and properly incurred as result
of setthing or defending a Challenge

EXECUTED AS A DEED by the parties on the date which first appears in this Deed.

Signed as a Deed (but not delivered until the date of this
Deed) by VINCENT CLANCY

in the presence of - Duly ﬁulhonsed Attorney

Full Name [Wll.ﬂéSS) R
Addess ~ Signature of Winess

Executed as a Deed (but not delivered until the date of
this Deed) by

CBRE TITAN ACQUISITION CO. LIMITED

acting by

Emma Gowwhno

Full Name (Director/Attorney) Signature of Birector/Attorney

in the presence of

Full Name (Wilness)

AEs

Address Signature of Witness










CBRE

LEGAL
GLOBAL POLICY 6.15 SECURITIES COMPLIANCE

EFFECTIVE DATE: June 1, 2000

REVISED: May 7, 2004; November 7, 2005; November 28, 2006
March 1, 2008; September 8, 2011; August 11, 2014; April 2, 2018; November 14, 2019; June 10, 2021;
November 18, 2021; May 19, 2022; February 16, 2023; January 1, 2025

LAST REVIEWED DATE: November 21, 2024

1. INTRODUCTION

Set forth below is the policy of CBRE Group, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries (collectively, * CBRE” or the “Company”) regarding trading of the
Company'’s securities. This policy applies to all employees of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as those independent contractors of the Company
and its subsidiaries located globally who have access to material, non-public information (collectively referred to herein as the “Company’s personnel”)
and the members of the Company’s board of directors (“Directors”), and in all cases includes their Relatives and Affiliates (each as defined in Section
11.2. below). The Company has adopted this policy to promote compliance with federal securities laws, to protect the Company’s reputation for integrity
and ethical conduct and to avoid the appearance of impropriety in connection with the purchase and sale of the Company’s securities and of the
securities of other companies about which Company personnel and Directors may have material, non-public information due to their service to the
Company. This policy is subject to change without prior notification.

Any violation of this securities trading policy may result in immediate dismissal and may subject the individual involved to both civil and
criminal penalties. This is an extremely important matter, and we urge you to read the following with care.

The Company’s “officers” (“Section 16 Officers”) as defined in the rules promulgated pursuant to Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”), other employees that are specified from time to time by the Company (the “ Specified Employees”), and Directors,
including their Relatives and Affiliates, are further subject to the trading restrictions and policies set forth in Section IV of this policy and Global Policy
6.15.1. In addition, Section 16 Officers are further subject to the trading restrictions set forth in Section Il of this policy.

Disclosure Laws Applicable to Material, Non-Public Information

1. The federal securities laws and rules promulgated thereunder prohibit any person that is aware of material, non-public information from
purchasing or selling securities and from communicating such information to any other person for such use. Material information is any
information that a reasonable investor would consider important in determining whether to buy, sell or hold securities and can be positive or
negative. Materiality is determined on a case-by-case basis and usually in hindsight after the effect of disclosure is known. Non-public
information is information that has not been effectively disseminated to the investing public.

2. It is the Company’s policy that its personnel and Directors (and their Relatives and Affiliates) may not purchase or sell securities issued by the
Company or any other company (including, without limitation, any company with which the Company has or is pursuing a commercial
relationship) while aware of material, non-public information concerning the Company or such other company, as the case may be.
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A determination as to whether information is material or non-public is a legal question that depends on all of the related facts and circumstances.
Information that you should consider likely to be material includes, but is not limited to:

earnings estimates and forecasts, whether for the year or any quarter;

changes in, or reconfirmation of, previously released earnings estimates or unusual gains or losses in major operations;
liquidity problems or significant write-offs;

significant merger, acquisition or divestiture proposals or agreements, even if preliminary in nature;

major client engagements or significant developments regarding lines of business;

dividend changes or changes in company stock repurchase programs or plans;

offerings, redemptions or not previously disclosed repurchases of the Company’s securities;

extraordinary borrowings or financing transactions out of the ordinary course of business;

changes in debt ratings;

government or internal investigations or major litigation;

significant cybersecurity incidents or breaches, loss or unauthorized access of data, and disruptions to the use of the company’s information
technology systems;

I.  extraordinary management developments; and

m. any other information with is likely to have a significant impact on the Company or its securities.

AT sa~oaooTo

In addition, it should be emphasized that material information about a company does not have to originate from that company itself; information
about the activities of a major shareholder, or the contents of a forthcoming publication in the financial press, that are expected to affect the
market price of a security are examples of other potential sources of material information.

If a purchase or sale is made pursuant to a pre-approved Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (as defined in Section Ill.1.a below) in compliance with the
terms and conditions set forth in such approved trading plan and the guidelines set forth on Exhibit A to this policy, the purchaser or seller will
have an affirmative defense to (although not an absolute protection from) liability for insider trading. Absent a pre-approved Rule 10b5-1 Trading
Plan, during any period when a person is aware of material, non-public information, he or she will have to forgo a proposed transaction in the
securities, even though he or she may have planned to make the purchase or sale before learning of the material, non-public information and
even though failure to execute the purchase or sale may result in an economic loss to, or non-realization of anticipated profit by, the person
possessing such information. This policy and the federal securities laws and the rules promulgated thereunder will continue to apply to your
transactions even after you have terminated your employment or relationship with the Company. In the event that you are in possession of
material, non-public information about the Company or another company when your relationship with the Company terminates, you may not
trade in Company securities or the securities of such other company until that information has become public or is no longer material.

2
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TRANSACTIONS COVERED

1.

Types of Trades

a.

This policy and the limitations described herein apply to purchases and sales of the Company’s common stock or other securities, derivative
securities relating to any of the Company’s securities, whether or not issued by the Company, gifts made or received of the Company’s
common stock or other securities, as well as any equivalent transactions involving the Company’s common stock or other securities,
including, without limitation, the following transactions:

i. tothe extent permitted under the terms of the plan, changes in investments under the CBRE 401(k) Plan (or any successor 401(k) plan
which includes Company stock as an investment alternative) which result in a transfer into or out of the Company’s stock fund;

i. to the extent permitted under the terms of the plan, changes in investments in stock fund units under the CBRE Deferred Compensation
Plan (or any successor deferred compensation plan which includes Company stock as an investment alternative), provided that these
restrictions do not apply to an individual’s annual decision made in December of each year as to how his or her existing and future
deferrals will be invested; and

iii. sales to satisfy tax withholding obligations.

This policy also covers any broker-assisted “cashless” exercise of stock options where a portion of the shares of common stock obtained
upon exercise are immediately sold to third parties to satisfy the payment of the exercise price and/or tax withholding obligations. Where the
exercise price of options issued by the Company and any applicable withholding tax are paid in cash, the purchase of shares upon exercise
of the Company-issued option will not be restricted by this policy. Any subsequent sale of shares received upon exercise of the option will,
however, be subject to this policy.

This policy and the limitations described herein do not apply to:
i broadly-diversified mutual funds or exchange traded funds that hold the Company’s securities;

ii. the withholding by the Company of shares of restricted stock or shares underlying restricted stock units to satisfy tax withholding
requirements;

iii. transferring securities to a person or entity that does not involve a change in the beneficial ownership of such securities.
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2. Trading by Relatives and Affiliates

This policy applies not only to transactions engaged in by the Company’s personnel and Directors (including, with respect to Directors, Section
16 Officers and Specified Employees, the pre-approval requirements and window periods), but also to transactions engaged in by such person’s
spouse, minor children and any other family members having the same home as them, as well as any other account for which they make or
influence investment decisions, such as an account for a member of their family who consults them about investment decisions or a trust account
or other account as to which they have investment authority. These additional persons are referred to in this policy as “Relatives” and
“Affiliates.”

REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL DIRECTORS AND SECTION 16 OFFICERS

1. Sales Limited to Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans
Directors and Section 16 Officers may only sell shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to a written trading plan (a “ Rule 10b5-1
Trading Plan”) complying with Rule 10b5-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act and the guidelines outlined in Exhibit A that has been
approved in accordance with Section IV below, except under the following circumstances:

a. In transactions with the Company;

b. In connection with the sale of shares to generate cash to meet tax liabilities incurred by such person in connection with the vesting,
settlement or exercise of an equity award granted under the Company’s equity incentive plans;

c. Inatransaction described under Section Il.1.c above as an exception to the prohibitions on trading contained in this policy;

d. In a broker-assisted cashless exercise of an option granted under the Company’s equity incentive plans, provided that the sale of any shares
acquired pursuant to such exercise in excess of those required to pay the exercise price shall not be exempt under this Section I1l.1; and

e. In connection with bona fide gifting of shares, provided that such transaction will otherwise be subject to this policy.
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REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL DIRECTORS, SECTION 16 OFFICERS AND SPECIFIED EMPLOYEES

1. Pre-Approval of all Trades and Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

a.

In addition to the trading restrictions and policies specified in Section Il above and Section V below and subject to paragraph b below
regarding Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans, the Company requires that all Directors, Section 16 Officers and Specified Employees obtain prior
written approval to purchase, sell, gift or otherwise acquire, transfer or dispose of the Company’s securities.

In addition to compliance with the other guidelines set forth on Exhibit A to this policy, the Company requires all Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans
that any Director, Section 16 Officer or Specified Employee proposes to implement to be approved in writing in advance by the General
Counsel of the Company. If such approval is granted, trades in Company securities pursuant to the approved Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan may
occur without further approvals, subject to compliance with the terms and conditions set forth in such approved trading plan and the
guidelines set forth on Exhibit A to this policy.

The foregoing approvals are required for Directors, Section 16 Officers and Specified Employees (and their Relatives and Affiliates) even
during a window period (as described in Section 1V.3 below).

All requests for approval should be sent in writing to the General Counsel of the Company, together with any other supporting documentation
and certifications as the General Counsel of the Company may require from time to time in connection with his or her evaluation of such
requests. The determinations and interpretations of the General Counsel are final and are not subject to further review.

2. Processing Time for Pre-Approval

a.

To the extent possible, requests for approval are generally processed within 2 business days after receipt of the requests (together with all
required supporting documentation and certification), although such approvals may take significantly longer depending upon the related facts
and circumstances. If approved, the transaction must be completed within 5 business days after such approval, but in no event after the
expiration of the applicable trading window period (as described under “Window Periods” below) or while in possession of material, non-
public information. Approval is in the sole discretion of the Company.

Approval for trades and gifts of the Company’s securities (including, without limitation, Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans) generally will be granted
only during a window period as described under “Window Periods” below, and the transaction may only be performed during the window
period in which the approval was granted while not in possession of material, non-public information.
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3. Window Periods

a.

Subject to paragraph b. below regarding Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans and paragraph g. below regarding suspensions, the Company has
currently established four “windows” of time during the fiscal year during which trades and gifts of Company securities may be made by
Directors, Section 16 Officers and Specified Employees (and their Relatives and Affiliates). The General Counsel will establish the trading
windows in his or her discretion and communicate them from time to time to Directors, Section 16 Officers and Specified Employees.

Subject to paragraph f. below, trades of Company securities may be made on behalf of Directors, Section 16 Officers and Specified
Employees (and their Relatives and Affiliates) outside the window periods only if such trades are pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan that
was approved by the General Counsel of the Company during a window period.

A window period generally begins with the first trading day on the New York Stock Exchange after the day on which the Company makes a
public news release of its quarterly earnings for the prior fiscal quarter, including its earnings conference call with investors.

That same trading window generally closes on the last day of the second month of the fiscal quarter in which the trading window is open, or if
that day is not a trading day on the New York Stock Exchange, then generally on the immediately preceding trading day; subject to a
minimum 10 business day trading window if the timing of the Company’s quarterly earnings release would otherwise result in a window
period of less than 10 business days.

Directors, Section 16 Officers and Specified Employees may not purchase, sell, gift or otherwise acquire, transfer or dispose of any of the
Company'’s securities at any time outside of a window period (other than pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan as provided in paragraph b.
above or in Section 1.1 above) without prior written approval from the General Counsel.

Approval for trades and gifts of the Company’s securities (including, without limitation, approval for the implementation of a Rule 10b5-1
Trading Plan) will generally not be granted outside a window period, although in extraordinary circumstances, the General Counsel will have
the authority to grant such approval. Examples of such extraordinary circumstances include, but are not limited to: trades between persons
who share the same material, non-public information about the Company (such as the sale by one Director to another), the purchase by the
Company of shares from a Section 16 Officer or Specified Employee, termination of employment, disability and death. This type of exception
is intended to be used only in unusual circumstances, and a Director, Section 16 Officer or Specified Employee should not assume that such
an exception will be granted even if such an exception has been granted to the Director, Section 16 Officer or Specified Employee, or
another Director, Section 16 Officer or Specified Employee, in the past.
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g. Notwithstanding paragraphs c. and d. above, under certain circumstances, the Company, in its sole discretion, may determine that a window
period will not be open or will be suspended. Such circumstances include, but are not limited to, pending acquisitions or divestitures or
announcements regarding material developments that were not reflected in the quarterly earnings release or otherwise publicly disclosed.

Material, Non-Public Information

The prohibition against trading on or tipping non-public information (as described in Section V. below) applies at all times, even during a trading
“window” described above. For example, if a material acquisition or divestiture is pending, if market conditions should change abruptly or if a
forthcoming publication in the financial press may affect the relevant securities market, you may not trade the Company’s securities if you are
aware of such developments. You should consult the General Counsel whenever you are in doubt.

V. ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL DIRECTORS AND ALL PERSONNEL

1.

Prohibition Against Tipping

Company personnel and Directors may not recommend the purchase or sale of any Company securities or the securities of any other company
where that recommendation is based on material, non-public information, or pass on to any other person any material, non-public information,
concerning the Company or other companies about which they have material, non-public information due to their service to the Company,
whether or not such personnel or Director has any information concerning the recipient’s intention to engage in any transaction involving those
securities, except in accordance with the Company’s policies regarding the protection or authorized external disclosure of information regarding
the Company.

Prohibition on Short-Selling, Speculative Transactions and Hedging

The Company’s personnel and Directors may not (a) engage in short-term or speculative investment activities such as arbitrage trading or day
trading, (b) take “short” positions in the Company’s securities, or (c) purchase any financial instruments (including prepaid variable forward
contracts, equity swaps, collars, and exchange funds), or otherwise engage in hedging or other derivative transactions, that hedge or offset, or
are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of the Company’s securities. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
Section 16(c) of the Exchange Act prohibits Directors and Section 16 Officers from engaging in short sales.

No Margin Accounts and Pledges

Securities purchased on margin may be sold by the broker without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly,
securities held in an account which may be borrowed against or are otherwise pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in
foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan.

-7-
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Accordingly, if you purchase securities on margin or pledge them as collateral for a loan, a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time
when you are aware of material non-public information or otherwise are not permitted to trade in Company securities. The sale, even though not
initiated at your request, is still a sale for your benefit and may subject you to liability under the insider trading rules. Similar cautions apply to a
bank or other loans for which you have pledged stock as collateral.

Therefore, Directors and Section 16 Officers may not purchase the Company’s securities on margin, or borrow against any account in which the
Company'’s securities are held, or pledge the Company’s securities as collateral for a loan, whether or not in possession of material, non-public
information.

4. Confidential Information

Confidential information of the Company must be handled with the utmost care and all Company personnel and Directors are required to take
appropriate precautions in the handling and transmission of confidential information in accordance with all Company policies on the handling of
such information. These policies prohibit personnel and Directors from communicating any non-public information learned during service to the
Company to any other person, except to the extent necessary to render service to the Company. Confidential information should be
communicated in a manner in which it cannot be overheard, and written confidential information must be appropriately safeguarded and not left
where it may be seen by unauthorized persons. Unauthorized disclosure of confidential information could have serious consequences for the
Company even if the disclosure is not made for purposes of facilitating improper trading in securities.

5. Inquiries from the Press

Inquiries about the Company that may be made by the press, financial analysts or other members of the financial community must be handled in
accordance with all Company policies concerning such communications. It is important that responses to any such inquiries be made on behalf
of the Company by a designated person in accordance with applicable Company policies.

6. Termination of Employment

If a Director’s, Section 16 Officer’s or Specified Employee’s relationship with the Company terminates outside of a window period, such Director,
Section 16 Officer or Specified Employee will continue to be subject to the ongoing prohibition against trading until commencement of the next
open window period, or, if determined to be earlier by the General Counsel in his or her sole discretion, the commencement of trading on the first
trading day following public announcement of the last material, non-public information of which the Director, Section 16 Officer or Specified
Employee is aware.

8-
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VL. COMPANY TRANSACTIONS

From time to time, the Company may engage in transactions involving the Company’s securities. It is Company’s policy to comply with all applicable
securities and state laws (including appropriate approvals by the Board of Directors or appropriate committee, if required) when engaging in transactions
of the Company’s securities.

VIL. CONCLUSION
We expect all Company personnel and Directors to abide by the foregoing trading restrictions and policies. Any violation may result in immediate

dismissal and may subject you to both civil and criminal penalties. Any questions concerning the trading restrictions and policies set forth above should be
directed to the General Counsel. You should not try to resolve any uncertainties on your own.



Exhibit A

Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

General. You will be permitted without further approval to trade in shares of common stock of the Company, including the stock that you have the right to
acquire under outstanding stock options, pursuant to a binding, written trading plan signed by you and your broker that complies with the following guidelines
and the requirements of Rule 10b5-1(c) promulgated under the Exchange Act. The rules regarding Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans are complex and you must fully
comply with them. The Company recommends that you consult your legal advisor and be sure that you fully understand the limitations and conditions of the
rules before proceeding.

Prior Approval. Each trading plan must be approved in writing in advance, and the Company has the right to pre-clear or reject, in its sole discretion, any plan
to protect an important corporate interest or when the Company believes that the plan is not in compliance with Rule 10b5-1(c) promulgated under the
Exchange Act. All trading plans should be submitted to the Company’s General Counsel for review at least one week in advance of the proposed adoption of
the plan. Notwithstanding any approval of a Rule 10b5-1 or other trading plan, the Company assumes no liability for the consequences of any transaction
made pursuant to such plan.

Timing. A trading plan may be adopted only (i) during a trading window and (ii) when you are in fact not aware of any material, non-public information with
respect to the Company or its securities.

Cooling-Off Period. If you are a Director or Section 16 Officer, no trading under a trading plan may take place until the later of: (i) 90 days following adoption of
the plan, or (ii) two business days following the disclosure of the Company’s financial results in a periodic report (Forms 10-K or 10-Q) for the fiscal quarter in
which the plan was adopted, subject to a maximum cooling-off period of 120 days. If you are not a Director or Section 16 Officer, no trading under a plan may
take place until 30 days after adoption of the plan.

Expiration. A trading plan shall expire no earlier than nine months from the adoption date.

Suspension; Termination. Rule 10b5-1 does not make clear what effect an early termination of a trading plan or a cancellation of a planned trade will have on
prior trades under the trading plan or on subsequent trading plans. Because the use of a written trading plan under Rule 10b5-1 is only an affirmative defense
(and not an absolute bar) to liability for insider trading securities fraud, there is no assurance that juries may not evaluate the actual trading activity (or lack
thereof) in future lawsuits. Therefore, termination of a trading plan shall require (i) good cause unrelated to the then current stock price or the status, timing or
frequency of trades under the plan, (ii) appropriate representations, warranties and covenants, such as those given when a plan is first adopted, and (iii) the
prior written consent of the General Counsel. In the event you terminate a trading plan in accordance with the policies and procedures outlined above, you
will be prohibited from engaging in discretionary trades in Company securities for 30 calendar days from the date you terminate your trading plan or such
longer period as determined by the General Counsel. In addition, each trading plan must provide that the Company has the right to suspend all trades under
the plan or even terminate the trading plan, if it determines in its sole discretion that it is necessary to ensure compliance with applicable law or regulations or
to comply with contractual restrictions.

Representations, Warranties and Covenants. In order to ensure that a trading plan complies with Rule 10b5-1, you will be required to make certain
representations, including, but not limited to, the following:

o As of the date of adoption of the trading plan, you are not aware of any material, non-public information about the Company or its securities.
o You are adopting the plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1.

o You will not exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect purchases or sales of securities subject to the plan;



o You will not engage in hedging or corresponding transactions with respect to the securities proposed to be traded pursuant to the trading plan.

o You agree to make all applicable filings (such as under Section 16 and Rule 144) in a timely manner (the Company’s legal department will assist in
preparing and filing all necessary documents).

Trading Formula. You will have the flexibility to select the trading formula defining the procedure and the amount and timing of trades that will be made on
your behalf. The Company encourages you to select a simple formula, and maintains the discretion to reject any formula that the General Counsel believes to
be too complex to assure accurate execution or is subject to ambiguity. A trading plan should be structured to execute over multiple trades, i.e., programmatic
and long-term in nature. The General Counsel may reject any formula that is designed to effect the purchase or sale of all of the securities covered by the
plan in a single transaction and Rule 10b5-1 will not permit you to adopt more than one such trading plan during any 12-month period.

Modification. A material modification to a trading plan shall be deemed a termination of a trading plan, and you will be subject to the policies and procedures
applicable to the termination of a trading plan as well as those relating to the adoption of a new trading plan. As a result, material modifications may only be
conducted during a trading window when you do not have material, non-public information and with pre-approval and will be subject to a new cooling off
period before trading may resume. Modification of a trading plan carries with it the risk that the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) will view
the plan or arrangement as inconsistent with the requirement under Rule 10b5-1 that the trading plan be entered in good faith and not as part of a scheme to
evade the insider trading rules. Any modification that changes the amount, price, or timing of the purchase or sale of securities under the plan will be
considered a material modification of that plan.

Parallel Trading. Trades outside of a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan are permitted, but you may not sell or otherwise transfer any securities that are covered by
that trading plan outside of such plan. Such parallel trading would have the effect of modifying planned trades under your trading plan and as a result, the
safe harbor protection of the original trading plan may be invalidated. Likewise, if you have a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan and are subject to the volume
limitations of Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act (“Rule 144”), you may not sell shares outside the trading plan if doing so would reduce the
number of shares that may be sold under the trading plan in light of such volume limitations.

No Overlapping Plans. You may have only one Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan effective at any time, subject to limited exceptions set forth in Rule 10b5-1(c)(1).
Those exceptions include an eligible “sell-to-cover” plan or agreement that provides that upon the vesting of a compensatory award granted to you by the

Company, an agent is permitted to sell only the shares necessary to satisfy your tax withholding obligations arising from the vesting of such award (or the
shares r]leceshsaryll to satisfy a Director’s expected effective tax rate at the vesting of such award), provided you do not otherwise exercise control over the

timing of such sales.

Back-to-Back Plans. While you have an effective Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, you will be permitted to enter into one new Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan so long as
trading is not authorized to begin under the new plan until after all trades under the earlier-commencing trading plan are completed or expired without
execution. If, however, you terminate the earlier trading plan early, then the cooling-off period referred to above will be deemed begin to run for the new plan
on the termination date of the earlier-commencing trading plan.

Rule 144. All Directors and Section 16 Officers of the Company must still comply with Rule 144 and, if required, file Forms 144 in connection with a planned
trade. Thus, care must be taken to ensure that trading under a trading plan does not exceed Rule 144’s volume limitations. Notice on Form 144 is effective for
a maximum of three months. Sales over longer periods will require additional Form 144 filings.

Section 16; Form 4. All “officers” (as defined in the rules promulgated pursuant to Section 16 of the Exchange Act) are still subject to Section 16 short-swing
profit recapture and Form 4 reporting. Under the rules adopted by the SEC pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Form 4s generally must be filed two business
days after the date on which the executing broker notifies you of a transaction. The Company will coordinate with the Stock Plan Administrator to ensure that
it is promptly advised of all trades so that it can assist you in making timely Form 4 filings. If you effect a trade through a broker,



it is your responsibility to immediately notify, or cause your broker to immediately notify, the Company’s General Counsel of the trade.

Disclosure of Plans. The Company is required to disclose the adoption, modification or termination of trading plans by Directors and Section 16 Officers, as
well as the material terms of such plans (excluding price terms) in its periodic reports filed with the SEC. In addition, all Forms 4 filed by such persons must
state whether the trades reported therein were conducted pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan and the date such plan was adopted.
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SUBSIDIARIES OF CBRE GROUP, INC.
AT DECEMBER 31, 2024
The following is a list of subsidiaries of CBRE Group, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, omitting subsidiaries which, considered in the aggregate as if they

were a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary.
State (or Country) of

Name Incorporation
CBRE Acquisition Sponsor, LLC Delaware

CBRE Business Lending, Inc. Delaware

CBRE Capital Markets, Inc. Texas

CBRE Clarion REI Holding, LLC Delaware

CBRE Evergreen Acquisition Co. 2 Limited United Kingdom
CBRE Global Services Finance Subsidiary Limited United Kingdom
CBRE Global Services GmbH Switzerland
CBRE GmbH Switzerland
CBRE GDS, LLC Delaware

CBRE GWS GmbH Switzerland
CBRE GWS IFM Industrie GmbH Germany

CBRE GWS Integrated Facility Management B.V. Netherlands
CBRE GWS Limited United Kingdom
CBRE GWS LLC Delaware

CBRE Holding SAS France

CBRE Investment Management (NL) B.V. Netherlands
CBRE Investment Management Indirect Limited United Kingdom
CBRE Investment Management, LLC Delaware

CBRE K.K. Japan

CBRE Limited (U.K.) United Kingdom
CBRE Limited (Canada) Canada

CBRE Managed Services Inc Delaware

CBRE Managed Services Limited United Kingdom
CBRE Multifamily Capital, Inc. Delaware

CBRE Pty Limited Australia

CBRE Services, Inc. Delaware

CBRE South Asia Private Limited India

CBRE Titan Acquisition Co. Limited United Kingdom
CBRE US Jersey Limited Jersey

CBRE, Inc. Delaware



Direct Line Global, LLC

FacilitySource, LLC

J & J Maintenance, Inc.

J&J Worldwide Services, Inc.

Mission Buyer Corp.

Turner & Townsend Canada Inc

Turner & Townsend Cost Management Limited
Turner & Townsend GmbH

Turner & Townsend Group Limited

Turner & Townsend International Limited
Turner & Townsend Project Management Limited
Turner & Townsend Pty Ltd

Turner & Townsend, Inc.

California
Delaware

Texas

Texas

Delaware
Canada

United Kingdom
Germany

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Australia
Delaware



EXHIBIT 22.1

SUBSIDIARY ISSUERS AND GUARANTORS OF CBRE GROUP, INC.’S
REGISTERED DEBT

AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

CBRE Services, Inc., a subsidiary of CBRE Group, Inc., is the issuer of the 5.500% 5.950%, 4.875% and 2.500% senior notes (as defined in CBRE Group, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024), which are guaranteed by CBRE Group, Inc.



EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
CBRE Group, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-116398, 333-218113, 333-231572, and 333-265294 on Form S-8 and No. 333-276141 on
Form S-3) of our reports dated February 14, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of CBRE Group, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Chicago, Illinois

February 14, 2025



EXHIBIT 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

I, Robert E. Sulentic, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CBRE Group, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: February 14, 2025 /s/ RoBERT E. SULENTIC
Robert E. Sulentic

Chair of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Olfficer




EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

I, Emma E. Giamartino, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CBRE Group, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: February 14, 2025 /s/ EMMA E. GIAMARTINO

Emma E. Giamartino

Chief Financial Olfficer
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

The undersigned, Robert E. Sulentic, Chief Executive Officer, and Emma E. Giamartino, Chief Financial Officer of CBRE Group, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby
certify as of the date hereof, solely for the purposes of 18 U.S.C. §1350, that:

@) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024, of the Company (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) and 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the dates and
for the periods indicated.
Date: February 14, 2025 /s/ ROBERT E. SULENTIC
Robert E. Sulentic

Chair of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Olfficer

Date: February 14, 2025 /s/ EMma E. GIAMARTINO
Emma E. Giamartino

Chief Financial Olfficer
(Principal Financial Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.



